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“National Top 50 Universities for Graduate Employment”

China New Higher Education Group (the “Group”) is a leading higher education
group focusing on higher education for more than 20 years which first put
forward and promoted the school operation model of application oriented
universities. As at 31 August 2025, the Group’s schools covered various
regions of China, cumulatively cultivating over 500,000 high-quality applied
and technical talents for the society. As a leader of high-quality employment,
the Group’s schools have been awarded the “National Top 50 Universities for
Graduate Employment (& B = % £ % 4 3t 3 T 1£5058)" by the Ministry of
Education, and the employment rate of each school is among the highest in each
province and region, with continuous improvement in high-quality employment
rates.

fi£ a5

Mission

FEZEUBLEADPLNBEFAE FEBE—UBELEEBRE=E
Building the most student-oriented B M A £ E &
universities with a century-long vision ~ Enabling every student to achieve

career success and life fulfillment
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Upgrade school operation conditions and educational environment
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Remarkable achievements of comprehensive education
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1999
THEARBERESE
AR R T R
NSE € LN -IE5°d
Yunnan Einsun Vocational
Skills Training Station was
established, unveiling the

‘ g
CORPORATE MILESTONES

2009
EMI B EER
FMiaEE  REK
REMNENRRER
RN BEREESR
k£ HeBERE
RBABNEIRR
Guizhou Technology
and Business Institute
was commenced to
be constructed, and
has now become

the largest private
school in Guizhou

2012
BN T B BB AL

2015

AL BAEE (IR
ML RERER
Z) ImAEH
Hubei Enshi College
(formerly known as

entrepreneurial history
of China New Higher
Education Group

2004

T E EARE
HEERAKT - FE
ESESEERHE
W R
Yunnan Einsun
Software Vocational
College was
established, unveiling
a new teaching phase
of the Group’s formal
higher education

Province with a leading
employment rate and
an increasing social
reputation

2011
THEARUMB XS
HREAERBRR B4R
EEINER REME
B EEEE B UR
E 8RB ARB AR
Yunnan Einsun Software
Vocational College was
upgraded to an undergraduate
college, and was renamed

as Yunnan Technology

and Business University,
representing the first batch

of private undergraduate
colleges in Southwest

China and the first private
undergraduate college in
Yunnan Province

Guizhou Technology and
Business Institute was
established

SEHAEMAEAERILR

The Group’s headquarter
relocated to Beijing from
Yunnan

2014
EEIMSERERE
HERTFI2EEXE
MEABLBRISRE
2 BBt 3 T 5058
Yunnan Technology and
Business University was
awarded as “Typical
Model School for National
Graduate Employment
and Top 50 National
Employment” by the MOE

Science and Technology
College of Hubei Minzu
University) joined the
Group

2016
MRBEEESR (RE
MEBIEARBEES
Br)MASLE 228
TE 28 TR
BEIEE] R mr
Harbin Huade University
(formerly known as Huade
College of Harbin Institute
of Technology) joined the
Group, being the first
batch of pilot universities
for the “Excellent Engineer
Education and Training
Scheme” in Heilongjiang
Province

6 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE¥iEEBERAT

2017

PRI EHEER
BHE B ZMER
fix = A £ 02001.HK
China New Higher
Education Group listed
on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

Stock code: 02001.HK

2018
BEBRBESRMAEE
Luoyang Science and Technology
Vocational College joined the
Group

BINE BRI EE (FREIM
BT REFMIESH) N
N

Lanzhou College of Information
Science and Technology (formerly
known as College of Technology
and Engineering of Lanzhou
University of Technology) joined
the Group

B EERERBEZRNA
£H

Guangxi Yinghua International
Occupation College joined the
Group
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TtRBRER®
CORPORATE MILESTONES

M TrmyenEy SEER REXRERKPEXBEHE0ME ER 2024

[2EEREXERER —ABRRBERBREHENE AREERE BR

EMNTARRERARSAMERBENS

RIFANRPIER]  AImseBERAESRBBRFLRLHASHEEW2E FREH

gﬁlszigggsﬂ%%?i?ﬁtlgg\x/aind The Group’s provincial first-class majors and high-level The upgrade of Guizhou Technology and Business
awarded the “Top 100 professional clusters have reached a breakthrough of 20; Institute to undergraduate-level vocational university
Typical Cases of Employment provincial first-class courses and premium courses have was officially commenced

and Entrepreneurship of reached a breakthrough of 33; and students at our schools

College Graduates in China”  achieved breakthroughs in 22 top awards across 56
comprehensive academic competitions recognized by the MOE

ERREEARB XS

= 2 5 B 15 B IR = KESGRY A B 1R &

PREREAENAR gy ImpsnAnasNEABREARSERS BED

Guangxi Yinghua ,),\:%:: d\H :é\ ’——'— Pl] Eij%:ﬁ:i\ E&E%%jS%#%E%‘J i% E\%i’@ ’
International Occupation BE202EMNESREEERETELESN
College achieved the highest The upgrade of Guizhou Technology and Business Institute to
employment rate among an undergraduate-level vocational university has been officially
similar institutions in the included in the “14th Five-Year Plan” for establishing vocational
undergraduate universities of Guizhou Province as a cultivation
D;+ bage. It has also been awarded the tlitle of ‘2022 OLIJtstlandilng EHEE A REL R (A ERRESE (h
|¥  Unit for Graduate Employment Work in Guizhou Provincial Higher
Education Institutions”

autonomous region

R_AREAIET
iﬁé%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁbﬁ,ﬁ

The Yangtze River

J
/\I\

China New Higher Education Group received an ESG
one of the three major international rating agencies,

in the diversified consumer industry, and scored the
highest in China’s education sector

¥
New Higher Education Group has been selected as

Eﬁggpﬁ?npelﬂﬁ?gtc?,ﬁer ZHIRSREF [2ESREXRERKENHIE a member of S&P Global’s “Sustainability Yearbook
and Teaching and Research i | (China)”, making the Group the first and the only

Center were launched in Yunnan Technology and Business University was awarded the

enterprise in the diversified consumer industry to be

Suzhou “Employability Training Base for National College Graduates” included in the yearbook

2021

At B e b - BNE SR 2k
Hubei Enshi College and Lanzhou College
of Information Science and Technology
completed conversion

B0 398 T BB 25 2B A SR B
Zhengzhou City Vocational College joined
the Group

ERBEEHRE BRI ASCELLE
MERGERIGERENE 117
EEEES e S

Students at our schools achieved
significant breakthroughs across 56
comprehensive academic competitions
recognized by the MOE, and secured 117
national-level awards

R=ZAMERIERB L REE
FEBIZERBF O 2 RIERY - IE
A

The Pearl River Delta Employment and
Entrepreneurship Service Center and

the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Employment
and Entrepreneurship Service Center
were launched in Shenzhen and Beijing,
respectively

2023
TEIMERIBEN @R
BEARBBIIES KT
1l

Yunnan Technology and
Business University successfully
passed the qualification
assessment of undergraduate
teaching conducted by the MOE

EMNTRABESHRELE
ME B = KFEEFEEAR
(BN &= BRR)

Guizhou Technology and
Business University was
approved as a provincial-

level high-level vocational
major group institution in
Guizhou (i.e., “high-level higher
vocational” school)

2025
EREBEEZRABABUEBABHKETEERTME A
BIREIABELAFUE _HEBREN] RRBEES
BT BRI BT 7 bt £ TYEuh A S

Harbin Huade University passed the qualification assessment of
undergraduate teaching conducted by the MOE. In addition, it has
been selected as one of the “Second Batch of Doctoral Innovation
Stations in Heilongjiang Province”, and established Harbin Huade
University-Zhejiang Barton Welding Technology Research Institute
Academician Workstation

BERMAERREZEXNER
Hainan Berlin University of Science and Technology was commenced
to be constructed

ML B BB L [2021- 2024 FE 2 BB R B REE
| RESEXRTG LXANBOTEELER

Hubei Enshi College was approved as a “2021-2024 National
Advanced Unit in Mass Sports”, and the school leaders met with
General Secretary Xi Jinping at the commendation ceremony

TEAEEBRRAANERE 2B (ARESREE (b
Bl ) EMETEDNRFPBEERE — 2HREEEFE
R’

New Higher Education Group earned inclusion in S&P Global’s
“Sustainability Yearbook (China)” for the second consecutive year,
maintaining its first-place position in China and global ranking
continuously increasing

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT 3 7

RFFD360  EZ B BEMITER 2 HIA
FL PEERE— BTEREARETEN

score of 36 for the first time from Standard & Poor’s,

ranked the seventh in the world and the first in China

B))RZTLEERTETEELE - AE
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Learning Outcomes

HREREBTEHREE T tEPEEBARALE
REAEZBAAEPXRENRERNE -SSR 285 RE—
Students from Gansu School secured 12 first-place national awards
in the finals of the 27th China Robot and Artificial Intelligence
Competition in Gansu Province, ranking first among all universities
in the province

MEEE
Employment Quality

S BRI TH BRI [ 20245 € & (E 8 £ 78 22X L BE0025%F [H I
REHBRAE

The Group successfully hosted the “2024 Best Employer Awards
Ceremony and 2025 Government-School-Enterprise Supply and
Demand Exchange Conference”

F THE 2025 FINANCIAL YEAR

THERYMESENEZESRUMAZE T AE—
82025 FHERRRABBEIELRRERSRE—[E
FHBE] HHRER RLBERSEEEE —

Teachers from Yunnan School won the First Prize in the Fourth
National Teaching Innovation Contest for College Teachers. In

2025, they earned additional 5 national-level awards and the

sole “Outstanding Organization Award” among private universities
nationwide, with Gansu School and Northeast School each securing
first place in their respective provinces

EMNBREIFAR - BRFTREEKBIEZE 2 48 5+
Ly

A complete upgrade for the Guizhou school. Pictured: the upgraded
Intelligent Network Center of the Big Data College

8  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE#iEEBERAT
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Service Experience

HESER=ZENREZRE AHBEERSRFIE FEHERELHZTH BETHZEBERAZERE
Three Squirrels snack store at Gansu School, representing the first Student common space at Central China School, equipped with
campus outlet in Gansu Province shared study rooms and kitchens

RERIE
Campus Environment

HESERMMGEHMPAE  BREEAMF - 1E5RAD

HERER

Newly renovated faculty office at Gansu School, featuring a diversifie
layout to enhance the teaching and learning experience for teachers
and students

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT %3 9
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NERRESERE

HE26%F

New Higher Education Group has been
committed to vocational education for
26 years

HBER
Gansu School

EMER

Yunnan School

BMER
Guizhou School

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT

E .

Rttt FEz
S50Rer R R BEA T
Cumulatively cultivated over 500,000
applied and technical talents for the
society

RiBR
Northeast School

ERANEB AL
Zhengzhou School

B2

EHER
Central China School

EEER

Guangxi Schools EEEE

South China Sea Islands




BRMA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

’ & F188; Undergraduate Universities

EMER
Yunnan School

RILER
Northeast School

EEE-—FMEEHRFAR

HEHN2REEERETOR HEB2ESREEENE
CEDAR=EI E=S:)

06B5FREREFEARPAERAERRHEE T8 BFHETBEL
FERTLKE

M —EALBEREMAZ (BR)ABEEREVNRNS
i

EHEREYEHERRE—S®
HEANTFRER[EFICTERR] - AEE—

The FIRST full-time private undergraduate university in Yunnan Province
Top 50 universities in national graduates employment granted by the MOE,
and Employability Training Base for National College Graduates recognized
by the MOE

Top 10 Among Peer Institutions in the 2025 China Private Universities
Rankings by the Alumni Association, and recognized as a top application-
oriented university in China

The only private university in China to be the vice-council member of the
Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science

First Prize at the Yunnan Provincial Higher Education Teaching Achievement
Award

The only university awarded as the “Excellent ICT Academy” by Huawei for
six consecutive years in Southwest China

BB —m (985 BRMBEBEL X AE LA [E&] IRHEEA
T HERENRE

BREIAEHE M TSR 2R
FRHERMASHELEEETR EARBEIREEIR
BEIAETSEMR TUIHEEREM

B 7 e R & ZE 12 22 B AT BB UE AR B R AT A T B B+ TR
2025F R IEAE ——FT—RAUERERBEDER SR
Originated from Harbin Institute of Technology (HIT), a first-class “985”
university, with “hard-core” engineering majors as its feature for more
than 32 years

The first batch of pilot universities for the Excellent Engineer Education and
Training Scheme in Heilongjiang Province

Top 100 of the Soft Sci China Private University Rankings, and No.1 among
similar engineering and technology institutions within the province
Approved as an Establishment Unit for Master's Degree in Heilongjiang
Province

Established Harbin Huade University-Zhejiang Barton Welding Technology
Research Institute Academician Workstation

The only private university in Heilongjiang Province to achieve full enroliment
through a single batch admission in 2025

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT %R

11



2R A %

SCHOOL NETWORK

EHER
Central China School

HRER

Gansu School

A ARILRENERREER  UREEE BHIBRE EXZhK
RABEBAT BENER

NBE2LEHM —FTEAREANBKER
BAHEHEERESTBRSR HLEATRaRBEER XA
TEERAIR(I303  E B2 F 2 AP EHRA LR  HESFRERE
iB95%

BT [+ 85t & BB B FEMEM

R REE TEBEA

05FRRETRERPASHRIIHE29E  BFPRHTBELERE KR
=}

2

Formerly known as the College of Science and Technology of Hubei Minzu
University, focusing on talent cultivation through school-enterprise cooperation,
hospital-education collaboration, and industrial-college model

An application-oriented undergraduate university with Medicine as its key
disciplines

Recognized as an Excellence Award University for Grassroots Employment by
the MOE, and ranked in the Top 30 Typical Cases of Graduate Employment
and Entrepreneurship Work among Universities in Hubei Province. Typical
employment school in the province for two consecutive years, with employment
rate exceeding 95% for three consecutive years

The commissioned and targeted unit of the government’s “Village Doctor
Scheme”

A National Advanced Unit in Mass Sports

Ranked 29th in Category | among the 2025 China Private Universities Rankings
by the Alumni Association, and recognized as a top application-oriented university
in China

EAAFERER SRR MNEIRERMITZE05
FE—RERAEKE  2025FRAREHERNANBHEI5H20E 5
BHEEEEE HEEZRETR
HREAARBEREIETEESR

HEB2023-20242 FFERAEHREFHE 2ERESRME—
Inheriting the genes of a century-old prestigious university, formerly known as
the College of Technology and Engineering of Lanzhou University of Technology
A first-class application-oriented university, ranked Top 20 in Category I, 3rd
in National Information Class and 7th in National Technology Class among the
2025 China Private Universities Rankings by the Alumni Association
Demonstrative University for College Student Employment in Gansu Province
The only university awarded the Excellence Award in Grassroots Employment of
the MOE in the 2023/2024 academic year among similar institutions in Gansu
Province

12  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE#FSHEBERAT



HE 2% Vocational Schools

EMEBR
Guizhou School

ZB N EB AL
/hengzhou School

BRMA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

HEBHREANRPERER

HEIIF2REZEAREG FRUBEBBREEBREEBEKE -
REARERBEERETFIREEN] EXE BERES
BEFENAERE2EaREBXFLE M E S BT
BRABEABEABRETELHEBIEINAEMNE
[+OA] ARREREERE BIEFEAHE BREAR SR
REABZERIRER

EMERKTEEEEREN ENEABELBHERARES
#2
2025RREFREARBASHE2ES B RE23E FEIH
HaBRRFE2E  — ek

Top 100 universities and colleges with typical employment cases
recognized by the MOE

Praised twice for its employment efforts by Mr. Huai Jinpeng, Minister of
the MOE at national conferences. Earned honors such as the Provincial
“Advanced Unit” in University Graduate Employment Work; the school’s
outstanding student Yang Guangzhen was awarded the “Excellence Award
in the National University Graduate Grassroots Employment”

The establishment of undergraduate-level vocational university was
approved by the MOE and included in the “14th Five-Year Plan” College
Establishment Plan of Guizhou Province. Successfully completed the on-
site inspection by experts from the MOE for the vocational undergraduate
university establishment review

A high-level professional group construction unit in Guizhou Province.
Grand Prize in the Vocational Education Teaching Achievement Award in
Guizhou Province

Ranked 23rd among national vocational colleges with the 2025 China
Private Higher Vocational Colleges Rankings by the Alumni Association,
2nd among China Business and Commerce Higher Vocational Colleges
Rankings, and recognized as a top-tier vocational college

EAEBEHERERR

AmEFERE
MEERRRETFRAEM0E 2L RERRE—HEL
ETERR
BREZEME—FARASHRMAMEZEENSBRER
KRR G2025F Bl m B R E41 %

Characteristic Vocational Education Institution in Henan Province
Safe Campus in Henan Province

Top 30 Typical Cases of University Employment Work in Henan Province;
the only institution selected as Top 10 High Education Quality
Universities and Colleges among peer institutions

The only college in China to offer a cutting-edge major in refractory
materials

Ranked 41st among the 2025 China Higher Vocational Colleges Rankings
by the Alumni Association

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT £ #§
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SCHOOL NETWORK

o Z2EIEBE AR

RERG2025F B el RS BEEEBMY - HrRE

ERTPE RSB

2 [ 7 5 1 5 B B AR

HrRaINEEEN

HAEDLIRERAIFIEL EPPEAEES O

Top 100 higher vocational education colleges

Ranked 25th in Comprehensive Class among the 2025 China

Higher Vocational Colleges by the Alumni Association, and rated

as a Five-Star Top-Tier Vocational College in China

e National Demonstration Vocational Colleges

e Postdoctoral Innovation Practice Base

e Engineering Practice Innovation Project (EPIP) Application
Promotion Center recognized by the MOE

BE 2R

Luoyang School

o 2 ESBM50E

BRI EA T RAARERE R ERETFRE B

BA @ A A $A e A M —

B R &20257 B = B B 1R B & 5E 44 B

RN E R A0E F B A R I A 2R B Rt 8%

ZEE_HRERAEABER

Top 50 higher vocational education colleges

Recognized as an Outstanding Unit for Graduate Employment Work

in Autonomous Region Universities for five consecutive years,

representing the only institution which achieved such honour in the

region

e Ranked 44th among the 2025 China Higher Vocational Colleges
Rankings by the Alumni Association

e Awarded the Guangxi Private Education Outstanding Contribution
Award for the 40th Anniversary of Reform and Opening-Up

e The second batch of National Pilot Schools for First-Aid Education in
School

EEER
Guangxi Schools

14  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEFSHEBERAR
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TRBES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I'm pleased to present this annual report of the Group
for the year ended 31 August 2025. | would like to express my heartfelt thanks
to all shareholders for your trust and support to our Group.

Over the past 26 years since the establishment of China New Higher Education
Group, we have steadfastly implemented the fundamental task of strengthening
morality through education, by embodying our mission of “enabling every student
to achieve career success and life fulfillment”, and unwaveringly advancing
toward our vision of “building the most student-oriented university with a
century-long vision”. In the past year, guided by a strategy of high-quality
development, the Group has achieved breakthrough progress in educational
levels, teaching quality, employment outcomes and service experiences. As a
result, our brand influence has continued to rise, educational achievements have
been fully demonstrated, and sustainable development capabilities have been
further strengthened.

Next, | will report on the Group’s high-quality development in FY2025 from the
following three aspects.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT £ #§
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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RAEE BEEREN ZHBBEREDHEZ
EOR A 242 EMM] EE -

FIRSTLY, INCREASING INVESTMENT TO FURTHER SUPPORT
LONG-TERM EDUCATION FOUNDATION

Regarding Educational levels, significant progress has been made in key
projects. Guizhou School has completed Phase Ill campus construction and
successfully passed the expert inspection by the Ministry of Education for
vocational undergraduate university establishment review, which demonstrated its
effort toward the goal of becoming a vocational university at the undergraduate
level. Applications for undergraduate status at Luoyang School, Zhengzhou
School, and Guangxi Schools are advancing steadily. Yunnan School and
Northeast School have successfully obtained provincial approval for establishing
new master’'s degree-granting units. Applications for the right to grant master’s
degrees at Gansu School and Central China School are progressing steadily.
Collaboration was reached with a renowned German university to establish an
international education platform in the Hainan Free Trade Port.

In faculty development, the proportion of “dual-qualified” teachers has
reached 48%, with the number of “double-high” teachers growing by 6.19%.
Compensation for core teaching positions has increased by 10% year-on-
year, and a total of 20 industry experts and academic leaders have been newly
recruited to further enhance our talent attraction. We have implemented the
BOPPPS teaching model and conducted 1,304 faculty training sessions, enabling
90 teachers to achieve international ISW teaching skills certification. In addition,
specialized support has been provided for 172 teachers to pursue degree
advancements and professional development, and supportive incentive policies
have been implemented to empower curriculum innovation. A high-caliber faculty
team thus underpins our high-quality instruction.

In campus infrastructure, we have upgraded and renovated 75 laboratories
and newly constructed 10 experimental training rooms, while updating and
procuring 1,435 units of teaching equipment to fully meet students’ practical
skills development needs. We replaced 3,460 sets of desks and chairs, equipped
with 782 computers, installed 129 smart interactive whiteboards, and added
256,000 new books, comprehensively elevating teaching hardware facilities. We
constructed or renovated 73 student shared spaces, including shared kitchens,
fitness rooms, and study lounges, extending service functions in dormitory
areas. The athletic field at Central China School has been granted Class Il
certification from the Chinese Athletics Association, while renovation projects of
library at Guizhou School, teaching building at Zhengzhou School, and faculty
offices at both Gansu School and Northeast School have yielded notable results,
continuously enhancing environment-based education functions and faculty
satisfaction.

SECONDLY, DEEPEN REFORMS TO SUPPORT “BETTER
LEARNING OUTCOMES”

“Student-oriented” teaching reforms have been implemented to continuously
refine our talent cultivation system, resulting in significant improvements in
teaching quality and students’ overall competencies. Professional development
has shifted fundamentally from a “disciplinary mindset” to an “employer-oriented”
approach, with the teaching priorities being redirected toward “Enhancing
student learning effectiveness” by leveraging incentive mechanisms such as the
rewarding mechanism for outstanding lessons.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In teaching incentives, the Group has invested over RMB13 million throughout
the year to implement rewarding policies for outstanding lessons, “Excellent
Student Support, Excellent Remuneration”, and “Excellent Guidance, Excellent
Remuneration”, as well as student competition incentives, benefiting 3,141
person-times of faculty and over 110,000 person-times of students, covering
81.86% of the enrolled students and effectively invigorating both teaching
and learning. Over 20,000 online courses have been developed, with digital
teaching means fully utilized. The “Excellent Guidance, Excellent Remuneration”
initiative has established a professionalized supervision system, which facilitates
the transformation of classrooms from “knowledge delivering” to “competency
construction”. The “Excellent Student Support, Excellent Remuneration” program
incentivizes outstanding counselors to evolve from “life stewards” to “academic
mentors”, yielding remarkable results in academic ethos building with student
satisfaction, attendance rates, and pass rates all exceeding 96%.

In majors and courses development, we have optimized our strategic layout
to precisely align with industry demands. We secured approval for 2 national-
level first-class courses, developed 13 provincial-level first-class programs
and 42 provincial-level first-class courses, achieving enhancement in quality of
both majors and courses. We established 5 emerging majors in fields such as
smart grid information engineering and information security, and applied for 6
new undergraduate majors and 7 new vocational majors in areas like artificial
intelligence, in order to proactively position for emerging industries.

In student competitions, among the 84 national university disciplinary
competitions recognized by the Ministry of Education, we have secured 7,685
provincial-level or higher awards, 3,023 national-level awards, and 152 top
national prizes, which doubled the previous academic year’s achievements.

In teaching competitions, award counts have grown by 46.3% year-on-year.
In authoritative national pedagogical competitions, we secured 3 second prizes
and 4 third prizes at the national level, alongside 72 provincial awards. In the
Teaching Innovation Competition, Yunnan School secured the highest total
number of awards among national private universities and institutions within
Yunnan Province, emerging as the only institution to receive the “Outstanding
Organization Award”. Gansu School earned 2 national third prizes, ranking
first among Gansu provincial universities and top three among national private
institutions, setting a historic best record for similar institutions in Gansu.

THIRDLY, TARGETED EMPOWERMENT TO EXPLORE “HIGHER
EMPLOYMENT QUALITY”

In employment channel expansion, in order to further develop the model of
industry-education integration and collaborative education, we have established
new partnership with 288 high-quality enterprises and 127 internship bases,
cumulatively providing over 40,000 internship positions with prestigious firms
accounting for more than 25%. We have established employment service centers
in five key regions of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl
River Delta, Chengdu-Chongging and Xinjiang, to precisely connect with leading
platforms such as Huawei, JD.com and China National Nuclear Corporation,
facilitating direct entry into elite workplaces for 13,000 2025 graduates.
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In employment recognition, strong employment outcomes have become
a shining hallmark of our schools. The initial employment rate of the 2025
graduates reached 98.22%, with the rate of four institutions exceeding 99%;
the high-quality employment rate reached 53.94%, surging by 20.73% year-
on-year to a record high; and the number of students employed by famous
companies increased by 110.32%, with numerous graduates joining Fortune 500
companies, renowned state-owned enterprises, and top-tier (Tier 3A) hospitals.
Substantial success has been achieved in employment related awards, with a
total of 993 honors including 41 awards from the Education Department and the
Human Resources and Social Security Department, 907 awards from employment
related competitions and 23 other employment honors. Multiple institutions have
been selected as provincial- and municipal-level typical cases in employment
and entrepreneurship, fully underscoring our employment achievements.

ESG initiatives have yielded outstanding results. Our S&P Global ESG score
stands at 37, securing the seventh global ranking in the diversified consumer
goods sector and first in China. We have deeply embedded ESG principles
into our educational practices: five institutions were selected as “Water-saving
Universities”. Yunnan School was selected as a “Green and Beautiful Campus”
and has completed the construction of its photovoltaic power generation system,
achieving an annual electricity output of 3 million kWh, accounting for 16% of
the school’s total electricity consumption. Such initiates have demonstrated our
commitment to green development in action.

Esteemed investors and friends, in response to emerging trends in the education
sector, New Higher Education Group will continue to prioritize key initiatives in
cost optimization, faculty enhancement, curriculum quality improvement, and
enhancement of graduate employment outcomes. We will steadily advance all our
initiatives with the ultimate goal of running universities that satisfy the people.

We hereby report to all investors that the Group has intensified its investments
in connotation construction areas including teacher competitions, laboratory and
practical training, student activities and campus environment enhancements
over past two years. This has moderately slowed our growth pace and elevated
operating costs in the short term. However, from a long-term perspective, these
efforts have laid a critical foundation for solidifying our education capabilities
and building sustainable momentum for future development.

We extend our sincere gratitude to all investors for your trust and support.
The Group remains committed to maintaining absolute transparency in our
interactions with you. In matters of listed company disclosures and major policy
communications, the Group has consistently prioritized real-time information
sharing with investors, and all prior commitments have been fully honored and

RE#LRHE- delivered. Looking ahead, after transformation through strategic upgrades, New
Higher Education Group will continue to deliver steady, value-driven performance
for investors, fostering enduring mutual prosperity.

B ARK Thank you.

TEHFESHEBERAR China New Higher Education Group Limited

*E Li Xiaoxuan

0 Chairman

2025911 A28 H 28 November 2025
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HIGHLIGHTS

The Group has been determined to consistently implement the high-
quality development strategy, while upholding the mission of “enabling
every student to achieve career success and life fulfillment” and the
vision of “building the most student-oriented university with a century-
long vision”, adhering to the values of “student-oriented, contributor-
based and adherence to long-termism”. Focusing on the core demands
of “better learning outcomes, higher employment quality, better service
experience and more beautiful campus environment”, the Group has
been continuously increasing educational investment, comprehensively
improving the quality of education and teaching as well as cultivation
of talents to support regional economic and social development, and
contributing to the high-quality development of higher education in China.

Graduate employment quality and employment rate remained consistently
high. As of 31 December 2024, the overall employment rate of the Group’s
2024 graduates was 98.03%, marking the fifth consecutive year with the
overall employment rate above 95%. As of 31 August 2025, the initial
employment rate of the 2025 graduates reached 98.22%, representing
an increase of 3.13 percentage points as compared to last year. The
proportion of high-quality employment of the 2025 graduates reached
53.94%, of which the number of students employed by famous companies
increased by 110.32%.

In the 2025/2026 academic year, the total number of students in
the Group’s schools was approximately 133,000. The proportion of
undergraduate students has continued to increase, with the number of
new undergraduate students increased by 3.9% year-on-year and the
proportion of undergraduate students in the total number of students
increasing by 4.5 percentage points. In addition, the proportion of cross-
provincial enrollment in the Group’s schools has increased consistently.
The minimum admission cut-off scores for our schools continued to
increase, underscoring the further enhancement of brand competitiveness
and the steady implementation of high-quality development strategy.

The Group’s financial performance has maintained steady growth. For the
year ended 31 August 2025, we achieved 7.8% year-on-year increase in
the revenue from principal business of the Group to RMB2.6 billion, while
5.2% year-on-year increase in adjusted net profit to RMB0.81 billion.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT £ #§

19



20

EEEBEFNWEDMN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

e JE)
EBHE

AEBER—RAENSEREEE FI0FHE
“HHFE XAERKYEMEDEAR RS HEHE
R AEESRERZEZ M BRI S H K50
EfAeZERAUMBMRRERAT EFREE
ERENSEE SERREHFHAE [2EH
ETR50% ] EERUEZTERERHYBIIAS
SEHEMEXRFERT-

AEBBRFUIZE - UBLEESBERRLNA
tEmlAEm RIAZEUNEERPLNEF
REB|RBEZ FREEREESEERREE &
BNMASEERA TEEANEBRY]  ER
[EennXEe] REIEFEEORGER] 2
RIEXORERR]  ERZOBEF N BELE
WESBEEERZK-

FENRREE BREISEENEXRELRZAE]

i

() BREMKEBHBEFEELEH

B E2024E12 A31H » 20248 SR E ¥ £ )
EHEEI03% AEERATFHEFTSKFH
F2025%8H31H 2025 B R ELEMNEEE
M & B X A98.22% & EF R HEFA313ME
BoR HF BREXLETREIBER
LERE REARERAEM 2B HE KA
BETRABSEEHREABBREZFRBIEA
110.32% °

BUSINESS REVIEW
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading higher education group focusing on higher education
for over 20 years which first put forward and constantly promoted the school
operation model of application-oriented universities. The Group’s schools
covered various regions of China, cumulatively cultivating over 500,000 high-
quality applied and technical talents for the society. As a leader of high-quality
employment, the Group’s schools have been awarded the “Top 50 National
Employment (& B 5t 2 T {E5058)" by the Ministry of Education, and the
employment rate of each school received top ranking from their provinces and
regions respectively, with continuous improvement in high-quality employment
rates.

BUSINESS ADVANTAGES

The Group has been upholding the mission of “enabling every student to
achieve career success and life fulfillment’, and the vision of “building the
most student-oriented university with a century-long vision”. To this end, the
Group remains steadfast in the implementation of high-quality development
strategy and increase of its investment in high-quality development, to achieve
“better learning outcomes” and “higher employment quality” as well as offer
“better service experience” and “more beautiful campus environment”, thereby
enhancing the Group’s core competitiveness and unwaveringly pursuing the path
of high-quality development.

HIGHER EMPLOYMENT QUALITY: ADHERING TO THE PRINCIPLE OF
“HIGH-QUALITY EMPLOYMENT IS THE FOUNDATION OF A SCHOOL”

U

Steady improvement in the employment quality and employment
rates of graduates

As of 31 December 2024, the overall employment rate of the Group’s
2024 graduates was 98.03%, maintaining a high level for five consecutive
years. As of 31 August 2025, the initial employment rate of the 2025
graduates reached 98.22%, representing an increase of 3.13 percentage
points as compared to last year, of which one out of every two graduates
secured high-quality employment, and the number of students employed
by famous enterprises such as the Fortune Global 500 companies, China’s
Top 100 companies and A-share listed companies increased by 110.32%
as compared to last year.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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Further developing the model of industry-education integration and
collaborative education

The Group has innovatively established five employment service centers
nationwide, targeting the five strategic regions of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei,
the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta, Chengdu-Chongging,
and Xinjiang. By connecting with high-quality platforms of renowned
enterprises, these centers support high-quality employment for the Group’s
2025 graduates. During the Reporting Period, the Group collaborated
with 288 high-quality enterprises to establish 127 internship bases,
providing students with more internship opportunities and enhancing their
professional competencies. Additionally, the Group conducted an employer
satisfaction survey during the Reporting Period. According to the results
of such survey, graduates from the Group’s schools were well-recognized
by employers, particularly in respect of their professional skills and overall
qualities.

Fruitful achievements in employment-related awards

The Group’s schools have achieved substantial success in employment-
related awards. Over the past four years, the Group’s schools have
collectively secured 993 such awards, including the “Silver Award at the
National Finals of the 2nd National College Students’ Career Planning
Competition (F — 2B X2 LB ERIAEHEFIRE )" and the
“Outstanding Organization Award at the National Finals of the 2nd National
College Students’ Career Planning Competition (5 — & & B KX 2 4 B
¥ EKEREE S AL ). Among them, 41 awards were granted
by the Education Department and the Human Resources and Social
Security Department, and 907 awards were secured from employment-
related competitions. Notably, Guangxi Schools have been recognized as
the “Outstanding Unit for Graduate Employment and Entrepreneurship in
Guangxi Ordinary Higher Education Institutions (& 78 & =K ¥4
FLEAIZE T VEZR B BN FEER)” for five consecutive years. Additionally,
Zhengzhou School’s case study, titled “One-Two-Three-Four” Employment
System Precisely Aligns with the Development Needs of the Central Plains
Economic Zone { [—Z =] METEB R B EHEPRLER
R FESK) 7, was selected as a “Typical Case of University Employment
Work in Henan Province ()f] F8 & = 1% St 35 T 1E HR AU 22 f71))".
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BETTER LEARNING OUTCOMES: FULLY ENHANCING EDUCATION AND
TEACHING QUALITY
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Continuous strengthening of faculty development

The Group continues to intensify its investment in faculty resources. On
one hand, it persistently recruits industry experts and academic leaders
to increase the number of faculty members with advanced degrees and
senior titles and elevate the proportion of “dual-qualified” teachers, while
enhancing compensation for core teaching positions. On the other hand,
it bolsters faculty development initiatives by introducing the BOPPPS
teaching model and delivering over 1,000 training sessions, enabling
90 teachers to achieve international ISW teaching skills certification.
Concurrently, the Group has implemented supportive incentive policies
for faculty professional development and degree advancement, fostering
curriculum innovation. During the Reporting Period, the number of awards
won by faculty in national authoritative teaching competitions surged
by 46.3% year-on-year, and one provincial grand prize for teaching
achievement award was obtained. In the Teaching Innovation Competition,
Yunnan School secured the highest total number of awards among national
private universities and institutions within Yunnan Province, emerging
as the only private university nationwide to receive the “Outstanding
Organization Award”. Additionally, Gansu School and Northeast School
each secured first place within their respective provinces.

Continuous upgrading of the “Three Excellences” incentive system

The Group has established a rewarding mechanism for outstanding lessons
to ignite faculty innovation in teaching, yielding significant improvements
in instructional effectiveness and breakthrough advancements in
classroom quality, with 98% of the winners in provincial and higher-
level teaching competitions originating from the “Wonderful Classroom”
initiative. The Group has also introduced an “Excellent Guidance, Excellent
Remuneration” mechanism, professionalizing the supervisory team through
a dynamic rotation system of “one semester of teaching, one semester
of supervision”, thereby constructing a closed-loop quality assurance
framework for teaching. Furthermore, the “Excellent Student Support,
Excellent Remuneration” mechanism has been established to reward
outstanding counselors, facilitating their evolution from “life stewards” to
“academic mentors”.

Focused enhancement of talent cultivation adaptability

The Group continues to ramp up investments in teaching infrastructure,
to upgrade and renovate existing laboratories and training facilities while
constructing new ones and procure experimental equipment, so as to
address students’ practical skill development needs for target career
positions. Meanwhile, it continuously replaces and upgrades classroom
furnishings, including desks, chairs, computers, and smart interactive
boards, to elevate both teaching outcomes and student learning efficacy.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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The Group persists in refining its disciplinary and professional
portfolio, developing 13 provincial first-class majors and 42 provincial
first-class courses. During the Reporting Period, its schools were
approved for two national first-class courses, namely “Robot Offline
Programming System  # 28 ABEARARIE R L) " and “Innovation and
Entrepreneurship { Bl T £2 A1 %) ”. At the same time, in alignment
with national strategies and regional development imperatives, the Group
proactively configures majors in strategic emerging industries, introducing
five new majors such as Information Security and submitting applications
for 13 additional undergraduate and vocational majors, including Artificial
Intelligence.

(IV)  Remarkable achievements in discipline competitions

Students from the Group’s schools have set a new historical record for
awards in high-level discipline competitions. Across the 84 national
college student discipline competitions endorsed by the Ministry of
Education, they earned a total of 7,685 awards at the provincial level and
above, including 3,023 national-level honors. And they earned 152 top
prizes, marking the Group's most outstanding performance to date.

BETTER SERVICE EXPERIENCE: CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT IN
STUDENT LIFE AND ACTIVITY SATISFACTION

The Group has always prioritized the on-campus experience of students and
teachers, actively valuing their feedback and addressing their needs through a
digital platform for collecting and responding to student and teacher opinions.
Efforts to enhance the smart campus experience continue, such as launching
a “one-stop” service for graduates, enabling online handling of various
procedures for greater convenience. At the same time, campus life support has
been strengthened with online responses to maintenance requests, and the
addition of digital applications for food safety, lost-and-found services and loT-
based equipment management to meet diverse student needs. Furthermore,
investments in campus network infrastructure have been increased to improve
performance, ensuring effective use of digital applications such as interactive
online teaching and high-definition video streaming. In terms of commercial
services, the Group continues to introduce high-quality merchants to enhance
dining experiences for students and teachers. For accommodation, during the
Reporting Period, 73 student shared spaces were newly built or renovated,
covering a variety of facilities such as communal kitchens, gyms, study rooms,
and activity centers within apartment complexes, further expanding the lifestyle
services available in dormitory areas. In respect of activity experiences, the
Group continues to carry out peak-experience events which focus on the start
of the academic year and traditional holidays, with a vibrant array of student
activities. In 2025, the student satisfaction rate has reached 94.2%, with a year-
on-year increase of 7.8 percentage points.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT F3 23



24

EEEBEFNWEDMN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EXNRERE BRAE-ARBARR

EIAE2AEERTONBFAEZINERT
FEXNRNERREKEAEGEEZROBFINZ
—EENRERFEEBLEESEHHBERR
EERESER ERENAERNIREE AR -
BEHA FEFEMARERZRZEA X ABA
LRERAMAEERE SEETKITEZEZIER
g S BAE R M S Gm2sfE - Pl BN ER
RUEBRNEASRNEEETHEEER  ZHM
R —EBBINAREFTREERBCEN A F
TERENERREXRENEETREDS #E—
TREBSEEERSEXE -

REREEHERA £ REBFEEL

EREERRBBENES T K8\ MERHNESR
TERTT - flan - 7 [RR & ] 2025 R KBHITH
FOEEERMRIEERNER DR EZEISR
ME3R - PRTFEBRERALAE £ IREE]
2025 Bl R BRI - EMER PR NIELRE
TH8RE2E W AT E — RS BHER -

72025/2026 2 F AEBEE T ERBERE AH
MIB3BA AMBEGUEFERT ELAHA
BRILL B R3.9% AR E P ARERIGLLIRTT4.5
BE - EREETRREERBELLGRFE
Re ZREEEDNDBRFERT mEHESED
SEIER SHERRBRRBSHEE-

MORE BEAUTIFUL CAMPUS ENVIRONMENT: COMMITTED TO CREATING A
FIRST-CLASS EDUCATIONAL ENVIRONMENT

A more beautiful campus environment remains one of the important core
competencies of the Group under the vision of “building the most student-
oriented university with a century-long vision”. A beautiful campus environment
enables students to have better learning outcomes, living experiences, and
activity engagement, achieving a subtle yet effective educational effect through
the environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to increase
investments in campus construction and implemented refined measures
to elevate teachers and student well-being. High-quality completion of 77
infrastructure projects was achieved, with 25 new landscape sculptures and
habitat features added. For example, the completion of library soft furnishing
upgrades at Guizhou School, Northeast School, and Guangxi Schools; renovations
and enhancements to the office and accommodation facilities for frontline
teaching staff across multiple campuses; and the construction of a competition-
grade athletic field at Central China School, which received national professional
accreditation. All of such efforts have further solidified the foundation for the
Group’s high-quality development.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT IN UNIVERSITY RANKINGS AND
OPTIMIZATION OF STUDENT RECRUITMENT STRUCTURE

Guided by the high-quality development strategy, the rankings of the Group’s
eight institutions have steadily risen. For instance, in the 2025 China Private
Universities Rankings by the Alumni Association, Yunnan School and Northeast
School rose to 9th and 13th place, respectively, both recognized as top
application-oriented universities in China. In 2025 National Higher Vocational
College Rankings by the Alumni Association, Guizhou School surged 18 places to
23rd, earning recognition as a top-tier vocational college in China.

In the 2025/2026 academic year, the total number of students in the Group’s
schools was approximately 133,000. The proportion of undergraduate students
has continued to increase, with the number of new undergraduate students
increased by 3.9% year-on-year, and the proportion of undergraduate students in
the total number of students increased by 4.5 percentage points. In addition, the
proportion of cross-provincial enroliment in the Group’s schools has increased
consistently. The minimum admission cut-off scores for our schools continued to
increase, underscoring the further enhancement of brand competitiveness and
the steady implementation of high-quality development strategy.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT



RIFESGES| SHERBUFEARE

EEBTRE e RES ([ESG] ) & LAESG
BES BEHEANFERRE - REHRN EER
RRESTZEEEHAMIREAMSNR - 25
BREFIEAIGERBEIM IS AESR]  HE
HR EZEERTERNREERAER FHEE
EE0EE EHRPAREBEFRHEEET A
ERRS o AN EMER MM ER  HHE
REEFEBRTFITIEAHKESR] -EET
SBBRRENMESEARTISRA  20256F B A ESEH
BRI REE 2 —1ZE2IRESGRE 37D 1 B
FTETE2BEEE L PEEBE— AT HE
NHBETEBS» &S WERXABEZE2IR(AT#H
BEERFE (PHIR)2025) °

AREE
BERAXEREAEELERRE

SEFESIIATBRRIE BEXBAS KB
KB A A 2024F8 7 - BIFS BT i B AAME 1 AR 758
BEoHsEENER)PRY (SEHEIBEK
BIREEI BEoKTFBRESRMEE] 2024
FoR iR BEERR(EREHRAEELH
BMEESEERDPHENER)PEFA (B
RRIEEREBERREE RELET M HEFE
THOEZREBEIMIMRERBRBEXRE  #
ERETME EARS NYRE HEFZ2525
BRI BEAA ] 0 2024510 A Fh theh s - B 7 B
(AN FIELET ABKRERNENER) -
RO EERERE EYBENBELEFE
F]o2025F 1R AP HAPR BKEDE(CHER
B %R B840 E (2024—20354F) ) 42 [0z
REABEHEFLER BEEABEIR -EIHE-
BREAT BEBEZINE EXREFTE

o
BE o
aX

BB &Y wm B AT
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INSISTING ON ESG-LED, HIGH-QUALITY AND LONG-TERM SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”")
philosophy, with ESG as its guiding principle to promote sustainable development.
During the Reporting Period, the Group and its schools have been recognized
by authorities and the capital market. Yunnan School was selected as a “Green
and Beautiful Campus” and a “Water-saving University”. During the Reporting
Period, Yunnan School has completed the construction of its photovoltaic power
generation system, achieving an annual electricity output of 3 million kWh. This
system will provide stable and clean energy support for the campus’s daily
operations on a long-term basis. In addition, Guizhou School, Zhengzhou School,
Gansu School and Central China School were also selected as “Water-saving
Universities”. Sustainable development of the Group has also been recognized
by the capital market. In 2025, the Group once again received an ESG score of
37 from S&P Global, one of the world’s three major international rating agencies,
maintaining its seventh-place global ranking and first-place position within
the industry in China. This represents the highest score in China's domestic
education sector and earns inclusion in S&P Global’s “Sustainability Yearbook
(China Edition) 2025” for the second consecutive year.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

THE HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
RECEIVED PROLONGED SUPPORT BY THE POLICY

The Group continues to benefit from supportive government policies while the
outlook for vocational education remains highly promising and full of potential.
In August 2024, the Opinions of the State Council on Promoting High-Quality
Development of Service Consumption ( ( BARRERBHESEE2EEMN
&= 5.) ) proposed to “encourage and promote the enhancement of quality and
efficiency in vocational education, while building high-caliber vocational schools
and programs”. In September 2024, the Opinions of the CPC Central Committee
and the State Council on Implementing the Employment Priority Strategy to
Promote High-Quality and Full Employment ( € B85 & He 5t 2 18 9 B RS 4
ESEERDHENE R ) ) emphasized that “the employment situation
as an important basis for the allocation of education resources, assessment
of the quality of education, and the arrangement of enroliment plans” and “to
accelerate modern vocational education development, promote integration
between vocational education and general education, between industry and
education, and between science and education, in order to cultivate more
high-quality technical and skilled talents”. In October 2024, the CPC Central
Committee and the State Council issued the Opinions on Deepening the Reform
of Industrial Workers’ Team Construction (  BFNFEILEZE T ABKMER
RERE R ) ), proposing to “accelerate the development of a vocational
education system that integrates vocational and general education while
promoting industry-education integration”. In January 2025, the CPC Central
Committee and the State Council issued the Outline of the Plan for Building a
Strong Education Nation (2024-2035) ( { Z & 52 B 2% iR &1 40 Z (2024 —
20354F ) ) ), proposing to “accelerate the construction of a modern vocational
education system to cultivate national master craftsmen, skilled artisans, and
high-skilled talent, including fostering new models of diversified schooling and
industry-education integration”.
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The Group’s high-quality development strategy aligns perfectly with the direction
of policy support. The Group will continue to solidly promote major construction
project of upgrading Guizhou School to an undergraduate-level university to
ensure the completion of the relevant preparatory work with high quality and
efficiency. Yunnan School and Northeast School have successfully obtained
provincial-level approval for the establishment of new master's degree granting
units, and Yunnan School became the first batch of private universities in Yunnan
Province being approved for the establishment of such a new master’s degree
granting unit at the provincial level. Furthermore, the Group plans to collaborate
with German universities to establish a higher education institution in the Hainan
Free Trade Port, offering programs at the undergraduate-level and above.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT: “THREE SUSTAINABILITY”
()  Continue to follow the path of high-quality development

The Group has always insisted on being a long-term runner in the higher
education industry. The Group will continue to increase its investment
and steadfastly follow the path of high-quality development supported by
national policies to create and provide educational opportunities with high
quality teaching, high quality employment and high-quality experience for
students of all its schools.

(ll)  Sustained and stable value creation under the ESG approach

The Group is committed to the ESG philosophy, with ESG as its guiding
principle to integrate financial indicators such as stable performance
growth, steady investment returns and abundant cash flow with ESG, so
as to create value in a sustained and steady manner, thereby realizing
long-term benefits and sustainable development, and achieving a win-win
situation for both investors and the Group in the long run.

(lll)  Building the most student-oriented university with a century-
long vision and continuing to provide education that meets the
satisfaction of the people

In the face of the new development stage, new development pattern and
new development opportunities in higher education, with the mission of
“enabling every student to achieve career success and life fulfillment”,
the Group is committed to building the “most student-oriented university
with a century-long vision” and solidly execute the idea of “strengthening
morality through education, teaching students in accordance with their
aptitude and studying for the sake of application”. The Group will continue
to cultivate high-quality talents with applied and technical skills who have
comprehensive development in morality, intelligence, physical fitness,
aesthetics, and labor skills to meet the needs of local economic and social
development, so as to assist in the strengthening of education to support
our country and create greater values for the society, and to provide
education that meets the satisfaction of the people.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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Bt 7% (2] 8 FINANCIAL REVIEW
HE2025F8A3IBIEFEREFRBMB 24 The financial results for the year ended 31 August 2025 and last year are as
/N follows:
BETHRHILEEE
Year ended
20254 20244
8H31H 8H31H -0
31 August 31 August
2025 2024 Change
AREEHET AREEET (%)
RMB million RMB million (%)
A Total revenue” 3,070.7 2,835.2 8.3%
A Revenue 2,599.4 2,411.7 7.8%
F AR Cost of sales (1,676.4) (1,535.6) 9.2%
EF Gross profit 923.0 876.1 5.4%
H b Y as Mg o Other income and gains 471.3 423.5 11.3%
HERDIHAX Selling and distribution expenses (41.4) (40.6) 2.0%
THRAX Administrative expenses (128.9) (113.4) 13.7%
Hih X Other expenses (112.6) (104.7) 7.5%
A& AR Finance costs (115.8) (127.9) -9.5%
RR B A% R PROFIT BEFORE TAX 995.6 913.0 9.0%
FrEBiAx Income tax expense (166.4) (157.0) 6.0%
= R E Net profit 829.2 756.0 9.7%
&R EFE R E Adjusted net profit* 812.3 772.0 5.2%

A=A +E b W zm J 3 &

# AT E=H 22025F8 A3 L FEFFBEARE ¢
820 2E B MEEHITEER AT EKR ARKI16.28
B REETHREEREN KRS ARKOTAEE T (2024
B - B 20248 A3IH L FEFFEARK756.08 & T
MEEBTEERAFEBAAREI62E ST MiEE
TIREEREN KSARE2EST)

Total revenue = revenue + other income and gains

Adjusted net profit = net profit of RMB829.2 million for the year ended 31 August 2025
less fair value gain of a swap derivative product of RMB16.2 million, minus exchange gain
of RMBO0.7 million arising from the USD syndicated loans (FY2024: net profit of RMB756.0
million for the year ended 31 August 2024 plus fair value loss of a swap derivative product
of RMB16.2 million, minus exchange gain of RMBO0.2 million arising from the USD syndicated
loans)
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REVENUE

The Group’s revenue reached RMB2,599.4 million for the year ended 31 August
2025, increased by 7.8% as compared to RMB2,411.7 million for last year,
which was mainly attributable to steady growth of revenue from tuition fees
and boarding fees driven by leveraging the advantages of centralized school
operation and continuous high quality connotation development.

COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales was RMB1,676.4 million for the year ended 31
August 2025, increased by 9.2% as compared to RMB1,535.6 million for last
year, which was primarily due to (1) an increase of 14.0% in labor-related costs
as compared to that of last year as the Group continued to optimize the cost
structure of teachers and upgrade the “Three Excellences” incentive mechanism,
while enhancing the remuneration and benefits of core teaching positions,
actively introducing double-high teachers and strengthening the construction of
a high quality teaching team; and (2) an increase of 12.5% in depreciation and
amortization costs as compared to that of last year as the Group continued to
upgrade and renovate its campus and upgrade its laboratory training equipment.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group’s gross profit was RMB923.0 million for the year ended 31 August
2025, which increased by 5.4% as compared to RMB876.1 million for last
year. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 August 2025 was 35.5%,
representing a decrease of 0.8 percentage point as compared to the gross profit
margin of 36.3% for last year. The decrease was mainly due to the Group’s
adherence to a connotation development strategy and the increasing investment
in talents and teaching. As such, the growth of revenue during the current
period temporarily lagged behind the increase in cost of sales. The development
strategy which is based on high quality will lay a solid foundation for its future
organic growth.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group’s other income and gains reached RMB471.3 million for the year
ended 31 August 2025, increased by 11.3% as compared to RMB423.5 million
for last year, which was mainly due to (1) fair value and investment gain of
RMB22.6 million incurred from a swap derivative product purchased by the
Group to hedge its exposure to the risks of fluctuations in exchange rates
and floating interest rates of USD loans during the Reporting Period; and (2)
the integration of the Group’s training resources accumulated over the years,
exploring best practices and actively providing training services in vocational
skills enhancement to the community and students, leading to a 9.0% increase
in service revenue year-on-year.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses were RMB41.4 million for the year
ended 31 August 2025, which increased by 2.0% as compared to RMB40.6
million for last year. This increase was primarily attributable to the Group’s
continuous efforts to strengthen brand building and enhance its schools’ brand
image. The expenses accounted for approximately 1.3% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Reporting Period, remaining consistent with historical levels.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses were RMB128.9 million for the year ended
31 August 2025, increased by 13.7% as compared to RMB113.4 million for
last year, which was primarily due to (1) an increase in the proportion of base
bonuses for executives of the Group to enhance its employer’s image and the
well-being of employees during the Reporting Period; and (2) an increase in
commissioning fees paid to external agencies to promote Yunnan School’s and
Northeast School’s applications for the right to grant master’s degrees.

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses were RMB112.6 million for the year ended 31
August 2025, which increased by 7.5% as compared to RMB104.7 million for
last year. Such increase was mainly due to the rise in training costs driven by
the growth in the training services income of the Group.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs were RMB115.8 million for the year ended 31 August
2025, decreased by 9.5% as compared to RMB127.9 million for last year, which
was mainly due to the Group’s continuous efforts to expand its diversified loan
portfolio and control finance size and costs, resulting in a decrease in both of
average loan size and interest rate.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

As a result of the combined impact of revenue, costs and expenses above, the
Group recorded a profit before tax of RMB995.6 million for the Reporting Period,
representing an increase of 9.0% as compared to RMB913.0 million for last
year.

NET PROFIT

As a result of the combined effects of revenue, costs and expenses above, the
net profit of the Group was RMB829.2 million for the year ended 31 August
2025, representing an increase of 9.7% as compared to RMB756.0 million for
last year.

NON-HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented under HKFRS
Accounting Standards, we also use adjusted net profit as additional financial
measures. The Company considers that these non-HKFRS Accounting Standards
measures can eliminate the potential impact of items that management believes
are not reflective of the Group’s operating performance and thus facilitate
comparisons of operating performance from period to period.
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The use of non-HKFRS Accounting Standards measures has limitations as an
analytical tool as these measures do not include all items that affect our results
in the related period. In view of the limitations of the non-HKFRS Accounting
Standards measures above, readers should not read the non-HKFRS Accounting
Standards measures in isolation or as an alternative to our profit for the year,
or any other measure of operating performance calculated in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards, in assessing our operating and financial
performance. In addition, as these non-HKFRS Accounting Standards measures
may be calculated differently by different companies, they should not be
compared with similarly named measures used by other companies.

The calculation of adjusted net profit is as follows:

BETHEHLELEE
Year ended
20254 20244
8H31H 8H31H
31 August 31 August
2025 2024
ARBBETR AREBET
RMB million RMB million
= E Net profit 829.2 756.0
ARBEER BHBATEERATE Adjusted items: Fair value (gain)/loss of a swap
(Wezs) BKR derivative product (16.2) 16.2
ETIREERER Exchange (gain)/loss arising from
(Yez) Bk the USD syndicated loans (0.7) 0.2)
TR R E Adjusted net profit 812.3 772.0
BB TOTAL CAPITAL

HE200205F8A31H AEBECBBAARE
172728 870 (2024F8A31H : ARK2321.78 8
L) B2 RBBENBERRSEEY  NEEE
MSZBREIEZR ESER-

MBEERMERL X

AEENGFERTERMEMERFTEBIEEH
EEESER BEREFRRENRPBEEER
H ZE2025F8A31H s BRITE R K E b8 A
EHEABEAARK?2613.78 & T (202448 A31
H: ARM35048EE L) EHRUETTENE
HAEB0OEEETL  EHUARKE:

EERABSERHEZE20255F8A3NBME BRITER
MEMERUALBEAERBE AEENEGER
B EERBE202448A31EH318% TR ER
E2025F8A31HMI2A3% T EMNEB AEH A
EREREEERMEXA RAEET HDRTE
T EERNE—FIRA-

The total capital of the Group was RMB1,727.2 million as of 31 August 2025 (31
August 2024: RMB2,321.7 million), which equals to the aggregate of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged and restricted deposits and time deposits.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings primarily consisted
of short-term working capital loans and long-term project loans for its school
buildings and facilities. The interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
as well as lease liabilities amounted to RMB2,613.7 million as of 31 August
2025 (31 August 2024: RMB3,504.8 million), among which US$80.0 million was
denominated in United States dollar, while the remaining was denominated in
Renminbi.

Interest-bearing debt equals to the total amount of interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings and lease liabilities as of 31 August 2025. The Group’s
interest-bearing debt/total assets decreased from 31.8% as of 31 August 2024
to 24.3% as of 31 August 2025, which was mainly due to the Group’s early
repayment of certain bank borrowings to control the scale of liabilities and
reduce overall financing costs, which further enhanced its solvency.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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Net interest-bearing debt equals to the total interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings and lease liabilities net of total capital as of 31 August 2025.
The Group’s net interest-bearing debt/total equity decreased from 28.8%
as of 31 August 2024 to 17.9% as of 31 August 2025, which was primarily
attributable to the combined effect of the reduction in scale of the Group’s net
interest-bearing debt and the increase in total equity amount.

Gearing ratio equals to the ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity
as of 31 August 2025. The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from 85.2% as of
31 August 2024 to 52.8% as of 31 August 2025, primarily due to the decrease
in scale of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities and the increase in total equity.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ended 31 August 2025, the Group’s capital expenditures were
RMB688.4 million, which was primarily used for the construction of upgrading
Guizhou School to an undergraduate-level university, the construction of other
schools’ buildings and facilities, land acquisition and purchase of furniture and
equipment.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group's capital commitments were primarily used in the payment of
construction and maintenance of school buildings and purchase of facilities. The
following table sets out a summary of our capital commitments as of the dates
indicated:

20254 20244
8H31H 8H31H
As at As at
31 August 31 August
2025 2024
AREBEER ARBEBET
RMB million RMB million
BET 4B KRB Contracted but not provided for:
NE-BERSZE Property, plant and equipment
—F AR Within one year 367.7 2145
—F P E Over one year 51.2 353.4
418.9 567.9

B E2025%F8A3TH  AEE Y BEMEKEER
RTRIENEE K& AR HE o

EAREREFEENARREE

BAREMEEEIN ORERHERUAREREE
ABRERH AEEMEBELMBEAREREREE

BEE

As of 31 August 2025, the Group had no significant capital commitment
authorized but not contracted for.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other plans for
material investments and capital assets since the end of the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

No other significant investments and acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures were made by the Group during the Reporting
Period.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB and HKD. The majority of the
Group’s revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB. As at 31 August
2025, certain bank loans and bank balances were denominated in USD and HKD.
In future, the management will continue to pay attention to the Group’s foreign
exchange risk exposure and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
The pledged assets of the Group as at 31 August 2025 are as follows:

(i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries; and

(i) deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB878,357,000 as at 31
August 2025 (31 August 2024: RMB928,105,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 August 2025, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities,
guarantee or any litigation or claims of material importance, pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

As of 31 August 2025, the Group had not entered into any off-balance sheet
transactions.
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FAVOURABLE POLICIES TO FACILITATE THE DEVELOPMENT
OF PRIVATE HIGHER VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

On 12 October 2021, the General Office of the Chinese Communist Party Central
Committee and the General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on
Promoting the High-quality Development of Modern Vocational Education ( € 8
REDHRERBEHESLE2ERMER) ) (the “Opinions”), and issued
a notice requiring serious implementation. The Opinions put forward that (1)
speeding up the establishment of the “vocational education college entrance
examination” system, to promote the vertical connection of vocational education
at different levels, and strengthen the penetration and integration of general
education and vocational education at all levels; (2) adherence to major national
strategies, to encourage schools setting up more scarce and market-oriented
majors; (3) improving the diversified school operation pattern, encouraging listed
companies and industry leading enterprises to establish vocational education,
and encouraging all kinds of enterprises to participate in the establishment of
vocational education according to law, to enrich the school operation forms of
vocational schools; (4) governments at all levels should coordinate the scale,
structure and level of vocational education and human resources development,
and include the integration of production and education into the economic
and social development plan. Local governments should take the promotion of
enterprises’ participation in school-enterprise cooperation and the cultivation of
technical and skilled talents as the important contents of industrial development
plans, industrial incentive policies and rural revitalization plans, provide
“financial + fiscal + land + credit” incentives to industry-education integrated
enterprises, and implement the relevant tax and fee policies in accordance with
the regulations; (b) realizing the innovation of school-enterprise cooperation
mechanism, deepening the reform of education and teaching, building the
brand of vocational education with Chinese characteristics, and exploring the
international development mode of “Chinese + vocational skills”.

In December 2021, four departments including the Ministry of Education issued
the “14th Five-Year Plan” for Vocational Skills Training which was the first “Five-
Year Plan” of vocational training of the Central Government, aiming to improve
the capability of workers and relieve the pressure of employment. Such policy
sets up key goals for the year of 2021 to 2025: (1) conducting subsidized
vocational training with no less than 75 million persons, in which no less than
30 million persons for farmers; (2) no less than 40 million persons for newly
obtained vocational qualification certificates or vocational skill level certificates;
(3) no less than 200 of newly built public training bases. The higher education
industry will continue to benefit from the favorable policy on vocational
education.

In February 2022, the Ministry of Education announced the work focus of
vocational education in 2022, proposed to promote fuller and higher quality
employment for college graduates, support and regulate the healthy development
of private education and accelerate the digital transformation and smart upgrade
of education. It is expected that the Group will continue to benefit from the
favorable policies of vocational education.
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The Vocational Education Law promulgated by the Standing Committee of
the National People’s Congress in April 2022, which became effective on
1 May, clarifies that vocational education and general education have the
same important status, supports the social forces to extensively participate in
vocational education, fosters, guides and backs up enterprises and other social
forces to sponsor vocational schools and vocational training institutions in
accordance with the law, and encourages enterprises to participate deeply in the
integration of industry and education, as well as school-enterprise cooperation.
The new law also makes it clear that when government, public institutions,
state-owned enterprises are in the recruitment of technical skills positions, the
level of technical skills should be an important criteria and public institutions
can appropriately lower educational requirements when publicly recruit positions
with vocational skills level requirements. From which we can observe that the
new law continues the consistent policy direction of the state to support the
development of vocational education. And through the improvement of the
protection mechanism and measures of vocational education, it focuses on
improving the recognition of vocational education and the quality of technical
skills personnel training. The new law will definitely promote the high-quality
development of vocational education, and the higher vocational education groups
will also welcome a new round of development opportunities in a more sound
and friendly legal environment.

In October 2022, Xi Jinping, the General Secretary of the Communist Party of
China (“CPC”) Central Committee, pointed out in the report to the 20th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China that China will continue to give high
priority to the development of education, build a strong educational system,
and move faster to build a high-quality educational system. It is clear that the
focus of vocational education, higher education, and continuing education is
collaborative innovation. China will promote integration between vocational
education and general education, between industry and education, and between
science and education. China will also better establish vocational education as
a category in the educational system, setting out the direction for the future
development of higher vocational education.

In December 2022, the General Office of the CPC Central Committee and the
General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on Deepening the
Reform of the Construction of Modern Vocational Education System, which put
forward the strategic tasks of exploring a new model for the construction of a
modern vocational education system at the provincial level, building a municipal
industry-education consortium and creating a community of industry-education
fusion. It also specifies the key tasks of enhancing the key school-running
capacity of vocational schools, strengthening the construction of “dual-qualified”
teacher teams, building an open regional practice centre for integration of
industry and education, broadening the channels for students to grow up and
become successful, and innovating the mechanism of international exchanges
and cooperation.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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In March 2023, Premier Li Kegiang, on behalf of the State Council, made a
Report on the Work of the Government at the First Session of the Fourteenth
National People’s Congress, in which he proposed that over the past five years,
the development of vocational education has achieved remarkable results, the
adaptability of vocational education has been enhanced, and the conditions of
operation of vocational schools have continued to improve, and proposed, among
the priorities of this year’s work, to promote the high-quality and balanced
development of compulsory education and the integration of urban and rural
areas, to develop vocational education vigorously and to promote the innovation
of higher education.

In June 2023, the National Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry
of Education, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry
of Finance, the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, the Ministry
of Natural Resources, the People’s Bank of China and the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council issued the
Implementation Plan for the Enhancement of Empowerment Initiatives for
Industry-education Integration in Vocational Education (2023-2025) ( € B 3
HEEHRMEBERRATEHEM T E (2023-2025%)) ), with the aim
of integrating and promoting the coordinated development of education and
industry, innovating and building platforms and carriers for industry-education
integration, successively advancing the pilot projects for the construction of
industry-education integration, and perfecting and implementing the combined
incentives and empowerment policy system, so as to further lead industry-
education integration to make deepen reforms. The implementation plan expects
that by 2025, there are about 50 pilot cities for industry-education integration
in the PRC. With giving full play to the breakthrough and leading role of pilot
cities, more than 10,000 enterprises for industry-education integration will be
established and cultivated nationwide. A development pattern of coordinated
integration and benign interaction between education and industry will be
gradually formed after improving and perfecting the system of enterprises for
industry-education integration and the combined incentive policy system, a
steady increase in investment in vocational education from various funding
channels, and better integrating industrial needs into the entire cultivation
process of talent development.

In July 2023, the General Office of the Ministry of Education issued the Notice
on Accelerating the Reform of the Construction of Modern Vocational Education
System, deploying 11 key tasks for the reform of the construction of modern
vocational education system, accelerating the construction of a new mechanism
for the high-quality development of vocational education that involves interaction
between the central government and the local government, regional linkage, and
collaboration between government, industry, enterprises, and schools, so as to
promote the reform of the construction of modern vocational education system in
an orderly and effective manner.

In March 2024, Premier Li Qiang, on behalf of the State Council, made a Report
on the Work of the Government at the Second Session of the Fourteenth National
People’s Congress. The report proposed to guide and regulate the development
of private education, vigorously improve the quality of vocational education,
implement pilot comprehensive reforms of higher education, optimise the
structural layout of disciplines, majors and resources, accelerate the construction
of world-class universities with Chinese characteristics and advantageous
disciplines, strengthen applied undergraduate colleges and enhance operating
capabilities of colleges in the central western region.
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In 2024, the State Council issued the Opinions on Promoting High-Quality
Development of Service Consumption ( (BN EEREEE S L ELE
K E &) ), which highlighted the need to improve the quality and efficiency
of vocational education and establish vocational schools and programs with
high standards. In September 2024, the CPC Central Committee and the State
Council issued the Opinions on Implementing the Employment Priority Strategy to
Promote High-quality and Full Employment ( € 8 5 & JiE 3t 3 18 7t BA RS (R 1
SEEROMENER) ), emphasizing acceleration of modern vocational
education development, integration between vocational education and general
education, between industry and education, and between science and education,
in order to cultivate more high-quality technical and skilled talents.

In March 2025, Premier Li Qiang, on behalf of the State Council, made a Report
on the Work of the Government at the Third Session of the Fourteenth National
People’s Congress. The report proposed to accelerate the development of high-
quality education system, and boost the adaptability of vocational education
through promoting the integration between vocational education and general
education as well as between industry and education.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
()  CLASSIFIED REGISTRATION

According to the Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging
Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development
of Private Education (29 December 2016), a classified registration and
management system shall be applicable to private schools, and private
school sponsors can choose to run non-profit or for-profit private schools.
The revised Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (implemented
on 1 September 2017) also promulgated the same provisions.

According to the Implemental Rules on Private School Classified
Registration (30 December 2016), if an existing private school chooses
to register as a non-profit private school, it should modify its articles of
association, continue to run the school and complete new registration
procedures in accordance with relevant laws. If it chooses to register as
a for-profit private school, it should conduct financial settlement, clarify
the ownership of school land, school premises, school accumulation, and
pay related taxes and fees, obtain a new permit in running a school, re-
register and continue the operations for education.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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In order to further implement the above requirements, government
and relevant competent departments in the region where the Group
runs schools have successively issued supporting measures, including
(1) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government of
Yunnan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (18 December
2017), Notice of the Five Departments including Education Department
of Yunnan Province on Steady and Orderly Promotion of Classified
Registration and Management of Private Schools (12 June 2019); (2)
Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government of Guizhou
Province on Supporting and Regulating Social Forces to Set up Education
to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (3 August
2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Examination and
Approval of Registration and Supervision and Management of Private
Schools in Guizhou Province (Trial) (11 June 2019), Measures for
Changing the Type of Legal Person Registration of Existing Private Schools
in Guizhou Province (22 August 2022); (3) Implementation Opinions
Issued by Heilongjiang Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set
up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education,
Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration of Private
Schools in Heilongjiang Province, and Measures for the Supervision and
Administration of For-profit Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province (26
February 2019); (4) Implementation Opinions of the People’s Government
of Gansu Province on Further Promoting the Healthy Development of
Private Education (8 November 2017), Measures for the Implementation of
Classified Registration of Private Schools in Gansu Province (15 November
2018); (5) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region on Encouraging Social Powers to Set
up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (2
July 2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration of
Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (10 October 2018),
Measures for the Implementation of Supervision and Administration of For-
profit Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (16 October
2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration of
Existing Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (19 April
2022); (6) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Hubei Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (20 December
2017); (7) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Henan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Further Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (2 February
2018).

The above local regulations only provide a procedural framework for the
classified registration of existing private schools in relevant provinces as
for-profit private schools or non-profit private schools, but do not further
specify the various preferential taxes and land use policies that can be
enjoyed by for-profit and non-profit schools.
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As of the date of this report, except that the Northeast School, Guangxi
Schools, Yunnan School and Guizhou School are currently in the process
of classified registration according to the guidance of the relevant
provincial authorities, the Company has not commenced the process of
classified registration for other schools under the Group. However, due
to the uncertainties in the interpretation and application of the above
requirements, there are uncertainties as to when the private schools under
the Group can complete the classified registration, whether the relevant
taxes and fees will need to be paid in accordance with local supporting
rules in the process of classified registration in the future, and what kind
of tax and land use policies and other aspects of government supports
such schools will enjoy in the future. The Group will continue to pay close
attention to any further development on the application of the above
requirements.

THE 2021 IMPLEMENTATION RULES

On 14 May 2021, the State Council promulgated the Implementation
Rules for the Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (the “2021
Implementation Rules”), which has been implemented since 1 September
2021. The 2021 Implementation Rules stipulate that: (1) private schools
may enjoy the preferential tax policies stipulated by the State, among
which non-profit private schools may enjoy the same preferential tax
policies as public schools; (2) for the construction or expansion of
non-profit private schools, the local people’s governments shall grant
preferential treatments in terms of land use by means of allocation in
accordance with the principle of treating non-profit private schools equally
as public schools. For the land use of private schools that implement
preschool education and education for academic credentials, the
governments may provide lands by means of agreement, bidding, auction
and etc. according to the laws. Lands may also be supplied by long-term
lease, lease and assignment, and combination of sale and rental. Charges
for the assignment or rental of land may be paid in instalments within the
specified time limit as agreed in the contract.

The 2021 Implementation Rules do not involve specific provisions on
preferential taxation and land use policies. Therefore, there are still
uncertainties as to what kind of tax and land use policies and other
aspects of government supports the private schools under the Group will
enjoy in the future.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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The 2021 Implementation Rules further stipulate that: (1) the State
encourages enterprises to establish or participate in the establishment
of private schools that implement vocational education in various forms,
such as sole proprietorship, joint venture or cooperation according
to law; institutions that implement nationally recognized educational
examinations, vocational qualification examinations and vocational skill
level examinations shall comply with the relevant provisions of the State in
the establishment or participation in the establishment of private schools
related to the examination implemented by them; (2) private schools that
provide compulsory education are not allowed to enter into transactions
with their interested parties, and other private schools shall conduct
transactions with their interested parties in a manner that is open,
justified and fair, shall price such transactions reasonably, shall establish
standardized decision-making for such transactions and shall not harm
the interests of the State, schools and teachers and students. Private
schools shall set up an information disclosure mechanism for dealing
with their interested parties. The relevant governmental authorities,
such as the education department, the human resources and social
security departments and the financial departments, shall strengthen the
supervision of the agreements entered into between non-profit private
schools and their interested parties, and shall review the connected
transactions annually; (3) if the sponsor is a legal person, its controlling
shareholder and the actual controller must meet the requirements
stipulated by laws and administrative regulations for the establishment
of a private school, and any change of the controlling shareholder or
the actual controller must be reported to the competent department for
record-filing and publicity. Any social organizations and individuals shall
not control private schools which provide compulsory education or non-
profit private schools which implement preschool education through
mergers and acquisitions or contractual agreements; and (4) the start-up
capital and registered capital of a private school shall be compatible with
the type, level and scale of the school and shall be paid in full when it is
formally established.

Pursuant to the 2021 Implementation Rules, the Group is not prohibited
from acquiring non-profit private schools providing higher education
services or controlling them through structured contracts. As the Group
has no plans to acquire private schools providing compulsory education
or non-profit private schools providing preschool education, we do not
consider that the 2021 Implementation Rules will have any adverse impact
on the Group’s future acquisitions.

The Structured Contracts may be considered as transactions with
interested parties of private schools under the Group, and we may incur
significant compliance costs due to the establishment of a disclosure
mechanism. If the private school under the Group chooses to register as
a non-profit private school, the competent government department shall
review its relevant transactions annually. These processes may not be
under our control and may be very complex and cumbersome, and may
divert management attention. During the review process, government
departments may require us to modify or terminate the Structured
Contracts, which may lead to penalties, resulting in a material adverse
impact on the operation of the Structured Contracts.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the 2021 Implementation Rules.
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FOREIGN INVESTMENT LAW

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC ( { 13 A R £ M B INF IR E
7% ) (the “Foreign Investment Law”) approved by the National People’s
Congress on 15 March 2019 has been implemented since 1 January
2020, and has become the basic law for foreign investment in China.
According to this law, existing foreign-invested enterprises may maintain
their existing organization structure within five years from the effective
date of the Foreign Investment Law.

On 26 December 2019, the State Council issued the Implementation
Regulations of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“Implementation Regulations”), which also came into effect on 1
January 2020, aiming to implement the legislative principles and purposes
of the Foreign Investment Law.

The Foreign Investment Law clearly specifies three forms of
foreign investment, but neither the Foreign Investment Law nor the
Implementation Regulations explicitly stipulate contractual agreements as
a form of foreign investment. As confirmed by our PRC Legal Advisors, as
the Foreign Investment Law and the Implementation Regulations do not
define contractual agreements as a form of foreign investment, if future
laws, administrative regulations, and regulations of the State Council
do not include contractual agreements as a form of foreign investment,
the Structured Contracts as a whole and the agreements constituting
the Structured Contracts will not be affected, and will continue to be
legally valid, effective and binding on the parties. However, if future laws,
administrative regulations, and regulations of the State Council stipulate
contractual agreements as one of the ways of foreign investment, the
Group may need to take relevant measures in accordance with the
requirements of the laws, regulations and regulations of the State Council
at that time. There will be uncertainty as to whether we can complete
these measures in a timely manner or at all. Failure to take appropriate
measures in a timely manner to address any of the compliance
requirements in the above provisions may have a significant effect on our
current group structure, corporate governance and business operations.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

The Board will continue to monitor any updates regarding the Foreign
Investment Law and seek guidance from our PRC Legal Advisors to ensure
that the Company meets all relevant laws and regulations in China.
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(Iv) THE TRIAL ADMINISTRATIVE MEASURES OF OVERSEAS
SECURITIES OFFERING AND LISTING BY DOMESTIC COMPANIES

On 17 February 2023, the China Securities Regulatory Commission
(the “CSRC”) released five supporting guidelines including the Trial
Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing
by Domestic Companies (R AN EBIINBTESNM LT ER
SITPE) ) (the “Overseas Listing Trial Measures”), which came
into effect on 31 March 2023. The Overseas Listing Trial Measures will
regulate both direct and indirect overseas offering and listing of PRC
domestic companies’ securities by adopting a filing-based regulatory
regime. On the same day, the CSRC also held a press conference for the
release of the Overseas Listing Trial Measures and issued the Notice on
Administration for the Filing of Overseas Offering and Listing by Domestic
Companies ((FAR B ACERII BT EMEREELHENS
%) ), which, among others, clarified that the domestic companies that
have already been listed overseas on or before the effective date of the
Overseas Listing Trial Measures (i.e. 31 March 2023) shall be deemed
as existing applicants (7 2 1& %), or the Existing Applicants. Existing
Applicants are not required to complete the filing procedures immediately,
and they shall be required to file with the CSRC when subsequent matters
such as refinancing are involved. The Overseas Listing Trial Measures also
requires subsequent reports to be filed with the CSRC on material events,
such as change of control or voluntary or forced delisting of the issuer(s)
who have completed overseas offerings and listings.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Overseas Listing Trial Measures.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board is of the view that funds shall be retained at present to satisfy the
requirements of the Group’s high-quality business development and operations,
and it resolved not to recommend payment of any final dividend for the year
ended 31 August 2025.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitiement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 27 January 2026 (record date), the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 22 January 2026 to Tuesday, 27
January 2026, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares
will be registered. In order to be qualified for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 January 2026.
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Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z ¥f) aged 51, is the founder of the Group with a
master’s degree in business administration (MBA) and the qualification of senior
economist. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director of the Company on 8 July 2016. Mr. Li has more than 26 years of
experience in education and is responsible for the overall management and
strategic development of the Group.

The following table sets out the key working experience of Mr. Li:
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& AT B 7%
Period Company Position
19994F £ 20044 53k S
1999 to 2004 Training Station Director
2005F &4 EEEH e
2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman

2016245
2016 to present

hEFSHEERRAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

EFESXE RTES
Chairman of the Board, Executive Director

FHAENR0F1IAEEFTRARBRABESHES
THE2HZEEEE K ZR2010F3 A EEF
ERNAEHEETR SR WN2018F 28 & &
FEAREANEEFFTZE2BRARRERREREK -
FRAEERARMAS (BR)HRAAEER F
Riremesler URTEBERTHEZY
EIIEE-

T ER2009F10 A RS m RE B EK - TR AE
R2010F6AEFEERASLERINEEBELS

fif

Mr. Li was elected as a member of the 14th session of the National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2023. He was
elected as the first vice chairman of The China Association for Non-Government
Education in March 2010, and a member of the Thirteenth National People’s
Congress of People’s Republic of China in February 2018. He is currently the
vice chairman of the Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science, the
vice chairman of The China Association for Non-Government Education and the
managing director of The Chinese Society for Technical and Vocational Education.

Mr. Li obtained the qualification as a senior economist in October 2009. Mr.
Li was awarded a master’s degree in business administration from Nankai
University (B3 7 X 22), the PRC, in June 2010.
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Mr. Zhao Shuai (8 BP), aged 45, joined the Group in April 2004, and was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive
Director on 19 August 2016. Mr. Zhao has more than 20 years of experience
in education and is responsible for setting annual operational targets and daily
management.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Zhao:

B N B
Period Company Position
200444 5 200848 A EEER BEEHE

April 2004 to August 2008 Yunnan School

20089 H £2014F3 A
September 2008 to March 2014

EEER
Yunnan School

201454 H 20154 A
April 2014 to April 2015

TEEE
Yun Ai Group

20155 £2016F3 A
May 2015 to March 2016

IS

Guizhou School

2016F3A =5 TERE
March 2016 to present Yun Ai Group

2016F =5
2016 to present

PRI EHEEER AR
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Student recruitment director

gkt &
Associate dean

TR AR A I8

General manager of administration department
HITh &

Executive dean

=R ABE
Senior president

BREATERNTES

Chief executive officer and executive Director
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Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as a senior economist in December 2013. He
was awarded a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering Automation from
Kunming University of Science and Technology (£ BFI2 I A2, the PRC, in
July 2004, and a master’s degree in software engineering at Jilin University (&
AR E) in June 2017.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (FR £ &), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 August 2019, and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 10 December 2024. He served in the Yunnan Provincial Committee of
CPPCC (2R & B Z &) during 2013 to 2018, served as the vice chairman
of the Yunnan Province Youth United Association (EF & 5 4 € 8 X /%)
from 2010 to 2018 as well as the chairman founder of the Hongkong-Yunnan-
Macau-Taiwan Youth Exchange Association (E/& R & FEZRIEEE) in
2010. He is currently the life honorary chairman of The Y. Elites Association
EBEEEKEZLETE), the vice president of the Yunnan Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association (5,8 /M :E 2 2] € &), a member of the
Standing Committee of the CPPCC Yunnan Province (E & 1 % %) and
the president of the Association of Hong Kong and Macau Members of CPPCC
In Yunnan Province Ltd (EFM& B HERZ S E® 2 R). He holds a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from Jinan University (22 & A £2) o
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (BB 1{&{5), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 March 2017. Mr. Kwong has more
than 10 years of experience in corporate finance and equity capital markets in
Asia. Mr. Kwong is currently an executive director of China Metal Resources
Utilization Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1636),
in charge of its corporate and strategic development. He has also been an
independent non-executive director of Shunfeng International Clean Energy
Limited (stock code: 1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1028) since 26 August 2011, Huicheng International
Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Qutfitters Holdings Limited, stock
code: 1146) since 8 June 2011 and East Buy Holding Limited (formerly known as
Koolearn Technology Holding Limited, stock code: 1797) since 15 March 2019,
each of which has been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since
13 July 2011, 23 September 2011, 9 December 2011 and 28 March 2019,
respectively. Mr. Kwong was the president of Gushan Environmental Energy
Limited, a company whose American depositary shares were listed on the New
York Stock Exchange, from December 2007 to October 2012. Prior to joining
Gushan Environmental Energy Limited in 2006, he was the managing director
of investment banking and he held the position as the head of Hong Kong and
China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital Markets Limited from March
2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong was a director from 2002 to 2003, and the
general manager of the corporate finance department from 1997 to 2003 for
Cazenove Asia Limited. After graduating from University of Cambridge, England
with a bachelor’s degree in Arts in 1987, he qualified as a chartered accountant
in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an associate member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (& F #£), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 August 2019. Dr. Pang received his master’s
degree in business administration from University of Western Sydney in 1999.
He also obtained a degree of doctor of philosophy in business administration
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2010 as well as a post-
doctorate from University of Oxford in 2015. He is a fellow of CPA Australia,
and a fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia, and a member of
the expert committee of the task group of “Financial Regulation and Financial
Reform and Development Strategy” in the Institute of Finance of the Development
Research Center of the State Council (B 7Pz 3 & 138 2 0 & RAAF 55 FIT
[PHETESHNPHRIUMI REHEAZEREZEF), and has been
a council member of the Guangdong Council for Investment and Development
(Foshan, Guangdong) (ER &R EEBREEZ (EE L)) since 2017.
Dr. Pang has over 30 years of experience in banking, financial and consulting
industry and has served in senior management positions in various renowned
financial institutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was the head of the settlement
department of Dresdner Bank (Hong Kong). From 1998 to 2003, he worked in
the department of capital operation and business management in Northeast
Asia region of the Standard Chartered Bank. From 2003 to 2005, he served as
the senior manager in BearingPoint Management Consulting (formerly KPMG
Management Consulting) (Beijing). He was the head of operation design and
development department of Dah Sing Financial Group (Hong Kong) from 2005
to 2006. From 2006 to 2014, he served as the consulting partner of global
financial market in China in Deloitte Management Consulting (Beijing). He then
served as leading partner of financial business in China for Roland Berger
Strategic Consulting (Beijing) from 2014 to 2016. He was the external senior
advisor to Zhangjiakou Financial Holding Group (Beijing, Zhangjiakou) from 2016
to 2018. He served as an independent director at Metropolitan Bank (China) from
2017 to 2018, and was re-invited to the board of directors by the bank as an
independent director starting from 2020 to 2025, where he chaired its Related
Party Transactions Control Committee and Risk Management Committee. During
late 2018, he was also the general manager of the group risk management
department of Citic Bank (International). He was the partner, head of financial
industry consulting and investment services in China and head of Beijing office of
YCP Solidiance Strategy and Management Consultant from October 2019 to June
2020. He is the founder and currently a director of Liquid Gold Development
Strategy Co., Ltd. (F& 1 3% & 3% & /5 BR 2 7). Dr. Pang has been appointed as
an independent director of Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (China) Limited
since 1 January 2023, and is currently chairing its audit committee.
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Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (£ =), aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 December 2024. Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor’s
Degree of Business Administration with High Distinction from the University of
Michigan in the United States. She completed the Global Directorship Program
jointly organized by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the University of
Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership.

Ms. Wong has more than 20 years of experience in finance and corporate
management, and has served as a member of senior management in several
prominent companies. She was the chief executive director of PURE Group in
2024 and was responsible for overseeing day-to-day operations and formulating
strategy to drive business growth. Prior to joining PURE Group, from 2021 to
2023, she was the chief strategy officer, chief investment officer and executive
director of EC Healthcare, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2138), where she was responsible for the company’s acquisitions and corporate
strategy, as well as the implementation of environmental, social and governance
strategies. From 2014 to 2021, Ms. Wong was promoted from deputy chief
executive officer to chief executive officer and executive director of Champion
REIT, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2778), formulating
the company’s strategic direction and supervising daily operations. She held
investment banking positions at leading global financial institutions including
Citibank (2006-2014) and J.P. Morgan (2003-2006), where she provided
strategic advices to listed companies, and executed numerous landmark
initial public offerings, capital market fund-raising and merger and acquisition
transactions.

Ms. Wong’s outstanding leadership skills have been widely recognized and she
has won multiple accolades from various renowned organizations, including:
Distinguished Sustainability Leadership Award from Hong Kong Management
Association (2021), the Best CEO from Asset ESG Corporate Awards (2020),
Asia’s Best CEQ from Corporate Governance Asia (for four consecutive years
from 2017 to 2020), Directors Of The Year Awards — Executive Director of a
Listed Company from Hong Kong Institute of Directors (2018), Best Investor
Relations by CEO from Hong Kong Investor Relations Association (for five
consecutive years from 2017 to 2021) and many other awards. She served as
the chairperson of the Hong Kong Chapter Board of the Asia Pacific Real Asset
Association from 2018 to 2021. She is also a fellow of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu Xiaogiang (& /) 38), aged 46, joined the Group as a senior vice
president in November 2020. He has more than 10 years of experience in
the education industry as well as strong experience in administration and
management in listed companies. He has been the vice chairman and the
secretary general of the Higher Education Professional Committee of The China
Association for Non-Government Education since January 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from April 2019 to November 2020, Mr. Xu served
as a director and vice executive general manager of Dalian My Gym Education
Technology Co., Ltd. (KiEZE&H W E BHEZ IR 5 AR A 7)) (formerly known
as Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. X8 = 2 23 i% 15 B BR 2 7)) (stock
code: 002621.S7). From November 2017 to January 2019, he served as a vice
general manager of Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. (K& = & # 25 i% {5
B R AR (stock code: 002621.SZ) and served as a director and vice executive
general manager from January 2019 to April 2019.

From June 2004 to September 2017, he worked in the Department of
Development Planning of the Ministry of Education of the PRC.

Mr. Xu graduated from Zhejiang University in July 2001 with a bachelor’s
degree in Engineering Mechanics, and he received a master’'s degree in Fluid
Mechanics from Zhejiang University in April 2004. He obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) degree in the School of Economics
and Management in Tsinghua University in 2024.

Mr. Qin Hongkang (% 7% &), aged 49, joined the Group in December 2004,
and was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Qin:

AR NG| e 7%
Period Company Position
19994F7 A 22004512 8 BRI ttefELE EEFERMEHEES

July 1999 to December 2004

B SR
Yunnan School

2004412 A 2009411 A
December 2004 to November 2009

BN

Guizhou School

2009412 A £20139F 128
December 2009 to December 2013

2013F12AEH S
December 2013 to present

ZEEE
Yun Ai Group

20165F8 A E S
August 2016 to present

Dianchi Morning News Agency

REFSHEEARRAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Reporter of social news, director of important news
and economic news

Blft &
Associate dean

Witk &
Executive dean

Bl
Vice president

Bl
Vice president

ROAEER2008FIA N M ER P RBBIEZ S
CESEMER - KM F7TAEPEHZEm A
HERERLBELE-

Mr. Qin obtained the qualification as a lecturer from Intermediate Title Evaluation
Committee* (FF AR B 7 5F 3£ & B €) of Software College in September 2008.
He was awarded a bachelor’s degree in applied chemistry from Yunnan University
(2R KX &), the PRC, in July 1999.
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Mr. Zhang Yan (5% %), aged 39, joined the Group in May 2015. He was a vice
president of Yunnan Technology and Business University and was appointed as
a vice president of the Company in December 2023. He has more than 10 years
of experience in the education industry. He also possesses extensive experience
in financial management and administration and holds the certificates of the
Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) and Certified Management
Accountant (CMA) of the United States.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang has obtained the approval under the Hong
Kong Quality Migrant Admission Scheme and worked in Mazars CPA Limited in
Hong Kong engaging in audit work.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shandong Agricultural University (LI 3R 2 % K &)
in October 2010 with a bachelor's degree in accounting and graduated from
University of Southampton in the United Kingdom in December 2011 with a
master’s degree in accounting and finance. He is currently pursuing a Doctor of
Business Administration (DBA) in Management at the University of Wales in the
United Kingdom.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (& £ 1), was appointed as a joint company secretary on
19 August 2016 and became the company secretary on 23 March 2018. She
has over 20 years of experience in providing company secretarial services in
Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, which is a corporate service provider, and is responsible
for assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work. Prior
to joining SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked
in a corporate service provider and the company secretarial department of an
international accounting firm. Ms. Wong is an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operations of Yunnan School, Guizhou
School, Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang School, Guangxi
Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School. The analysis of the principal
activities is set out in the note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE
OUTLOOK

The business review and future outlook of the Group for the year ended
31 August 2025 is stated in the sections of “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”. The description of principal risks and
uncertainties exposed to the Group is stated in the section of the “Principal
Risks and Responses” in Corporate Governance Report. The details of significant
events subsequent to the end of the financial year, which would affect the Group,
and discussion on future business developments of the Group are set out in the
sections of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this annual report. The “Financial Summary” on pages 216 to 217 of this
annual report sets out the analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
key financial performance indicators. The aforementioned contents form parts of
this Report of Directors.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report which sets out the
Group’s environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant laws
and regulations and the discussion on the relationship between the Group and
students, employees, suppliers and other stakeholders will be published on the
even date of the publication of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 115 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 August 2025 are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board is of the view that funds shall be retained at present to satisfy the
requirements of the Group's high-quality business development and operations,
and it resolved not to recommend payment of any final dividend for the year
ended 31 August 2025.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 119 to 120 of this annual report and note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 August 2025, the Company’s reserve available for distribution was
RMB388,129,000 (as at 31 August 2024: RMB408,410,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Shares during the Reporting Period are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB24,565,422.67.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 August 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhao Shuai

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (re-designated from an independent non-executive Director
to an executive Director on 10 December 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until
the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association and the Corporate
Governance Code under the Listing Rules, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office at each annual general meeting, and every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter shall retire by rotation, and shall
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2026 annual general
meeting in accordance with the above requirements. Details of re-election will
be set out in the circular in conjunction to this annual report dispatched to the
Shareholders who request the printed copies and published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2026 annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no
Director or its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the
Companies Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any direct or indirect major transaction, arrangement or contract to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, there was no provision of services
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and no contract of significance was entered
into.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 August 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

() LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

IEEF NN ¥
®E B, Mg BHEEE BABE 2O
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company @
FEREO EfEERES R ERETAIEA 986,076,234 50.01%
Mr. Li @ Interest in a controlled corporation and founder
of a discretionary trust
A EREAA 90,753 0.00%
Zhao Shuai Beneficial owner
et - Notes:
©) [T AR REBAE L] TEZEOE D LE ©) The percentage figures disclosed under “Approximate percentage of shareholding in
F YR $51,971,941,7830% Ak 10 (BN AN 1 B & 220255 the Company” were calculated based on the 1,971,941,783 Shares, being the number
SAIBMBEBRITRNEBB)FTEST - of total issued Shares of the Company as of 31 August 2025.
) Li Family Trust®Li & Yang Settlement/ 1 2= %6 4 ({F 2 Li Family Trust and Li & Yang Settlement are the discretionary trusts established by

BERIA)RUNZRERL - B FTLEEHRE
BRIEL Family TrustfLi & Yang Settlementi¥ & 9
874,505,020 RN FHE R R -FTHRENTEERRE
B E PR LA B ) R A T #E B 111,571,205 A 17
B o o

Mr. Li as the settlor. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the 874,505,029
Shares held by Li Family Trust and Li & Yang Settlement. Mr. Li is also deemed to be
interested in 111,571,205 Shares through his interest in a controlled corporation.
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(1) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

EFEH Yun Ai Group
s B EE R %
#®E B Mg TMEEANSE BHBE D
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
AN REHEEE R AR ®24,720,5237C 70.8305%
Mr. Li © Interest in a controlled corporation RMB24,720,523 70.8305%

& b alt BT 52 & 9 - 7R20259F8 A31H » BH&E A A A
EETAERTHRAERAER BN AR R KEE
BOEBEMRRG HERMDNEEEFR BHEREE
FREBEEOEGATARRATHETHNER
fpracsr SRR IR R)) BAE AR A &
RETRE I SR B o

ESRERONEEINER

BRAFRAMIDABEEIN RBEEHE A0
AREEMMEARBET IERRHE SESA
BARBAARUTMEMEXRER RO LE
BEMESH D BEMESFHETMAEMBKI8R
ATZFREREFNRBERARA S EMEMDE
BERZEBANEF ZENRE TR AEMEER -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2025, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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MR2025F8A3TE HEEFMAAN ULTAL(ERR
AESEAERTRABRIN HEREEZESLPE
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() RELAROREBROFHEERAR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 August 2025, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than being a Director or chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, are as follows:

() INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Frfs 4~ B I FE

e

Name

B EEEE

Capacity/Nature of interest

BRHEBEE

Number of Shares ™

BB DO
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company @

IQ EQ Trustees (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. @
IQ EQ Trustees (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.®

Lendit Holdings Limited @
Lendit Holdings Limited @

Elm Pacific Holdings Limited @
Elm Pacific Holdings Limited @

Sunnyland Ventures Limited @
Sunnyland Ventures Limited @

ESMNEEEBEEEARLQAY
Greenwoods Asset Management
Hong Kong Limited ©

Invest Partner Group Limited ©
Invest Partner Group Limited ©

i SR B
UBS Group AG ¥

ZFEA
Trustee

REHEEER
Interest in a controlled corporation

EnEAA
Beneficial owner

EnEAA
Beneficial owner

WEKE
Investment manager

REHEEER
Interest in a controlled corporation

REHEEER
Interest in a controlled corporation

806,579,378 (L)

806,579,378 (L)

668,156,681 (L)

138,422,697 (L)

127,196,143 (1)

127,196,143 (1)

110,919,430 (1)

40.9%

40.9%

33.9%

7.0%

6.45%

6.45%

5.62%
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(2) Elm Pacific Holdings Limited &2Sunnyland Ventures Limited
% Bl fLendit Holdings Limited¥ & 99%F1100%H f%
1% + TLendit Holdings LimitedfR1Q EQ Trustees (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. (Li Family Trustf) 2 5E A ) 2 & A ° Li Family
TrustE B FEE (IERZEFRA)R LN EHET-
A It R IR F 5 M HE 1§51 - Lendit Holdings Limited
IQ EQ Trustees (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.#1% A& EIm Pacific
Holdings Limited &z Sunnyland Ventures Limited3 5 & £
806,579,378A% A& 17 F 4k A5 1 25 o

(3) Golden China Master Fund }2 Greenwoods China Alpha Master
FNdE EBRSMEEEREBARLAR (ERERE
453 - flnvest Partner Group Limited 100%%E & )100%#%
fi% o (A 1H; » Invest Partner Group Limited & & & & & 12
BEEARAFSEREZFRBERIEE LR
Golden China Master Fund }2 Greenwoods China Alpha Master
Fundfiis B IR PR 1% -

(4) UBS AGX2UBS Switzerland AGS F ¥ 55 5 E100%1% B o
H it RBFH REBE GO - IR & E 5% A RNUBS
AG K UBS Switzerland AGFT 15 i {0 AR #E B #E 25 ©

Notes:
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The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

The percentage figures disclosed under “Approximate percentage of shareholding in
the Company” were calculated based on the 1,971,941,783 Shares, being the number
of total issued Shares of the Company as of 31 August 2025.

EIm Pacific Holdings Limited and Sunnyland Ventures Limited is owned as to 99% and
100% respectively by Lendit Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by 1Q EQ
Trustees (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (the trustee of the Li Family Trust). The Li Family Trust
is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Li (as the settlor). Therefore, each of Lendit
Holdings Limited and I1Q EQ Trustees (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. is deemed under the SFO to
be interested in the total number of 806,579,378 Shares held by Elm Pacific Holdings
Limited and Sunnyland Ventures Limited.

Each of Golden China Master Fund and Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund is 100%
controlled by Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as the investment
manager which is in turn 100% owned by Invest Partner Group Limited. Therefore,
each of Invest Partner Group Limited and Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Golden China Master Fund
and Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund under the SFO.

Each of UBS AG and UBS Switzerland AG is 100% controlled by UBS Group AG.
Therefore, UBS Group AG is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by UBS AG and
UBS Switzerland AG under the SFO.

(I REBEIENIFRE () LONG POSITIONS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
FREEEEEKRE
#®E B HEmHtE TMEEANSE BHBE DL
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group

EHEE

EmlEAA

Songming Dexue Beneficial owner

PEEHE EmHEEA
Pai Dui Pai Beneficial owner

AR #04,720,5237T 70.8305%
RMB24,720,523 70.8305%

AR #7,000,0007T 20.0568%
RMB7,000,000 20.0568%

M F X FTHR 5 & I 7R20255F8 A31H » = F I A 41
FBHEEMALZ (WIHFESEIARAEEITHRAR)
RN AAREEROPEEREEZESLEE
1EDIEXVERFE 2R FIN AT HEEN AR -
AR B H N E 0 F33615 BB B R & IEFTiE

% 50 9 A HE & E

NN
KB o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2025, the Directors were not aware of
any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 August 2025, none of the Controlling Shareholders had any other
interests in any business which is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

The Controlling Shareholders entered into the Deed of Non-competition
on 20 March 2017 in favor of the Company. For the details of the Deed of
Non-competition, please refer to the Prospectus and previous annual reports of
the Company.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders
confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-competition during the
Reporting Period for disclosure in this annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the declarations
made by the Controlling Shareholders, confirmed and noted that (a) the
Controlling Shareholders declared that they had fully complied with the Deed
of Non-competition throughout the Reporting Period; and (b) no new competing
business was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the Reporting
Period. The independent non-executive Directors were satisfied that the terms
of the Deed of Non-competition had been duly complied with and enforced
throughout the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interests in any business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
following transactions carried out by the Group and the connected persons of
the Company constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A.

BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW

As the PRC laws and regulations generally restrict foreign ownership
involving in the private education industry in the PRC, we currently
conduct our private higher education business, secondary vocational
education business and senior secondary education business through the
PRC Operating Schools in the PRC. The PRC laws and regulations currently
restrict the operation of higher education institutions, secondary vocational
education business and senior secondary education business under
Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing qualification
requirements on the foreign owners. We do not hold any sponsor’s interest
in the PRC Operating Schools. The Structured Contracts, through which
we obtain control over and derive the economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools, have been narrowly tailored to achieve our business
purpose and minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations. We had entered into the Structured Contracts for the PRC
Operating Schools and expect to enter into structured contracts for the
schools to be newly established or invested in, the terms and conditions
of which shall be the same as the Structured Contracts in all material
aspects.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10
December 2018, 11 January 2019 and 26 August 2019, respectively,
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company, entered into various
agreements that constitute the Existing Structured Contracts with, among
others, the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School
Sponsors, under which all economic benefits arising from the business of
the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School Sponsors held
directly or indirectly by Yun Ai Group are transferred to Huihuang Company
to the extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means
of service fees payable by the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the
Existing School Sponsors to Huihuang Company. Although the Registered
Shareholders are not consolidated as part of the Group, they are parties
to certain agreements which constitute the Structured Contracts to ensure
that the shareholders’ rights of Yun Ai Group are actually controlled by
Huihuang Company.

The existing Structured Contracts were amended due to the equity transfer
agreements entered into between certain then Registered Shareholders
and Songming Dexue on 26 August 2019 and 6 December 2019. The
existing Structured Contracts were terminated and a series of agreements
comprising the new Structured Contracts were entered into between New
Registered Shareholders, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
Huihuang Company and Yun Ai Group. The terms and conditions of the
new Structured Contracts are substantially the same as those under the
existing Structured Contracts. The new Structured Contracts were further
amended by various supplemental agreements due to the acquisition
of interest in new schools by the Group on 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020,
27 August 2020, 4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28
September 2021 and 19 November 2021, respectively.
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The Company

Please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the
Prospectus, as well as the announcements of the Company dated 8
October 2018, 10 December 2018, 11 January 2019, 26 August 2019,
6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020, 27 August 2020, 4
February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28 September 2021 and 19
November 2021 for details.

In view of the Group’s business planning in shifting the provision of
consulting services which was originally by Huihuang Company to
Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming, on 20 December
2024, the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024) and the Exclusive
Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement (2024) were
entered into. The terms and conditions of the Business Cooperation
Agreement (2024) and the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2024) are substantially the same as the Business
Cooperation Agreement (2019) and the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement (2019). The Structured Contracts
were further amended by a supplemental agreement entered into on 20
December 2024. With effect from 20 December 2024, Huihuang Company
ceased to provide any consulting services under the Business Cooperation
Agreement (2019) and the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2019) and such services are provided by
Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group
stipulated under the Structured Contracts currently in force as at the date
of this annual report:
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1) Payment of service fees.
(2) Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.

(3) Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the school sponsors’ interest in the PRC
Operating Schools and all or part of equity interest in the School Sponsors.

(4) Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by the School
Sponsors.

(5) Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
Operating Schools including directors’ powers of attorney.

(6) Entrustment of Shareholders’ right including Shareholders’ power of attorney.
(7) Pledge of their equity interest in Yun Ai Group by the Registered Shareholders.
(8) Provision of loans by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group.

9) According to PRC laws and regulations, entities and individuals who establish private
schools are commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead of “owners” or
“shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, no regulatory authority has interfered
or prevented us from adopting the new structured contracts as planned,
and the consolidated financial results of the PRC Operating Schools
engaged in higher education services have been consolidated into the
results of the Group.

SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL TERMS OF THE NEW STRUCTURED
CONTRACTS

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the
Structured Contracts currently in force as at the date of this annual report
is set out below.

(1)  Business Cooperation Agreement (2024)

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024), Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming shall provide
technical services, management support and consulting services
required for the private education business, and the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall pay the corresponding fees
accordingly.
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To ensure the due performance of the New Structured Contracts,
each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to
comply with, and procure any of its subsidiaries to comply with, and
the New Registered Shareholders agreed to procure the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to comply with the obligations
as prescribed under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024)
set forth as follows:

(@)

(@)

to carry out its private education operations in a prudent
and efficient manner in accordance with proper financial and
business standards while maintaining the asset value of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the quality
and standard of private education;

to prepare school development plans and annual working
plans in accordance with the instructions of Shenzhen Yuanqi,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming;

to carry out its private education activities and other relevant
business under the assistance of Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming;

to carry out and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations,
advice, principles and other instructions of Shenzhen Yuangi,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming;

to execute and act upon the recommendations of Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming in terms of
employment and removal of senior management and staff;

to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming in relation to
their respective strategic development; and

to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain
its relevant requisite licenses.

In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2024),

(@)

Mr. Li undertakes to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming that, in the event of death, loss of or
restriction on capacity, divorce or other circumstances which
may affect the exercise of his direct or indirect equity interest
in the New Registered Shareholders, he shall have made all
necessary arrangements and sign all necessary documents
such that his successor, guardian, spouse, and any other
person which may as a result of the above events obtain the
equity interest or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder
the enforcement of the new Structured Contracts;
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the New Registered Shareholders undertake to Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming that, in the
event of a merger and subdivision of the New Registered
Shareholders, any application for winding up, liquidation,
winding up restructuring or bankruptcy settlement by the
New Registered Shareholders or a third party, dissolution
and liquidation of the New Registered Shareholders pursuant
to an order, application for involuntary dissolution of the
New Registered Shareholders or for other reasons, or
other circumstances which may affect the New Registered
Shareholders in exercising their direct or indirect interest
in Yun Ai Group, they shall have made all necessary
arrangements and sign all necessary documents such that
the successor, administrator, liquidation committee and any
other person which may as a result of the above events
obtain the direct or indirect interest or relevant rights in Yun
Ai Group shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement of the
new Structured Contracts;

the New Registered Shareholders undertake that, in the
event of the dissolution or liquidation of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming shall have the right to
exercise all school sponsor’s interests/shareholders’ rights
on the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except
for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) on behalf of the
Existing School Sponsors; (ii) Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and/or Existing School Sponsors and/or the
shareholders or sponsors of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities shall transfer all assets received or
receivable in their capacity as school sponsor of each of
the Existing PRC Operating Schools/as shareholders of each
of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except
for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as a result of the
dissolution or liquidation of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming or other persons designated by us
at nil consideration, and instruct all of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to transfer such assets
directly to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming before such dissolution or liquidation; (iii) if
consideration is required for such transfer under the then
applicable PRC laws, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and/or the shareholders or sponsors of the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall compensate
Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming or
the person as designated by us the amount and guarantee
that Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming
or other persons as designated by us do not suffer any loss;
and
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(d)  the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed
that, without the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yuanqi,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming, the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not declare or pay to the
New Registered Shareholders any school-running balances
(HHERLEER) or other interest or benefit. In the event that
the New Registered Shareholders receive any school-running
balances or other interest or benefit, the New Registered
Shareholders shall unconditionally and without compensation
transfer such amount to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming.

Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement (2024)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2024), Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming agreed to provide exclusive technical services
to the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, including but
not limited to, (a) design, development, update and maintenance of
software for computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development,
update and maintenance of webpages and websites necessary for
the education activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities; (c) design, development, update and maintenance of
management information systems necessary for the education
activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (d)
provision of other technical support necessary for the education
activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (e)
provision of technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical
training; (g) engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical
support; and (h) providing other technical services reasonably
requested by the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Furthermore, Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming agreed to provide exclusive management consultancy
services to the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
including but not limited to, (a) design of curriculum; (b)
preparation, selection and/or recommendation of course materials;
(c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment and training support
and services; (d) provision of student recruitment support and
services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f) preparation
of long-term strategic development plans and annual working
plans; (g) development of financial management systems and
recommendation and optimization on annual budget; (h) advising on
design of internal structures and internal management; (i) provision
of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct of market
research; (k) preparation of market development plan; () building of
marketing network; and (m) providing other management technical
services reasonably requested by the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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In consideration of the technical and management consultancy
services provided by Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming, each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities agreed to pay Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming a service fee equal to an agreed percentage of their
respective amount of surplus from operations (after deducting all
costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if required
by the law) and the legally compulsory education development fund
of the respective school (if required by the law)). The compulsory
education development fund is included as statutory surplus reserve
at the Group’s level and retained at schools’ level. Shenzhen Yuangi,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming have the right (but not the
obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference to
the actual services provided and the actual business operations and
needs of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, provided
that any adjusted amount shall not exceed the amount mentioned
above. The Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities do not have
any right to make any such adjustment.

Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019), the New
Registered Shareholders have irrevocably granted Huihuang
Company or its designated purchaser the right to purchase all or
part of the school sponsor’s interest of the Existing School Sponsors
in the Existing PRC Operating Schools and equity interest in the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the Existing
PRC Operating Schools) (“Equity Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by Huihuang Company in respect of the transfer of such
school sponsor’s interest or equity interest upon exercise of the
Equity Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under the
PRC laws and regulations. Huihuang Company or its designated
purchaser shall have the right to purchase such proportion of the
school sponsor’s interest of the Existing PRC Operating Schools
and/or equity interest in the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities (except for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as it
decides at any time.
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School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), the Existing School Sponsors have irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all their
rights as school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools to the extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include,
but are not limited to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors
or council members of the schools; (b) the right to appoint and/
or elect supervisors of the schools; (c) the right to understand the
operation and financial situation of the schools; (d) the right to
review the resolutions and records of the board of directors and
financial statements and reports of the schools; (e) the right to
obtain school-running balances as school sponsor of the schools
in accordance with the laws and the articles of association of each
school; (f) the right to acquire residue assets upon liquidation of the
schools in accordance with the laws and the articles of association
of each school; (g) the right to transfer school sponsors’ interest
in accordance with the laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of each school as amended from time to time.

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, each of the directors of each school (the “Appointees”)
has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to
exercise all his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools as appointed by the Existing School Sponsors and to the
extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include, but are not
limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of the board of directors
as representatives of the directors appointed by the Existing School
Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all
matters discussed and resolved at the board meeting of each of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools; (c) the right to propose to convene
interim board meetings of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions
and other legal documents which the directors appointed by the
Existing School Sponsors have authority to sign in their capacity
as directors of the Existing PRC Operating Schools; (e) the right
to instruct the legal representative and financial and business
responsible persons of the Existing PRC Operating Schools to act
in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (f) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors as
prescribed under the articles of association of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools; (g) the right to handle the legal procedures of
registration, approval and licensing of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools, as the case may be at the education department,
the department of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (h) other directors’ rights pursuant to applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools as amended from time to time.
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School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
executed by the Existing School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
Company, the Existing School Sponsors authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company (none of whom is a director of any of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and therefore does not
give rise to any conflicts of interest), as their agent to act on their
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all their rights as
school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. The Existing School Sponsors irrevocably agreed
that the authorization appointment in the School Sponsor’s Powers
of Attorney shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of the Existing School Sponsors’ subdivision,
merger, winding up, consolidation, liquidation or other similar
events. The School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsors’ and
Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed by
each of the Appointees in favor of Huihuang Company, each of the
Appointees authorized and appointed Huihuang Company (none of
whom is a director of any of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and therefore does not give rise to any conflicts of interest),
as his/her agent to act on his/her behalf to exercise or delegate
the exercise of all of his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. Each of the Appointees irrevocably agreed that
the authorization appointment in the Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity,
death or other similar events. The Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School
Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise
all of his/their respective rights as shareholders of the Existing
School Sponsors (together, “the Relevant Subsidiaries”) to the
extent permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are
not limited to: (a) the right to attend shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (b) the right to exercise
voting rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at
the shareholders’ meeting of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (c) the right to appoint directors or legal representative
of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (d) the right to
propose to convene extraordinary shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (e) the right to sign all
shareholders’ resolutions and other legal documents which the New
Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group have authority to sign in
his or their capacity as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (f) the right to instruct the directors and legal
representatives of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be
to act in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company;
(9) the right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of
shareholders as prescribed under the articles of association of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (h) the right to handle
the legal procedures of registration, approval and licensing of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be at the department for
market regulation or other government regulatory departments;
and (i) other shareholders’ rights pursuant to the applicable PRC
laws and regulations and the articles of association of the Relevant
Subsidiaries as amended from time to time.

In addition, each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue
has irrevocably agreed that (i) Huihuang Company may delegate
its rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019) to the directors of Huihuang Company or its designated
person, without prior notice to or approval by the New Registered
Shareholders and Yun Ai Group; and (ii) any person as successor
of civil rights of Huihuang Company or liquidator by reason of
subdivision, merger, liquidation of Huihuang Company or other
circumstances shall have authority to replace Huihuang Company
to exercise all rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019).
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Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed
by each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue in favor
of Huihuang Company, each of them authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company, as his or their agent to act on his or their
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all his or their rights
as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to its directors or other designated person. Each
of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue irrevocably agreed that the
authorization appointment in the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Spouse Undertakings (2019)

Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings (2019), the spouse of Mr. Li
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)  the spouse has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the New Structured Contracts by Mr. Li,
and in particular, the arrangement as set out in the New
Structured Contracts in relation to the restrictions imposed on
the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge
or transfer the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group, or the disposal of the direct or indirect equity interest
in Yun Ai Group in any other forms;

(b)  the spouse has not participated, is not participating and shall
not in the future participate in the operation, management,
liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

(c)  the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized person to
execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the
spouse in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in Yun Ai
Group (direct or indirect) in order to safeguard the interest
of Huihuang Company under the New Structured Contracts
and give effect to the fundamental purposes thereunder, and
confirms and agrees to all such documents and procedures;
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(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar events
relating to the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group;

(e)  any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the spouse, divorce
or other similar events;

() all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall continue to be
valid and binding until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing; and

(@  The Spouse Undertakings shall have the same term as and
incorporate the terms of the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019).

Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), each of the New
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged
and granted first priority security interests over all of its equity
interest in Yun Ai Group together with all related rights thereto
to Huihuang Company as security for performance of the New
Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect or consequential
damages and foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huihuang
Company as a result of any event of default on the part of the New
Registered Shareholders or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and all expenses incurred by Huihuang Company
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of the New Registered
Shareholders and/or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities under the New Structured Contracts (the “Secured
Indebtedness”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), without the
prior written consent of Huihuang Company, the New Registered
Shareholders shall not transfer the equity interest or create further
pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any
unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any
transfer of the equity interest shall be first used in the payment
of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited to such third party as
agreed to by Huihuang Company. The New Registered Shareholders
also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed
to any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the Equity Pledge
Agreement (2019).

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019) and the
First Supplemental Agreement to the New Structured Contracts
were registered with the relevant department for market regulation
of the PRC on 2 September 2019 and 2 January 2020 and became
effective on the same date of the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company
agreed to provide interest-free loans to Yun Ai Group in accordance
with the PRC laws and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed to
utilize the proceeds of such loans to contribute as capital of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools in its capacity as school sponsor
or the shareholder of the school sponsors in accordance with our
instructions. Both parties agreed that all such capital contribution
will be directly settled by Huihuang Company on behalf of Yun Ai
Group.

The term of the Loan Agreement (2019) shall continue until all
interests of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are
transferred to Huihuang Company or its designee and/or the
Company or designee of the Company and the registration process
required thereafter has been completed with the relevant local
authorities.

Each loan to be granted under the Loan Agreement (2019) will
be for an infinite term until termination at the sole discretion
of Huihuang Company. The loan will become due and payable
upon Huihuang Company’s demand under any of the following
circumstances: (i) a bankruptcy application, bankruptcy
reorganization or bankruptcy settlement has been filed by or
against Yun Ai Group, (i) a winding-up or liquidation application has
been filed by or against Yun Ai Group, (i) Yun Ai Group becomes
insolvent or incurs any other significant personal debt which may
affect its ability to repay the loan under the Loan Agreement (2019),
(iv) Huihuang Company or its designee exercises in full its option
to purchase all interests of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations, or (v)
any of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities commits any
breach of any obligations under the New Structured Contracts, or
any warranties provided by any of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities under the New Structured Contracts is proved
incorrect or inaccurate. As advised by the PRC Legal Advisors,
interest-free loans granted by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group
are not in violation of the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT £ 69



70

EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

TREBESERRERENRENERED

AEBNTFREABMBEBSETHEMN
MEBER FERBER RIEER BHBERE
AER HREERLBMER REZTEHN
ERENENEMERANEBREEB L
Ai’J(Z&Tﬁ%f AR EENRERER
f&%IETﬁE%E%%&aHE%%%W/E@J
Fﬁ*ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬂ#%iﬁﬁhéT % 2 ]

= g

TRAEHEERUAKRENEZMRYHK
Bk

BREFEBESHOREHFRANZ MR
FOAEERNGHELEERLERENE
BT WP ESEBENE - TR
EEEERLRERBPNEHAEENVESE
&t -

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE PRC OPERATING SCHOOLS AND THE
SCHOOL SPONSORS

The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Group are Yunnan School,
Guizhou School, Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang
School, Guangxi Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School, their
respective school sponsors, and other schools and other investment
holding companies which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of
the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time. Their business
activities are primarily engaged in higher education services. All of the
School Sponsors are investment holding companies.

SIGNIFICANCE AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE PRC
CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED ENTITIES TO THE GROUP

Pursuant to the new Structured Contracts and the various supplemental
agreements in relation thereto, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors. The table below sets out the financial contributions of the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the Group:

HBAKBEMEZEMER

B 7% 8 B to the Group

HEAEENEEZHRBVBER
Significance and financial contributions to the Group
N R E EEAE
Revenue Net profit Total Assets
HZ=2025%F B 220255 20255
BANBLEE B8HALEFE 8A31H
For the year ended For the year ended As of

31 August 2025 31 August 2025 31 August 2025

Significance and financial contributions

100% 117% 97%

TRV RE E2025F8A31H L FEHREE
EERREREWESROOEA : R()E
ERE BHERAREESRESEEBEES
HREEEBNZOHBADEHFAREER
M ®mE:

The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (ii) total assets involved in the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors for the year ended 31
August 2025, which would be consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements pursuant to the New Structural Contracts and the various
supplemental agreements in relation thereto:

PR IEER REREYE  PRC Operation Schools and School Sponsors

ON BE
Revenue Assets
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,599,427 10,768,860
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E. REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

1.

Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2024 Edition) (the “Negative List”), the
provision of higher education in the PRC falls within the “restricted”
category. In particular, the Negative List explicitly restricts higher
education to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the foreign
investor shall be an educational institution and shall operate higher
education in the PRC through cooperation with a PRC educational
institution in compliance with the Sino-Foreign Regulation. In
addition, the Negative List also provides that the domestic party
shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or chief executive officer of the school shall
be a PRC national; and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than half of the total members
of the board of directors, the council or the joint administration
committee of the Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution
(the “Foreign Control Restriction”). We had fully complied with the
Foreign Control Restriction in respect of the PRC Operating Schools
on the basis that (a) the principals and the chief executive officers
of the aforementioned schools are all PRC nationals; and (b) all the
members of the board of directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant
to the Sino-Foreign Regulation and its Implementation Regulations,
if we were to apply for any of the schools to be reorganized as
a Sino-foreign joint venture private school for PRC students (a
“Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School”), the foreign
investor in the Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School must be a
foreign educational institution with relevant qualification and high
quality education (the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore,
pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of
the total investment in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School
should be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”)
and the establishment of these schools is subject to approval of
education authorities at the provincial or national level.

Our PRC Legal Advisors have advised that as at the date of this
annual report, there are no implementing measures or specific
guidance on the Qualification Requirement in accordance with
the existing PRC laws and regulations and therefore it is currently
uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign
investor (such as length of experience required and form and extent
of ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to
the relevant educational authority that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Accordingly, as a matter of policy, due to the lack of
implementing measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations, including the
Qualification Requirement, the relevant education authorities will not
accept an application to convert the PRC Operating Schools or the
schools to be newly established or invested by us into Sino-Foreign
Joint Venture Private Schools.
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2. Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign Joint Venture Private School
must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).
Foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign Joint
Venture Private School should be below 50% and the establishment
of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities
at the provincial or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement. We have adopted a
specific plan and taken concrete steps which the Company believes
are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate compliance with the
Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’s PRC Legal Advisors, there have
been no updates to the implementation rules in relation to the
Qualification Requirement since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.

Please also refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts”
in the Prospectus and the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2018 for the Group’s efforts and actions undertaken to
comply with the Qualification Requirement. As at the date of this
report, we are still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish
the new school in the State of California.

3. Recent Development

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of
this annual report.

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ARRANGEMENTS AND THE ACTIONS
TAKEN TO MITIGATE THE RISKS

We entered into a series of agreements in which our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Huihuang Company, Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming (as the case may be) receive economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools pursuant to relevant clauses under the
agreements.

Foreign investment in the education industry in China is extensively
regulated and subject to numerous restrictions. We have been and are
expected to continue to be dependent on the new Structured Contracts to
operate our education business.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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If the new Structured Contracts that establish the structure for operating
our China business are found to be in violation of any PRC laws or
regulations in the future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the
MOE, which regulates the education industry, would have broad discretion
in dealing with such violations, including:

revoking the business and operating licenses of our PRC
subsidiaries;

discontinuing or restricting the operations of any related-party
transactions among our PRC subsidiaries;

imposing fines or other requirements with which we or our PRC
subsidiaries may not be able to comply;

requiring us to restructure our operations in such a way as to
compel us to establish new entities, re-apply for the necessary
licenses or relocate our businesses, staff and assets;

imposing additional conditions or requirements with which we may
not be able to comply; or

restricting the use of proceeds from our additional public offering or
financing to finance our business and operations in China.

If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the new Structured
Contracts and our compliance with the new Structured Contracts:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with
the new Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance
with the new Structured Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance of and
compliance with the new Structured Contracts in its annual reports
and interim reports to update the Shareholders and potential
investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the new Structured Contracts, review the
legal compliance of Huihuang Company and the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the new Structured Contracts.
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In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director, Mr. Li is also the
sole shareholder of Songming Dexue, we believe that our Directors are
able to perform their roles in the Group independently and the Group is
capable of managing its business independently after the Listing through
the following measures:

(@  the decision-making mechanism of the Board as set out in the
Articles includes provisions to avoid conflict of interest by providing,
amongst other things, that in the event of conflict of interest in such
contract or arrangement which is material, a Director shall declare
the nature of his or her interest at the earliest meeting of the Board
at which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and if he or she
is to be regarded as having material interest in any contracts or
arrangements, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be
counted in the quorum;

(b)  each of our Directors is aware of his or her fiduciary duties as a
Director which requires, amongst other things, that he or she acts
for the benefits and in the best interests of the Group;

(c)  we have appointed three independent non-executive Directors,
comprising over one-third of our Board, to provide a balance of
the number of interested and independent Directors with a view to
promoting the interests of the Company and our Shareholders as a
whole; and

(d)  we will disclose in our announcements, circulars, as well as annual
and interim reports in accordance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules regarding decisions on matters reviewed by our Board
(including independent non-executive Directors) relating to any
business or interest of each Director and his or her associates that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have
with the Group.

MATERIAL CHANGES

On 26 August 2019, pursuant to termination of the Existing Structured
Contracts, a series of agreements comprising of the new Structured
Contracts were entered into between the New Registered Shareholders,
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and Huihuang Company.

On 6 December 2019, a supplemental agreement to the new Structured
Contracts was entered into among Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming
Dexue, Zhongyi Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company,
pursuant to which, among other things, all the rights and obligations
attached to Shanghai Taifu's equity interests in Yun Ai Group will be
transferred to Songming Dexue (the “First Supplemental Agreement”).

On 8 May 2020, Henan Rongyu, Luoyang School, the newly appointed
director of Luoyang School and Beijing Daai Gaoxue entered into a
supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, the then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the
Group’s further acquisition of interest in the Luoyang School (the “Second
Supplemental Agreement”).

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT



R2020F7A29H - REB A -SHME - ERA
BREREREREREBEQRR ZEEE
B ENTERRITIVUTEBESOBED
HOURMASEBEE - SPREEAER 2 E
F([E=ppExHE]) -

R2020F8A27H EMHEE R STE £
BESRNERERE EAREERRE
HREERNTZTIESTERBERAR EF
EE EREEECREITLTERBEAY
e UWRMEKEZEHREER([EM
EEHmE]) -

MR202162 48 S 2 It R4 HHE R
ARE ERKEREERSEBENEERRIFTL
FEBMEa NN T A REKIEIL R
BEAE Z100%5EE ([ER @ iEmsE] ) -

R202194 8208 L B AR HBBR KL
ERRIEEL HRERFTEERBEAR
EEEEREEEE B RE T S
HEXNNHAEGSE UARBAEEREHS
B 2100% % ([EABBEGE) -

20215250 - REBW A SHME - ERA
ERBEREREAEREEEQR - EFE
ErNEEREENETLRRITITEEESD
MExHheE ARBRASEE - FREER
BERzEFZ([EthExmsE]) -

MR2021F9H288 " EMFT = -k mF = H
(F BN B A ERE P E100%BEEN D
AIREEEENEZENBEAGT) B ER
REMNFRHBIEE 2 BINBRITEEHIE
BAR ZREEREEEEMNELREL]
UFEBEANNEARE URBALEE
U B8 B0 N B R 2 100% i 25 ( [N\ 108 &
&)

PR2021F11 A198 - (e R RILBR KB
SRR EZRIEERFTESHIBEAR
EEEBRETEEMNBECRRILTER
MENNE T RE AR AEBE — I
BRUEER Ex ([ELOBREHE]) -

EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

On 29 July 2020, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the Guangxi Schools
Sponsor and Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental agreement to
the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the
then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the Group’s further acquisition of
interest in the Guangxi Schools (the “Third Supplemental Agreement”).

On 27 August 2020, Songming Gaoxue, Beijing Fangzhi, the school
sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School, Yunnan Vocational School and the
newly appointed director of the Yunnan Vocational School entered into a
supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the acquisition of the Yunnan Vocational School (the “Fourth
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 4 February 2021, Songming Gaoxue and Beijing Lianhe entered into a
supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Beijing Lianhe (the
“Fifth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 20 April 2021, Bei Ai Company, the Gansu School and the newly
appointed directors of the Gansu School designated by Bei Ai Company
entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts
with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders
of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of 100% interest in the
Gansu School (the “Sixth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 25 May 2021, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the Guangxi School
Sponsor, and the Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental agreement
to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group,
and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s
further acquisition of interest in the Guangxi Schools (the “Seventh
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 28 September 2021, Zhengzhou New Higher Education, Beijing New
Higher Education (the company holding 100% equity interest of the school
sponsor of the Zhengzhou School and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun
Ai Group), the Zhengzhou School and the newly appointed directors of
the Zhengzhou School designated by Zhengzhou New Higher Education
entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts
with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders
of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of 100% interest in the
Zhengzhou School (the “Eighth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 19 November 2021, Haxuan Company, the Northeast School and the
newly appointed directors of the Northeast School designated by Haxuan
Company entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured
Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group and the registered
shareholders of Yun Ai Group to reflect the Group’s further acquisition of
interest in the Northeast School (the “Ninth Supplemental Agreement”).
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On 20 December 2024, Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured
Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group and the New Registered
Shareholders to reflect the latest arrangement in the provision of the
consulting services under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024) and
the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement
(2024) (the “Tenth Supplemental Agreement”).

Save as the principal terms of the First Supplemental Agreement, the
Second Supplemental Agreement, the Third Supplemental Agreement, the
Fourth Supplemental Agreement, the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, the
Sixth Supplemental Agreement, the Seventh Supplemental Agreement, the
Eighth Supplemental Agreement, the Ninth Supplemental Agreement and
the Tenth Supplemental Agreement, the clauses of the new Structured
Contracts remained unchanged.

UNWINDING OF THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding
of any Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind
any Structured Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Structured Contracts are removed. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Structured Contracts — Operation of the Structured
Contracts — Termination of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus
and the section headed “Unwinding of the New Structured Contracts” of
the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019. In the event
that the PRC regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control
Restriction are removed (assuming there are no other changes in the
relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huihuang Company will exercise the
Equity Call Option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that
the Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using
the Structured Contracts, as permitted by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations at the relevant time.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
Structured Contracts and confirmed that, during the relevant financial
year:

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal commercial terms; and
(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in accordance with

relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain pre-determined audit
procedures regarding the Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 August 2025
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Structured Contracts, and have been operated so that the profit
generated by the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors
have been substantially retained by the Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts and if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating
Entities and the School Sponsors during the relevant financial period
are fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole; and

(iv)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 August 2025 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed, except for
those described in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this report, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been
complied with.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 March 2017
(“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving the eligible persons an opportunity
to have a stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions.
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PURPOSE

The Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-
going relationships with eligible persons, to facilitate the performance, growth or
success of the Group. In addition, in the case of executives (as defined below),
the Share Option Scheme may enable the Group to attract and retain individuals
with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

ELIGIBLE PERSONS

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director, manager, or other employee
holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any member
of the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or part-
time for any member of the Group (“Employee”); (b) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member of
the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides
design, research, development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group; (g) an associate of
any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person
involved in the business affairs of the Company whom the Board determines to
be appropriate to participate in the Share Option Scheme.

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the
Listing Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares, representing approximately 7.26%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the number of shares subscribed by an
eligible person upon exercise of options, plus the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) granted to such eligible person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue at that date, failing which separate approval of the Shareholders
shall be obtained and such eligible person and his or her close associates (or
his or her associates if such eligible person is a connected person) shall abstain
from voting.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director of the Group (or any of their respective associates) would
result in the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted to him (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other higher percentage as
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares
in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million (or such other higher amount as
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange), such grant
must be first approved in a general meeting.

VESTING AND EXERCISE PERIOD

At any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date, the Group may propose to
the Board, in its absolute discretion, to grant options to any eligible person to
subscribe at the subscription price for (subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme) such number of Shares as determined (provided the same shall be a
board lot for dealing in the Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof).

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine (including
such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise),
there is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which must be achieved by the grantee
before the option can be exercised.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the Adoption Date, after which no further options will be granted or offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in
all other respects. All options granted prior to such expiry and not then exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme, which will
expire on 19 March 2027, is approximately one and a half years from the date
of this annual report.

AMOUNTS PAYABLE FOR APPLICATION OR ACCEPTANCE OF SHARE
OPTIONS

An eligible person can accept an option within 28 days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option, sign the offer letter comprising acceptance of the
option and submit it to the Company, and pay a remittance of HK$1.00 (as the
consideration for the grant of the option) in favor of the Company.
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EXERCISE PRICE

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an option shall
be determined by the Board but shall not be less than whichever is the highest
of:

the nominal value of a Share;

@
(b)  the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and

the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing
Rules) immediately preceding the offer date.

(©

OTHERS

At the beginning and at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company had
5,512,270 and 0 outstanding share options (granted and vested but not yet
exercised), representing 0.36% and 0% of the issued Shares of the Company at
the beginning and at the end of the Reporting Period, respectively.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
was 101,726,200 and 107,238,470 at the beginning and at the end of the
Reporting Period, respectively.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
107,238,470 Shares, representing 5.44% of the issued Shares as at the date of
this report.

There were no share options granted by the Company during the Reporting
Period and therefore the fair value of share options granted was not applicable.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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Details of the movement of share options granted under the Share Option

OIS Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows:
SR ZERLAH R20245 R20255 R20245 R20255
T8 ARHE 9818  AHBE AHBE AHE A48 8A31A 9A1EZ 8A31AZ
SEALER &iti B &0 (B7x) (B7x) e K176 Biti  BAE EE 3 HRTHR KERBRE RAEREBERE
Closing price Unvested Unvested
Exercise immediately share options  share options
price before the  Outstanding at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at as at as at
Category of pershare  date of grant 1 September during during during during 31 August 1 September 31 August
participants Date of grant ) (HKS) (HKS) 2024  the Period the Period the Period the Period 2025 2024 2025
s
Directors
X4 2019F10A21H 311 2.92 122,900 - - - 122,900 - - -
Li Xiaoxuan 21 October 2019
2020%7 A23H 533 522 620,300 - - - 620,300 - - -
23 July 2020
TR 20195107218 311 2.9 72,700 - - - 72,700 - - -
Zhao Shuai 21 October 2019
202057 A23A 533 5.22 148,900 - - - 148,900 - - -
23 July 2020
BEE 2019F10A21A 311 2.92 12,100 - - - 12,100 - - -
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 21 October 2019
20207 A23H 533 522 40,300 - - - 40,300 - - -
23 July 2020
AR 20195107218 3.11 2.9 135,600 - - - 135600 - - -
Pang Tsz Kit Peter 21 October 2019
20207 A238 533 522 33,600 - - - 33,600 - - -
23 July 2020
BLE 2019F10A21A 311 2.92 135,600 - - - 135,600 - - -
Chan Tung Hoi 21 October 2019
20207 A23H 533 522 33,600 - - - 33,600 - - -
23 July 2020
THER 2019F10A21R 3.11 2.92 8,700 - - - 8,700 - - -
Hu Jianbo* 21 October 2019
20206 7A238 533 522 29,800 - - - 29,800 - - -
23 July 2020
BEE 20206 7H238 533 522 350,000 - - - 350,000 - - -
Shen Chunmei*™* 23 July 2020
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SR BERLAH R2024% R20255 R20245F R20255
EE Bl {E 9818 AHE AEB FEE  ABH 8A31A 9A1AZ 8A31AXZ
SRATER R AHo (B7) (A7) ie R AT Biti  EBAE i %% HETE AEBERE RBEEBRE
Closing price Unvested Unvested
Exercise immediately share options  share options
price before the  Outstanding at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at as at as at
Category of pershare  date of grant 1 September during during during during 31 August 1 September 31 August
participants Date of grant (HKS) (HKS) 2024 the Period the Period the Period the Period 2025 2024 2025
&g
Employee
EE(BREEMRZ 2019F10A21A 3N 2.92 1,134,370 - - - 1,134,370 - - -
EHMALING 21 October 2019
HtARA)
Employee (Other grantee 202047 A23R 5.33 5.22 2,108,800 - - - 2,108,800 - - -
excluding Directors 23 July 2020
and five highest paid
individuals)
TEBREMNAL (FEEES) ™ 525,000 - - - 525,000 - - -
Five highest paid individuals (excluding Directors) ***
By 5,512,270 - - - 5512270 - - -
Total

* R2023F4 A5 BT E S

* 20242 A28HETES

*x

= RARSHENLEESTFHALERETRERENT
B RENBERERENL-

Ceased to be a director on 25 April 2023
Resigned as a director on 28 February 2024

The five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period included two existing executive
Directors, whose options are disclosed above.
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Notes:
BR2019F10A2IBREMERENS ZSFEREHE (1) For share options granted on 21 October 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period
BHERITES B EMEE R REE2024F10A208 IF - commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 20 October 2024:
BFEEZ
REAS “RAEW BREBSL
Percentage of
the share options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2020910 H21H 2024F10H20H 30%

21 October 2020

20214108 21H
21 October 2021

2022410H21H
21 October 2022

20 October 2024

2024107201
20 October 2024

30%

2024108 20H
20 October 2024

40%

HERTITER . B BB E B B E202597 5228 It

FAN202057 ABAEHWBREN S ZEBEEERE

2) For share options granted on 23 July 2020, all of them are with the same exercise period

commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 22 July 2025:

BFHEEZ

HFEAH “ERAEH BREFSL

Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

202147 238 2025%7 228 30%
23 July 2021 22 July 2025

202247 238 2025%7 B 228 30%
23 July 2022 22 July 2025

202347 A 236 2025%7 B 228 40%
23 July 2023 22 July 2025

ikt EREGEE M REBENEZEAR  The Share Options granted shall vest to the proposed grantees in accordance

AN BREBZEBREBZTENEEHEEEAN
ERHBEHRAFL-

B EXPTIEEEIN
5% BR B A BH AE ) R A A

BEREAGNARTERRNERE TREBRR

JTRATE
fR 47 # 2 1 =

RS HEABRERDL 76

#E  with the above timetable, each with an exercise period commencing from the

relevant vesting date and ending 5 years after the date of grant.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed, or
cancelled during the Reporting Period.

Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance targets during the relevant exercise period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

BAFERERETE] —HAEREN REZE
202568 A3TALEFE AR A K ETHH B QA
WERT RS R BERAR A EITRG AR
D

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report, during the year ended 31 August 2025, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had entered into any equity-linked agreement that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT &% 83



EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

BRBLFHATESNELML

BBEUFRNTEFWEEMAIRTEELRE LT
HMAFBIBEBLENBERNES BERERBAAR
AleRNHEREAL R I BB R A2
FIEWEIRBYIFRNTESTRIE EHRAE3A3K
ZEEER AARRRBRBEBUIFNTEFTAR
ZEEH/BIAL HECAAJEFERFTEL
BITBEREINEFAEMER YRBEENFR
B AREIIAL e

BE -HEIEEALQF LHES

R IR EHIR - AR 8] R R AT A 2R (B2,507,03078
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RREHRAEREZEAREARELRMOFIBN
T

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each independent non-executive Director should inform our Company as soon
as possible if there is any change of circumstances which may affect his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. No such notification
was received during the Reporting Period. Meanwhile, the Company has received
a written confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each
independent non-executive Director to be independent since his/her appointment
and remain so as of the date of this annual report as they were free from any
business or other relationship which could affect their ability to discharge their
duties independently.

INDEPENDENT

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total of 1,552,000
Shares on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of HK$2,507,030
before expenses, and all Shares repurchased were subsequently cancelled.

Details of the Shares repurchased during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report are as follows:

84

e R4 BRAH BRAAH s

#A BEE REE BRE

Highest Lowest Aggregate

No. of Shares price paid price paid consideration

BE A% Month of repurchase repurchased per Share per Share paid

(&) (B (BT

(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)

20249 A September 2024 1,552,000 1.78 1.52 2,507,030
BEERE ZSHERNRNDBIRESEREEEMEKR,  The Directors believe that such Shares repurchased will increase the net asset

KERBFEREABRREEEER TEARA K

RHEBEREERNZE-
20258 A31H  ARA W EEETREFRD -
B EXXFIEEE N KRB SR E T E R AR R

THHEARERE HEXBELARFEMRER
EmES (BREEXEREFRND)

value per Share and/or earnings per Share and increase the long-term value
to the Shareholders, which is in the best interest of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

As at 31 August 2025, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock
Exchange (including sale or transfer of treasury shares) during the Reporting
Period.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have occurred since
the end of the Reporting Period up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s customers are mainly students. For the year ended 31 August 2025,
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
revenue and none of single customer accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s
revenue.

For the year ended 31 August 2025, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 31.88% of the Group’s total purchases and the Group’s
single largest supplier accounted for approximately 11.84% of the Group’s total
purchases.

As at 31 August 2025, none of the Directors or any of their close associates
or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with employees, suppliers and
customers and understands that maintaining a good relationship with such
stakeholders is critical to the Group’s sustainable development in long term.
During the Reporting Period, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or customers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors or other officers etc. for
the time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts, provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

During the Reporting Period, the Company and its subsidiaries have maintained
director liability insurance to provide the Directors and other officers of the
Company and the Group’s subsidiaries with adequate security.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 August
2025 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT &£ 85



86

EEEHE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

MM E

AEERBEREATRFENEE SEERAEHN
BHNARERFN6ENTEN BB E] Rtk
MEWMEREEZGEATBEREN—G -

RIKK &SRS

ARAERREERMAENFBEAREATH
TRMFEI]T

RIkEE

REAN -AEEETPEAMKLEEBNOMNE R
AMEEASEM T HRAFEFENDREKREF
- ZEMBRAARBEF EHNARFEL RS
RBEKR SRR -BFREETIN AEEAE
TRABHNOEE - HFHRIED KBRS EIR
AR B B RS kR

BEAE-ANEEDZL2ER2000F128 RIEEHE B
HERAESFEGAKL B EAESFE ([’
Bestdl) ZEHEERLAEECEEDF
BEIE - ABUITAAZESN RS E HRESE
EBleREMS AEEAERAESFTEIZEEER
HERONERHN ZEHRFERE 2 HRE—
BH-BAMHFzES B LR ATMIEES,50008
T

AEBHZSTENERNE2EEERES -
It RELE2025F8A3IAEFE ZFFTEE L
B 18 IR M SR AT AR S B A 1R RUIE H IR B R FUK
o LA R FA2025%8 531 B 3 £ 7] B AR08 Ak 3K o

AN EIR K3 W BR

HE2025F8831H EEHEA S £9,922%E 8 (#
Z2024F8A31H IE A£10,080% ) - IRIEFBEE R
ERRT EEARELESERMBIBRNTEEN
EEMHEGRETI RREEEAES BEERK:
EERR EEREB ITERBERXERR -£B
HEEMNITFEARRE RAREHBE AL &LE
FRERBELD -

SEERINEBREASN FBERF AEMHH
FHINBREFMES FHERRERERET
Be AT [ fa iz /7 51 iR e # Bl s 4 - 2 E LR A
Bt EUBE BERXNHEHH R £H
—HEBBEEETRN HERBERMIBEA
EIIEE - TE - EREBERERLNSEE
HY [ B o

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five financial
years is set out on pages 216 to 217 of “Financial Summary” of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in notes 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

PENSION SCHEME

Chinese Mainland — The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Hong Kong — The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong
Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) since December 2000. The assets of the schemes
are held, separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
independent trustees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes
a percentage of 5% of employees’ basic payroll to the MPF Scheme, which is
the same as the employees’ contributions. The maximum monthly amount of
contributions is limited to HK$1,500 per employee.

The Group’s contributions to the schemes are simultaneously and fully vesting
to the employees. Accordingly, there were no forfeited contributions under
the Schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions during the year ended 31 August 2025, and there was no forfeited
contribution available as at 31 August 2025.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 August 2025, the Group had a total of 9,922 employees (10,080 as
of 31 August 2024). As required by the PRC laws and regulations, the Group
participates in various employee social security plans for our employees that are
administered by local governments, including housing fund, pension, medical
insurance, maternity insurance, work injury insurance, and unemployment
insurance. The Group maintains a good working relationship with employees, and
the Group did not experience any material labor disputes during the Reporting
Period.

The Group follows the remuneration policy of “contribution-driven, fair and
competitive in the market” for employees. The remuneration policy is designed
according to the different position sequences of the Group and its schools, and
the salary is determined with reference to the capability, job responsibilities and
contribution of its employees. At the same time, the Group has been actively
cultivating the capabilities of its employees and has been providing external and
internal training programs for employees to build a quality team to meet the
development requirements of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC Environmental
laws and regulations in any material aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of the students. The
Group has on-site medical staff or healthcare personnel at each of the schools,
which are operated by the Group, in order to handle routine medical situations
for students. In case of certain serious and emergency medical situations,
the Group will promptly send the students to the local hospitals for treatment.
With respect to school safety, the Group has engaged a qualified property
management company to provide property security services at the school
premises of the Group.

As far as the Board and the management of the Company are aware, the Group
has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended 31 August 2025, the Company was not engaged in
any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening
against the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 August 2025 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed
and discussed with the management in relation to the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company, the internal controls and financial report
matters, and the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance. The
annual results of the Group have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. There is
no disagreement by the Audit Committee with the accounting treatment adopted
by the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
89 to 109 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares,
the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the year ended 31 August 2025.
The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the 2026 annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as auditor will be proposed at the 2026 annual general meeting.

During the preceding three years, there was no change of the auditor of the
Company.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about the tax effect on the
purchase, holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant
shares of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent experts
for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Li Xiaoxuan
Chairman

China, 28 November 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANC

T of

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance
practices and procedures with a view to being a transparent and responsible
organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board
strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability
of all operations of the Group. The Group believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor in creating more value for its Shareholders. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of
the Group from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for the Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules.

As of 31 August 2025, the Group has three executive Directors (including Mr.
Li) and three independent non-executive Directors, who have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning as well as a fairly strong
independence element in the composition of the Board.

CORPORATE CULTURE

With the mission of “enabling every student to achieve career success and
life fulfillment”, New Higher Education Group adheres to its corporate social
responsibilities, creates value for students, employers, government, faculties,
partners, investors and other stakeholders, advocates the values of “Student-
oriented”, “Contribution-driven” and “Adhering to Long-term Principles”, and
insists on the education philosophy of “Strengthen Moral Education and Cultivate
Talents, Teach Students in Accordance with Their Aptitude, Apply What One Has
Learned”, and is committed to building the most student-oriented university with
a century-long vision.

The Group is committed to promoting corporate culture, disseminating
and driving it from the Board, senior management, middle management,
and employees, in a top-down approach. The Board’s oversight of the
corporate culture encompasses a range of measures and tools, including
employee engagement, talent retention and training, solid financial reporting,
whistleblowing and risk management as well as legal and regulatory compliance,
and staff safety, well-being and support. Taking into account the corporate
culture in a range of contexts, the Board considers that the culture, purpose,
values and strategy of the Group are aligned.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented various initiatives
to promote corporate culture and will continue to monitor and strengthen the
Company’s cultural framework. Details of relevant initiatives are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report and the 2024/2025
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Group adheres to the high-quality development strategy, actively responds
to national policies, and focuses on the strong demand for application-oriented,
technical and skilled talents in national economic and social development. With
building of the Party as the guide, strengthening moral education and cultivating
talents as the fundamental task, serving development as the purpose and high-
quality employment as the orientation, the Group will constantly optimize the
structure of majors and the model of talent cultivation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The overall management of the operations of the Group is vested in the Board.
The Board is responsible for the leadership of the Group and is collectively
responsible for guiding and monitoring the affairs of the Group.

The Board leads and guides the management directly and indirectly through
committees, including formulating overall strategies for the Group’s development
and monitoring their implementation, approving major policy issues, overseeing
and controlling the Group’s operational and financial performance, internal
control and risk management systems, and overseeing the performance of senior
management. The Directors are required to make objective decisions in the
interests of the Company.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration and operations
to the Company’s senior management, and reserves the final approval authority
for major decisions of the Group.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) bring to the
Board extensive and valuable business experience, knowledge and expertise
that contribute to the efficient operation of the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains a
high standard of governance, balancing the powers of the Board and exercising
effective and independent judgment on corporate actions and operations. During
the year ended 31 August 2025, all Directors have devoted sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no other financial, business or
family relationships among the members of the Board.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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MECHANISMS FOR THE BOARD TO OBTAIN INDEPENDENT VIEWS AND
OPINIONS

The Company has established a mechanism for the Board to obtain independent
views and opinions (including but not limited to the Articles of Association,
terms of reference of Board committees) to ensure the Board has a relatively
strong independent element as a key measure to improve the efficiency of the
Board. The mechanism covers the channels for the Directors to seek advice
from external professional advisors; the right for Directors to obtain further
information and documents from the management in connection with the
matters to be discussed at the Board meetings; the procedures and criteria for
election of Directors (including independent non-executive Directors); and the
number of independent non-executive Directors and their time commitments
contributed. The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanism and believed that the aforementioned mechanism
can ensure the Board to obtain the independent views and opinions.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors consists of six
Directors, and the list of Directors is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhao Shuai (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (re-designated from an independent non-executive Director
to an executive Director on 10 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

As of the date of this annual report, for the latest information of Directors and
chief executive of the Company, please refer to the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management”. Save as disclosed, there was no other change in
information which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) and
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2024
and obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as
regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a
Director and the possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving
false information to the Stock Exchange on 9 December 2024. Ms. Wong Ka Ki
Ada has confirmed that she understood her obligations as a Director.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers, and has renewed the liability insurance for Directors and officers.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi, executive
Directors, has entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific
term of three years, which is automatically renewable. The service contracts of
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai commenced on the Listing Date and the
service contract of Mr. Chan Tung Hoi commenced on 10 December 2024. They
may be automatically terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing to the other party and such notice shall be valid until
the expiry of the fixed term.

Each of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter and Ms. Wong Ka
Ki Ada, the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing
on the Listing Date, 26 August 2019 and 10 December 2024 respectively, which
is automatically renewable until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing by the independent non-executive Directors to the Company
or immediately upon written notice by the Company to the independent non-
executive Directors.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Directors of the above service
contracts are subject to the rotation and re-election of Directors at least every
three years at the annual general meeting. Meanwhile, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible
for re-election at that meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as a
new member of the existing Board shall hold office only until the next annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in the Board
since their appointments. They bring impartial views on issues of the Group’s
strategy, performance and control, exercise their independent judgment at
the Board meetings and scrutinize the Group’s performance. Their views carry
significant influence to the Board’s decision. All independent non-executive
Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience. They provide independent advice on the Group’s
business strategy, results and management so that Shareholders’ interests can
be taken into account as a whole, and the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders can be protected.
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More than one-third of the Board of the Company (3 out of 6 Directors) are
independent non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, a member of the
Audit Committee, possess the relevant professional qualifications and accounting
and related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from all independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors are independent and that they meet the
specific independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board holds on-site or online Board meetings from time to time to discuss
the overall strategies, operations and financial performance of the Group. In
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings are required to be held at least four times a year and the above
requirement was met during the Reporting Period.

The Board undertakes to ensure that all Directors are provided with relevant
materials on the matters before any Board meeting is held and to provide
sufficient time for the Directors to review the materials and make their judgment.
In addition, Directors may contact the senior management of the Company or
the office of the Board in accordance with the “Procedures for Directors to Seek
Independent Professional Advice” to make requests for independent professional
advice on major proposals requiring approval at the Company’s expenses. Where
queries are raised by Directors, steps would be taken to respond as promptly
and fully as possible.

For regular Board meetings, notices of Board meetings will be given to the
Directors at least 14 days prior to such meetings and Board procedures comply
with the Articles of Association, as well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committee meetings are completed,
recording full details of the matters considered by the Board and Board
committees, the process by which decisions were reached and any matters
raised by the Directors. Draft minutes were sent to the Directors for their
comments within a reasonable period of time after the date of the meeting.

In addition to the Board meetings, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, the Chairman, also held one
meeting with three independent non-executive Directors during the Reporting
Period without the presence of other Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board and general
meeting during the year ended 31 August 2025 is set out below:
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The Board has established three committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. The chairmen of Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive
Directors. Through appointment and authority granted by the Board, each
committee operated in accordance with its terms of reference. And the terms
of reference and member list of each committee are available on the website of
the Company at www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice and other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of
reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review the financial statements and material advice
in respect of financial reporting, and oversee the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and removal of external auditors. As of 31 August 2025, the
Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (being the chairman of Audit Committee), Dr. Pang
Tsz Kit Peter and Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants; and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit

BEEEEAEEGHMACEE  ETHELA
BNEFMAgEERE T
Peter is a fellow of CPA Australia.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s unaudited financial results for
the six months ended 28 February 2025 and the audited financial results for the
year ended 31 August 2025, and is of the opinion that the preparation of the
relevant financial statements complied with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. In addition, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external auditors. In addition,
the Audit Committee reviewed the internal control of the Group and oversaw
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group during the year
ended 31 August 2025.

During the year ended 31 August 2025, two meetings were held by the Audit
Committee. The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at
the meetings is set out below:
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Number of
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EEHR Name of Directors Meeting(s)
EBIEE L E Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2
TFHEEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 2/2
TR\ L (HA2024F12B10B EZ (T A Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed as a member of
EZEEGNE) the Audit Committee on 10 December 2024) 1/1
fR 2 A (R2024F12 B10H B N IET Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (ceased to be a member of
EZEEGNE) the Audit Committee on 10 December 2024) 1/1
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The finance department is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for this financial year which shall give
a true and fair view of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the
Company and its subsidiaries for that period.

Upon appropriate enquiries, the Directors believe that the Company has adequate
resources to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, therefore it
is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.
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Directors’ responsibility in respect of the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2025. The
management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as
are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before them by the Group for approval. The
management provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects.

Appointment of external auditors

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The Company has
engaged Ernst & Young as its external auditor since its listing.

Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the year ended 31
August 2025 are as follows.

AR¥TF T
RMB’000
ZEH R Audit services 4,600
FEIZ HAR 75 Non-audit services -
4,600
B EEE R BB Risk management and internal control
AREENRBER L AISIEH ZANEIELMEEAB  The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a
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defined management structure with limits of authority and well-rounded policies
and procedures, and are designed to facilitate legal, compliant and effective
operation of schools, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks,
and to safeguard assets of the Group. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board also recognizes
its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviews their effectiveness on an annual basis. In addition, the Audit
Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and assessing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has adopted the following policies and procedures and taken the following
measures to improve the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT



RERAREEMATZES RGN ERE  NEH
REBSGERBARSEEREZRER AEEE
HERREBHIR WEAREEXHLE BER
HMERIREMERSBFE AEEEERMEETE
ST T A EDE R E R K A EB AR HI R A E — (A
EERAZE EERBOEERE UL REETT
EHEEANSEEEMNBENMERF - 2 TaMH -
FESR UBRREREERADEZNERIE-

R FERZZESEEXRBENOBE T HAE
B BRI MEERSETEE E—FrtR
BB AE  BREREERABIEHRENE K
BERASENRBEEMNRERR - BTE (b
XERTH) BRARERE AR ZESNEFEENR
AEECRLABEAMPI(AREER) 5
FEREE (EEERTA) EXR T A AERE
FrREE R R AR B e A R - R AR R R R
EELARZEHRGORBETEEFELED
REMNEZZECEREHER - EFQNE K
BEERRERFEZAROANIIZES R URE
AEBEEERBRNE

SEBENNEFBRENSRAEEEENHLFESR
22 B8 NEREREENAZERS KA
B EREARS YHEREZZEENEMNRER -
EHRBREEMAZERS NEBFERELRS
REEEAIHCREERZES K2
B - NEFEERTESHE-2BEFTHEMN
SEBWAET TIEME

RBSHE EFeEERZE@NHY TEHRA
fE IR MRS R ST RE YRR/ R FNE
BREEMABENERRARDBEEL SN AERER-
ERRTEEREMAEAREGER UK 68
MEBEEBIALRARERRS - EFSEERELE
ENHY THRHMTERARERNTRE S5 K
NEBEZLPBERBETENELIERERER
FIIRENRAAEERE WS -

ERERHE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal control
systems, and given the actual situation of the Group and various applicable laws
and regulations, the management develops solutions towards the risks with an
aim to organize the business operation systematically, and monitor and mitigate
possible risks. The Group also requires all staff to comply with certain internal
risk management and internal control standards so as to build a regulatory
environment of risk control and standardized operation. In addition, the Group
has also established policies and procedures applicable to each of its operating
units with clear segregation of duties and continuous improvement to ensure the
effectiveness of risk management and internal controls.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the Audit Committee
supervises the Group’s revenue and expenditure for the financial and economic
activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to ensure
the effective implementation of risk management and internal control systems
and the Group’s standardized operation and healthy development. In order to
comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance Code in
relation to the risk management and internal controls, the Group has established
an internal audit department (compliance management department) for the
purposes of simultaneous updates between its governance and the Corporate
Governance Code and continuously improving the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal controls, and also conducts objective evaluation on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
and reports the results to the Audit Committee on, at least, an annual basis. The
Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal
control systems are maintained so as to safeguard the Group’s assets and the
interests of the Shareholders.

The Group’s senior management in charge of the internal audit function attends
regular meetings of the Audit Committee to report on the risk management and
internal control reports as well as the summary report of internal audit findings,
and to respond to questions from members of the Audit Committee. The report
on risk management and internal control, the summary report on the results of
internal audit and the annual audit plan are presented to the Audit Committee,
and are reported to and approved by the Board after being approved by the
Committee. All Directors are informed of the results of the internal audit.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of the risk management and internal control
systems and considered that the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company are adequate, appropriate and effectively implemented. Such
review covered all material controls, financial, compliance and operational
controls as well as risk management mechanisms. The Board, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee, also reviewed and was satisfied with the
adequacy of the Company’s resources, the staff’s qualifications and experience,
the training courses and the related budgets in accounting, internal review and
financial reporting functions.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND RESPONSES

The Group has always attached importance to the review of the risk environment
in which it operates, and has focused on strategic responses by incorporating
ESG risk assessment into the review of internal risks. Considering the likelihood
of occurrence of risks and the severity of their impact, the two principal risks
that have the most significant impact on the Group are as follows:

1. Brand and reputation risk: any negative publicity about the Company may
adversely affect its reputation, business, growth prospects and ability to
recruit qualified teachers and staff.

2. Teaching quality risk: The teaching quality of a school impacts students’
and their parents’ satisfaction with and confidence in the company. If its
teaching quality fails to meet the standards and it lacks a sound internal
improvement program in place, it may result in students attrition and
adversely affect the performance of the company.

The Group is of the view that the control of the teaching quality risk is the
main constraint on the occurrence of other risks, and that the fundamental
measures to cope with these risks lie in adhering to the strategy of high-quality
development to lead the Group’s work in the areas of connotative construction,
teaching, employment and students’ and teachers’ experience, so as to
consolidate the competitiveness of the Group by means of excellent quality of
education and to boost the customers’ satisfaction with and confidence in the
Group and address any negative impacts against our brand reputation.

The Group addresses brand and reputation risk in the following four aspects:
(1) formulated and issued the “China New Higher Education Group Content
Planning and External Release Management Measures”during the Reporting
Period, providing specific guidance on internal news publicity, routine external
communications, emergency publicity, and public opinion and crisis management,
thereby promoting the standardised development of communication activities; (2)
established a dedicated brand promotion team and an experience management
team to monitor real-time complaints and sentiment from both internal and
external stakeholders, including students, faculty, staff, government bodies, and
the media, and to develop professional response plans to ensure timely and
appropriate handling of adverse incidents; (3) built a systematic crisis response
mechanism to strengthen communication between the institution and families,
enhance the professional image of teachers, focus on student development
needs, and build a trustworthy educational brand reputation through multi-
dimensional initiatives; (4) implemented the “Responsible Marketing Policy of
China New Higher Education Group”, requiring all promotional content to be
truthful and transparent, compliant with educational regulations and advertising
laws, safeguarding the rights of students and staff, while making a public
commitment via the official website to convey positive educational values to

H WERBAEMAAAG AU SHERGHEE
A o
society.
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The Group addresses teaching quality risk in the following seven aspects:
(1) Formulate and release the “Work Plan for Strengthening the Development
of the In-house Full-time Supervision Team” and the “Implementation Plan
for the “Rewarding Excellent Supervision” Commendations Incentive”, fully
leveraging the professional knowledge and practical experience of outstanding
teachers to provide more precise and in-depth evaluation and guidance on
teaching quality; (2) Adopt the Outcome-Based Education (OBE) teaching
model, focusing on cultivating students’ core competencies and practical
skills. Supporting measures such as the “Management Measures for OBE-
based Curriculum Quality Evaluation (Trial)” were introduced to achieve
closed-loop management of teaching evaluation; (3) Advance teaching quality
enhancement by conducting teacher self-assessments of classroom instruction
and organising comprehensive evaluations led by panels of students, peers, and
supervision experts. The application of teaching quality evaluation results was
strengthened, with analysis conducted to produce an annual teaching quality
analysis report, thereby informing the reasonable formulation of teaching plans
for the following year; (4) Enhance the development of the teaching staff, attach
importance to the introduction of high-level talents, increase investment in
teacher training and exchange visits, and provide incentive policies to support
teachers’ further education and academic advancement; (5) Reinforce teaching
quality monitoring and assurance through target, resource, process, and
management assurances. Build a “One Centre, Four Assurances” (—H /0
PO {R[Z) teaching quality monitoring and assurance system involving students,
school leaders, management personnel of functional departments, teaching
supervision experts, teaching management personnel of departments, and peer
educators; (6) Design and operate a closed-loop quality assurance mechanism
that encompasses teaching decision command, teaching quality objectives,
teaching input guarantees, teaching operation management, teaching monitoring
and evaluation, and feedback for teaching quality improvement; (7) Construct a
multi-stakeholder quality assurance system centred around classrooms, courses,
majors, laboratories, examinations, graduation theses, internships, and the
quality of graduate cultivation, employment authenticity, and employment quality.
This system involves students, teachers, supervisors, employers, alumni, industry
experts, teaching experts, and assessment and accreditation specialists.

The Group has integrated risk management into internal control and implemented
risk management projects in the areas of asset management, procurement
and supply, and infrastructure and logistics, strengthening the identification,
assessment and management of micro risks, and continuously improving the
continuity, professionalism and timeliness of risk management at the corporate
governance level.
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On the other hand, the internal control systems of the Group include a sound
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and power.
The principal is responsible for the daily management of each school and the
vice principal assists in different operation areas. Each school has established
the board of directors to be responsible for the overall management and
decision-making on important matters of the school. The board of directors,
the principal and the vice principal of the school shall manage the operation
of the school within the scope of authorization, and implement and strictly
execute the strategies and policies formulated by the Group. The schools are
required to report regularly on the implementation of the policies and strategies
developed by the Group and to inform the Group immediately of any significant
development. The schools also assign personnel to oversee ongoing compliance
with relevant PRC laws and regulations that regulate the business operations,
and oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. The schools have
established emergency response mechanisms to clarify emergency management
methods for significant incidents. The Group has arranged insurance that is in
line with the usual coverage of the education industry in the PRC.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of reference
are established in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments (including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment), and to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. As at 31 August 2025, the
Remuneration Committee comprised three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan,
an executive Director, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong
Wai Sun Wilson and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. During the Reporting Period, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors
and the senior management; and no material matters relating to the share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were reviewed and/or approved
by the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 August 2025, one meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee at the meeting is set out below:

HEXSE,

ZEEEBARY

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EENS Name of Directors Meeting(s)

BESEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1/1

TEB LA Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 1/1

TFEELT Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 1/1
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE#I=XEBERLAT
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Remuneration policy

The Group follows the remuneration policy of “contributor-based, fairness,
competitiveness”. The remuneration policy designs structure for remuneration
based on different position of the Group and its schools. Emolument is
determined with reference to staff capacities, position responsibilities and
contribution.

The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
of the Directors and senior management and comparable market practices.

Meanwhile, the Group is committed to training employees’ abilities actively and
providing employees with external and internal training plans with the aim of
building up a quality team suitable for the Group’s development.

Remuneration of Directors and senior management

As of 31 August 2025, the Company had six Directors and four members of
senior management, and details of their remuneration by band are set out below.

During the Reporting Period, no amounts were paid or received by any Director,
non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid employees of the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company, and there was no
compensation paid or receivable by any Director, former Director, non-Director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees of the Company for loss of office
as a director of any member of the Group or of any other office in connection
with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

FHEE (AR%T)
Remuneration band (RMB)

A
Number of individual

0-500,000
500,001-1,500,000
>1,500,000
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 20 March 2017 pursuant to resolutions of the Directors. Its
composition and written terms of reference are established in accordance
with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on
a regular basis and to recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for
Directors after consideration of the nominees’ independence and qualification in
order to ensure the fairness and transparency of all nominations. In identifying
suitable director candidates and making such recommendations to the Board,
the Nomination Committee would also take into account various aspects of
a candidate, including but not limited to his/her educational background,
professional experience, experience with the relevant industry and past
directorships. As of 31 August 2025, the Nomination Committee comprises three
members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada.
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board during the
Reporting Period.

During the year ended 31 August 2025, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee. The attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee
at the meeting is set out below:

HERE

ZEEEEARY

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEnS Name of Directors Meeting(s)

TEH A Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 1/

BB E LA Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 11

PR A8 A (FR2024F12 10H BT B IE T Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (ceased to be a member of

RBEELEEGKE) the Nomination Committee on 10 December 2024) 1/1
TR\ I (R2024F12810HEZ T A Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed as a member of

REELEEGKE) the Nomination Committee on 10 December 2024) 0/0
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GOVERNANCE POLICIES

The Group emphasizes the ethical and professional conduct of Directors and
employees. All employees are required to comply with various Group policies that
reflect the Group’s core values and corporate culture. The Group has adopted
and implemented a number of governance policies that require Directors and
employees to act in compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
in order to improve the standard operation level and ensure the healthy
development of the Group. The Group reviews these policies from time to time
to ensure that they are in line with the Group’s business, development strategies
and stakeholders’ expectations.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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The major governance policies and systems of the Group published on the
Group’s website include:

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS

In order to strengthen the governance and internal control of the Group and its
schools, strictly comply with laws and regulations, and prevent corruption and
bribery in the course of business, the Group provides reporting channels and
guidelines for employees or partners who have dealings with the Group to report
suspected misconduct, fraud and violations. At the same time, the compliance
management department of the Group will strengthen the handling of reports,
complaints and appeals of the Group’s faculty and promote the integrity and
self-discipline of the Group and all units directly under the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT MECHANISM

In order to further regulate the inside information management of the Group,
clarify the responsibility for disclosure and confidentiality of inside information
and adhere to the principles of openness, fairness and impartiality of information
disclosure, pursuant to the relevant laws, regulations and guidelines such as
the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information and the SFO promulgated
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong, as well as various
internal reporting requirements, and subject to the requirements of the securities
regulators in Hong Kong, the Group has formulated the Inside Information
Management Mechanism, taking into account the actual situation of the Group,
and has consistently implemented the principles of confidentiality and timely
disclosure of inside information.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company sees enhancing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. This policy sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

As at 31 August 2025, the Board has one female Director and as such has
achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board. We will also ensure that there
is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and provide more
suitable on-job training to them, so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in near future.
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As of 31 August 2025, the ratio of male and female employees (including senior
management) of the Company was 43% and 57% respectively. The Board is
satisfied with the current gender diversity across the workforce (including
senior management) of the Group. The Company is committed to creating a
fair, unbiased, equal and diversified recruitment and working environment.
Information about the diversity, including the gender diversity, in the workforce
during the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “People-oriented
Prosperity and Shared Progress” in the 2024/2025 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.

NOMINATION POLICY

This policy is about the main selection criteria, principles and relevant
nomination process used by the Nomination Committee in nominating suitable
candidates to the Board and advising the Board on the appointment of Directors
and the succession plan of Directors.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
that the investors and the Shareholders receive accurate, clear, comprehensive
and timely information of the Group by the publication of annual reports,
announcements and circular. The Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on the Company’s website at www.xingaojiao.com. The Board
and senior management of the Company maintain regular dialogues with
institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of
the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of the Board
and the Board committees will also attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions
would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. The Board is of the
view that the Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has facilitated
sufficient Shareholders’ communication and considered the policy is effective
and adequate.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Directors need to keep abreast of the changes of business and regulatory
environment to help them perform their responsibilities effectively and to ensure
that they continue to make informed and appropriate contributions to the Board.
Directors are aware of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
relating to the requirement on continuous professional development, and have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development training to
update and develop their knowledge and skills. During the Reporting Period,
the Company arranged external training for Directors and provided Directors
with written materials on the latest compliance information from the regulatory
authorities.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received
the following training in compliance with the requirement of the Corporate
Governance Code on continuous professional development for the year ended 31
August 2025:

EER BAREL
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Corporate Governance/
Updates on Laws,
Rules and Regulations

g5t UK ERER
HitE ¥ B
Accounting/Financial/
Management or
Other Professional Skills

HEEES HEEES

R BB AT R HHRE MEMN IGE: 4=

Attending Attending

Reading Seminars/ Reading Seminars/

= Name of Directors materials Briefings materials Briefings

HTES Executive Directors

FEFELE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan Y Y Y Y

i B 5 A& Mr. Zhao Shuai Y Y Y Y

PRZE LA Mr. Chan Tung Hoi Y Y Y Y
BIFHTES Independent non-executive Directors

BEERE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson Y Y Y Y

ZFEIE T Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter Y Y Y Y

FREZ L Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada Y Y Y Y

BETESETEFRZNEESTH
AR A ERAHSIN R A EC3Z (T
A (ERERETESRHMTRTA

RAZERESFHARBERNR SEFHERARSE
RERGREHEDET RETHD -

o EEEREREEUARZBEEEMZOTE
MEHETHERARRAAMFEEENETR
HWEAZZILEEY MR Amh &R ET
AH—EAZELEES-

i B BUER

BEEEERN2021F11 A30 A AL E TR AL S &Y
BE([REBEK]) BEBRKREAEINAEE S
PR RE K KA &k AR SB B AR A R B S AR
SlemBWENT:

1. RARES

1.1 REMERERARNERAKERME
EFgr s RNBARAEREERLIRMA
BB o NRF B K 3K AR B TR B 8 <F
BEASHEEEVERNNERZED KA
RAREEEIZAEA -

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting
Period.

Furthermore, senior management of the Group and the staff of the headquarters
who are involved in the core work of release of results are subject to a two-
month black-out period prior to the release of the Company’s annual results and
a one-month black-out period prior to the release of interim results.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a revised policy on the payment of dividends (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 30 November 2021. The Dividend Policy aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Board intends to apply in relation to the
declaration, payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. Details
are disclosed as follows:

1. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

1.1 Subject to the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles
of Association, the Board has absolute discretion on whether to
declare and pay dividends. Declaration or payment of dividends
by the Company is also subject to applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of the Cayman lIslands and the Articles of

Association.
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Dividend Policy of the Group

1.2 The Board determines the form, frequency and amount of dividends
based on the Company’s financial results, general financial
conditions, future operations and earnings, capital requirements,
capital adequacy, statutory fund reserve requirements, cash flows,
contractual restrictions, future business prospects, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends, interests of the
Shareholders of the Company and any other factors that the Board
considers relevant.

1.3 The Board currently intends to recommend an annual dividend of
not less than 30% of the profits available for distribution earned by
the Company in each financial year.

1.4 In any event, a dividend may only be declared and paid out of the
profits and reserves of the Company that are lawfully available for
distribution (including share premium), and in no circumstances
may a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being
unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business in the future.

1.5 Shareholders may declare dividends by ordinary resolution in a
general meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the
amount recommended by the Board.

1.6 Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend
upon the availability of dividends received from the subsidiaries of
the Company. Regulations in China may restrict the ability of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

2. REVIEW OF THE POLICY

The Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the Company’s
financial and cash flow position. The Board will continue to review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount, if at all, for any given
period. During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report,
there was no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board understands the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with Shareholders and investors. The Company has established a
shareholders’ communication policy and the Board reviews it on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with the Shareholders
and/or potential investors mainly in the following ways:

1. the holding of annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings
(if any, which may be convened for specific purposes), which provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board.
Members of the Board attend the Company’s annual general meetings
to answer relevant questions at the meetings; in order to protect the
interests and rights of Shareholders, separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings for each major individual issue, including the election of
individual directors. Resolutions will be voted on by poll in accordance with
the Listing Rules and the results of the poll will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meeting;

2. the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and
circulars as required under the Listing Rules and press releases on the
latest information of the Group, maintaining a high level of transparency
and ensuring that Shareholders and/or potential investors receive
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information about the Group;

3. the publication of all the latest information of the Group on the Company’s
website at www.xingaojiao.com; and

4, regular dialogue with investors and analysts, organizing investor
roadshows, and attending investor conference to inform Shareholders and/
or potential investors of the Group’s strategy, operations, management
and plans. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s
website and make enquiries through the Company’s Investor Relations
Management Department, whose contact details are available on the
Company’s website.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication in place, including steps taken at the
annual general meeting and the handling of queries received (if any) during
the year ended 31 August 2025, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’
communication policy has been properly implemented and is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholder(s) holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company on a one vote per share basis in the capital of the Company may
request to convene extraordinary general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Directors by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix Place, 5A
Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC, for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Directors for the
transaction of any business or adding resolutions to the agenda of the meeting
or resolution specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Directors fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one location which
will be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The requisitionist(s) may add resolutions to
the agenda of a general meeting in accordance with Article 58 of the Articles.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR
ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

If a shareholder (who is eligible to attend and vote at a general meeting of the
Company) wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for election
as a director at a general meeting, a written notice to that effect must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The notice must include (i) a notice
of the shareholder’s intention to propose the person to be elected; (ii) a notice
signed by the person of his or her willingness to be elected as a director of
the Company and a written consent to the publication of his or her particulars;
and (iii) the biographical details of the proposed candidate as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

The minimum period for lodging such written notice shall be at least seven days
commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
at which the election is to be held and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

If the Company receives such notice after the publication of the notice of general
meeting, the Company will issue an announcement or a supplementary circular
to the Shareholders containing the particulars of the proposed candidates in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as applicable) prior to the general meeting.
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PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Board of Directors the Company by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix
Place, 5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC, or by email
to ir@xingaojiao.com. The office of the Board is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to
the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as
recommendations and inquiries, to the senior management of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai Ling, whose
biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling has informed the
Company that she has taken at least 15 hours of training covering corporate
governance during the Reporting Period to comply with the requirements under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Her principal contact person of the Company is
Mr. Zhao Shuai, the chief executive officer.
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To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New Higher
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 115 to 215, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 August 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 August 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.
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Impairment of goodwill
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The Group recognised goodwill in an aggregate of RMB751.5
million as at 31 August 2025 arising from a series of
acquisitions, which were supported by an annual impairment
review required by Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36
“Impairment of Assets”. Management’s assessment process
involved significant estimates, including:

e EREHEN BEEERXRLFHEFRES
FRNERREeREERRR BEERER
BEEME: K

° the assumptions of the expected cash flow growth
used in the Group’s most recent budgets for the next
five years approved by management including growth
rates and budgeted gross margin; and

° ﬁﬁﬁ%*%fﬁiméﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi1'3:210
° the discount rates and long term growth rate applied
to future cash flow.

BB & 5T 145189 B F R 8B B R (B 7T 14 5 B 8 1% 5
EEFHBERYBFIHENZI(EXDFFHERAIGE—
BERE) A RITE16(BE) -

Information about the accounting estimates and disclosures
related to the impairment assessment of gooadwill were
disclosed in Note 3 (Significant accounting judgements and
estimates — Impairment of gooawill) and Note 16 (Goodwill)
to the financial statements.

BYZBEKE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

EENETUMEERRETSE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EHEFERATEE:

The audit procedures, among others, included the following:

e IHEBEEEMARBEREBAREGIERE:
° Evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts and the process by
which they were drawn up;

e BBYHBBATBLTAERMEE:
° Assessed the key assumptions by checking against the historical trends;

e HRIFEBEENGAFENERRE UM HBTHEANE
e

° Assessed the actual performance of current year against the prior year
budgets to evaluate historical forecasting accuracy;

o  HRABETHERED N
° Performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;

s BENBHEEZRBBEETERMITEMME ML B
EEAEMANTE TEERERAERE R

° Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
methodologies, the discount rate and long term growth rate used by
comparing to those of the industry for selected schools; and

e Mt ESEEYHAHEREREARAREFENRDIL-
° Evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding the
impairment testing of goodwill.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

= (PEFEZRIT - P04882) © report is Lau Kwok Wa Lawrence (practising certificate number: P04882).
&S -EES Y Ernst & Young
HEDEAD Certified Public Accountants
BA Hong Kong
2025411 A28 H 28 November 2025
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H=SHEEERAT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
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R LOSS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025
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FREF

LT ALTEMN:
BRFHEE A

BRAEBERKR
EiEERABF

EAR#EE (ARET)

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB)

kg
Notes

12

20255 20244
2025 2024
AREF T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,599,427 2,411,710
(1,676,398) (1,535,575)
923,029 876,135
471,277 423,447
(41,367) (40,613)
(128,944) (113,365)
(112,609) (104,676)
(115,787) (127,868)
995,599 913,060
(166,438) (156,986)
829,161 756,074
829,161 756,074
0.49 0.49
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TEETEWRERRER BF202548A31ALEE
ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

FREF

Hitb 2 HE

REZBBKTEENRIEE
BENEMEEKES:

BEMBHRERNER Z5E

ERMEAB I EEFIRE
Téﬁnﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂiﬁl& 53 FR

FREMEEYE  HRBE

FREERFERE

LT AL
NEBER A

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME THAT WILL NOT BE
RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS
IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS:

Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements

Net other comprehensive income that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent

20255 20244
2025 2024
AREF T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
829,161 756,074
15,779 (9,702)
15,779 (9,702)
15,779 (9,702)
844,940 746,372
844,940 746,372
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2025
20254 20244
2025 2024
k=3 ARET T ARBET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
) ER =L Property, plant and equipment 13 6,279,554 5,949,729
LEME Investment properties 14 382,716 393,364
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(a) 1,292,630 1,100,718
GES Goodwill 16 751,505 751,505
EMEREE Other intangible assets 17 93,320 88,771
BEHEBRZRHTFR Pledged and restricted deposits 20 489,744 100,000
HMIFERBEE Other non-current assets 18 123,781 293,244
IERBEELE Total non-current assets 9,413,250 8,677,331
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
B 5 REW R IE  FEATFE - Trade receivables, prepayments,

Hi e kB R E & E  other receivables and other assets 19 118,196 118,244
BRI R R ST R Pledged and restricted deposits 20 408,647 831,389
TE 8317 5% Time deposits 20 40,949 10,669
BeMBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 20 787,817 1,379,606
MEEELE Total current assets 1,355,609 2,339,908
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
EHaE Contract liabilities 21 1,671,159 1,690,074
HibER I R EETE M Other payables and accruals 22 785,888 953,483
TEsmIT A Derivative financial instruments 23 = 16,169
AT EERTT R E M fE 5K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 24 821,457 1,486,108
HEAE Lease liabilities 15(b) 6,286 4,100
5 FE W 2= Deferred income 25 18,477 15,003
FE S R IR Tax payable 208,691 168,298
mEBEET Total current liabilities 3,511,958 4,333,235
REBEEFEHE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.1 (2,156,349) (1,993,327)
EEHERRBARE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,256,901 6,684,004
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GEBMBMRREK MN2025E8A31H
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2025

20254 20244
2025 2024
HiaF ARET T ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
SFERITREAMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 24 1,777,605 2,013,331
HEBRE Lease liabilities 15(b) 8,349 1,297
I FE W = Deferred income 25 348,144 362,856
RIERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 26 168,393 194,759
ERBEEERE Total non-current liabilities 2,302,491 2,572,243
BEEFE Net assets 4,954,410 4,111,761
- EQUITY
BARHEB AELER Equity attributable to owners of the parent
fi& 7 Share capital 27 1,367 1,063
[ 77 IR 19 Treasury shares - (8,050)
& Reserves 29 4,953,043 4,118,748
AR Total equity 4,954,410 4,111,761
ZZH B
Li Xiaoxuan Zhao Shuai
EF EF
Director Director
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT
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YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH /IJ:

HE2025F8H31H IEFE
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

REEREPIIS
B B¢ AR A
HATRIEAE:
BE KA
RITA B W=
BRI
B EMER

HEWE  BFE k&

5B /M EE

EE%//\LE

&

NFE(EE) B

R

BRFESARIREE

TREE

& TTTE&%HH“

BHEBAER
ME BE MR

e
REMEFTE
ERRAEN®

i R 2 8 3

Hi\E & E#H

1%155 )

= %}%%—(UAIE B FRIE

H A 8 UK IE &

H & ERE R

AERE

B NS R 7K
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B 5 WA BN F0R

H A Wk IR B
HEER D

H A FE A 508 M e AT B

$#70
AHBE)

REXBAEERS

B KA 8
BN fR

KBRS
F

b, (K A0)

EE%/}\LE

g3
Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 6
Bank interest income 5
Donation income
Gain on wealth investment products 5
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 7
Fair value (gains)/losses, net:
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 7
Revision of a lease term arising from a change 15(b),
in the non-cancellable period of a lease (c)
Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment 13
Depreciation of investment properties 14
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(a)
Amortisation of deferred income 25
Amortisation of other intangible assets 17
Impairment allowance for trade receivables,
prepayments, other receivables and other assets
19
Impairment of goodwill 16

(Increase)/decrease in pledged and restricted deposits

Decrease in trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Increase in other payables and accruals

Decrease/(increase) in contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET T ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
995,599 913,060
115,787 127,868
(24,487) (20,590)
(47,473) (48,856)
(271) (637)
3,794 1,159
(22,578) 17,057
221 -
262,232 236,774
8,855 9,083
42,089 36,566
(23,573) (24,515)
32,777 27,888
1,712 1,027
= 516
1,344,684 1,276,400
(18,882) 14,669
(4,629) 8,262
71,969 12,166
(18,915) 333,824
1,374,227 1,645,321
30,870 26,076
(152,412) (128,550)
1,252,685 1,542,847
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GHERERER HE202F8A318ILFE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

20255 20244
2025 2024
ks ARET T ARBTF T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
REEHMAEHESNE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
EEWE MENMREEE Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (616,526) (688,406)
HEME - BENRZEHEEB Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

FT 15 5038 plant and equipment 3,819 3,377
BETREEE Purchase of right-of-use assets (29,794) (133,861)
By B K& Receipt of government grants for property,

5 48 B9 BT 4 B plant and equipment 25 12,335 77,624
REEMELEE Additions to other intangible assets (41,288) (33,313)
PTESBI T BE&EERE Proceeds from settlement of derivative

FRIE financial instruments 6,409 -
FADELZEREFIFR Placement of pledged and restricted deposits 3,284 (2,337)
I8 B EE AR 42 0 Increase in wealth investment products 271 48,538
FHE AE Placement of time deposits (30,280) (10,669)
HEEHFARERE Net cash flows used in investing activities

R (691,770) (739,047)
BMEETBAERERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
HIgIRTT R E M ER New bank and other borrowings 1,999,981 2,439,897
BRRIT R E M8 Repayment of bank and other borrowings (2,905,716) (1,656,317)
HMENTRN e IS Principal portion of lease payments (8,129) 6,711)
RENEAIES] Interest paid (136,895) (155,813)
EE DR Payment on purchase of shares (2,291) (18,118)
RENEES) Dividends paid (149,304) (185,820)
BRI R R ST R Decrease/(increase) in pledged and restricted deposits

A (3 ) 48,596 (696,164)
MEFHFARSAE Net cash flows used in financing activities

FRE (1,153,758) (279,046)
RekBEEEED NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND

C:2VE: Vb3 CASH EQUIVALENTS (592,843) 524,754
FNHRENREFEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,379,606 855,060
GNDETE R B E) MR L - SFEB Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 1,054 (208)
FRAG LA EED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 20 787,817 1,379,606

122  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHEXEEERAT



REHERER HZE2025F8A31RILEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

PMBEEMRAEEED
RE R

B M BN KRR
ReEMREEED

HAERERERATA
RekReEEY

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of cash flows

ok

Notes

20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
787,817 1,379,606
787,817 1,379,606
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ANQRR2016F7ASEIREFREHE QA
EAMK L AEREBR AR AR A G
fift % == B2 #h 5k ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ° A X A]FR2017F4 B19ORE B B A
REGMAERLDA ([BRA])ER Lo

ARBAR—KXEBEBERAB -FR ARAK
HMBAR (MBI AKE])E2HEFEA
REAME ([HE])RERERBEE RS -

EERR ARANERARIRGHRERAR
Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. » E P &
RS FMAL AR E&EIERRE
REZEEAE ([FEE]) -

B A B B A 7 0
AATEEWBAAFEOT

NANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

WERMETE B =2025%E8831BIEE
TES TO FlI
ArEIREEER

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016.
The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19 April 2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally engaged in rendering private education services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

In the opinion of the directors, the parent company and the ultimate parent
company of the Company is Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd.,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company is Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (“Mr. Li").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

EMRY/ ERR BROTEE/
£ EENWEKRAN ZRMBRAEHE FARELERERIL ZEED
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
B 1
Direct Indirect

FERAEBECSMEARLA 20168 A58 - 1,000,0005 70 - 100% SR AR K% 5R B AR A
([REEE]) (e b)EC) hE/ PR AL v

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., 5 August 2016, United States dollar - 100%  Rendering of technical and
Ltd. (*Huihuang Company”) (Notes (@), () and ()~ PRC/Mainland China (*USD”) 1,000,000 management consultancy
ARAERECERRERAA services

EHEARYERERERRLA 2005F5A198 - AR #34,900,9597T - 100% B®EER
(Wit k) HE/ BN,

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Ltd. 19 May 2005, RMB34,900,959 - 100%  Investment holding
(Notes (a) and () PRC/Mainland China
EHEFARYERESEERAA

EHIBER (Witae) 2005F8A11A - AR #16,000,0007T - 100% REHE RS

HE/ BN,

Yunnan Technology and Business University 11 August 2005, RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(Note (a)) PRC/Mainland China services
ERIBZR

EMIEBESR (Hita) 2012F7A38 AR #64,240,0007C - 100% REHE RS

HE/RE N,
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute (Vote (@) 3 July 2012, RMB64,240,000 - 100%  Rendering of education

EMTIEEESR PRC/Mainland China

services

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT



BB ERMTE 8 E202548A318 IEFE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

ARAREEER (&) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
BARMEARINESR (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
SR MR BRITLE/
&% EEWERAE TMRAEE AAREGREDIL TEED
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# ik
Direct Indirect
REBERER ([RILBR]) (Hite) 2003558228 - AR #21,372,0007C - 100% REHERS
REE R

Harbin Huade University (“Northeast School’) 22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(Note (3) 'R BEEE PRC/Mainland China services

REMEBESR (DEBER]) (Hite)) 201357R198 AR #10,000,0007C - 100% REHE RS

hE /R R,

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College 19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(“Luoyang School") (Note (2)) PRC/Mainland China services
KI5 RS % 2t

ERRERRBESR (Mi@R0) 200651 A 208 - A K #33,000,0007C - 100% REHERS

R/ E R

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College 20 January 2006, RMB33,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(Notes (a) and (7)) PRC/Mainland China services
EREERRBESNR

EREAZERBESRME+TZ 200644108 - AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHERS
(Bt R) hE/hER,

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle 10 April 2006, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
School (Notes (a) and (a)) PRC/Mainland China services
ERREARBEERMEFS

BRIMEZERBERTER 2009107268 - AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHERS
(Bt R) hE/hER,

Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation 26 October 2009, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
and Technology School (Notes () and (d) PRC/Mainland China services
ERYMNEZHRBEERITER

A BHER ([ERER]) (MiE) 2010F1 /18 - AR #3,000,0007T - 100% REHERS

hE/hER,

Hubei Enshi College (*Central China School”) 1 January 2010, RMB3,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
(Note (a)) PRC/Mainland China services
it BB R

WMNESRRER ([HBER]) (Mie) 20025117228 A K #80,000,0007C - 100% REHERS

hE/hER,

Lanzhou College of Information Science and 22 November 2002, RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
Technology (“Gansu School”) (Note (2)) PRC/Mainland China Services

BNE BRI B
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BB RMET &S E202558A31H IEEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

1. RARKEEESR (&) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

BARMEARINESR (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

EMRY/ ERR BRITLE/
&% EEWERAE TMRAEE AAREGREDIL TEED
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# ik
Direct Indirect
TRBaRRHENEERAA 2014F6 7178 - AR 10,000,007 - 100% R AT AR 7
([ERBED) (HFEEY) R/ A
Beijing Union Open Education Technology Co., Ltd. 17 June 2014, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technology
("Beijing Lianhe") (Notes (a) and (b)) PRC/Mainland China services
ERBARRABERRERAT
ERTRAEEARYEEIERERDE 20115124318 AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHE RS
([EmBXER]) (Miza ko) R/ A
Kunming High Tech Zone Einsun Education and 31 December 2011, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
Training School Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Vocational PRC/Mainland China services
School”) (Notes (a) and (b))
ERMeEERRAEEIERER
NS
BB ESR ([HMEER]) (fE)) 200958R108 - AR #123,000,0007T - 100% REHERS
B/ A
Zhengzhou City Vocational College (“Zhengzhou 10 August 2009, RMB123,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education
School”) (Note (3)) PRC/Mainland China services
B T B S B e
EFXLEEERAR (Hitake) 202054 H248 AR #1,000,0007T - 100% SHEER
B/ A
Yunnan Wenxin Books Co., Ltd. (Nofes (@) and (b)) 24 April 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sale of textbooks
EEXLEEERAF PRC/Mainland China

it Notes:

(a) ARZERANEELREMNE T EXELE EHitiZ () The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by the
SRANEXEBAARAEEER NP XL management of the Company to directly translate the Chinese names as the companies
EEBEMA- have not registered any official English names.

(b) ZEBEANPFEAREINMBIKINERETARA - (b) These entities are limited liability companies established in the People’s Republic of

© EERARR-BERETEDEEEMOIEEELE-

d  HEEREEA[EESR] -

ERINAEERRIBFEFAREXEK
AEBEEFEIZMD 2ARANME R
A-EERARRERHELHBARNFERSE

HREBERITR-

China.
(c) Huihuang Company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

(d) These schools are collectively named “Guangxi Schools”.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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8-

ANEBEP2025F8A3IHER S REF ARG
FEE A R #2156,349,0000T 0 H & B
MR2025F8A3THMANEBEARE
1,671,159,0007T °
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At EER R BREEKEEERH
MBHRERBEE HWARBE RERTE
AEEQE AAFLRABRAMBREEE
EEAREEE AR ATREHRNE
MEMBEFHEB ZRFHABNTE
I RRR I REA

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB2,156,349,000
as at 31 August 2025, included in which were contract liabilities of
RMB1,671,159,000 as at 31 August 2025.

In view of the net current liabilities position, the directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern.

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the directors
are satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial
obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future. To mitigate
any liquidity issues that might be faced by the Group, the Group
has obtained adequate banking facilities from reputable financial
institutions to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should
the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected
in the financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 August 2025. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no
sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 September 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKFRS 19 and Subsidiaries without Public
amendments to Accountability: Disclosures®
HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,

to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS
33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their
specified financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system before
the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment
to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the application of
the “own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the
designation requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging
relationship for in-scope contracts. The amendments also include
additional disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
understand the effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial
performance and future cash flows. The amendments relating
to the own-use exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to the
hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging
relationships designated on or after the date of initial application.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT %

133



134

MERERMIT B E2025F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

2. BETBR (&) 2.
23 BHEMEMRERNERMBERES

sHEER (&)

BRI EBEANRZETATHER
EMEFERX-—EBAERBEES —
BB MR Z A B AR A 5
R ERMABERXR - ZFBFTARE
BREREAEDVBHRRERE TR R
EENFENEN TAFRFER-
REBZEEIAR BERAAEML
BREM - ERAZEFEFTANEMR
ARERRVIZERAZERA/YER
AR SRR E AR B
FMREHREZEIASENTE (HE
M) BEMZEEIANEHEAKEEDN
MBRRELEANEATE-

BB BEHRECT BRI FRNE—F
NMEFINBEMBRELEREIHR - FE
MBREENETR (REMEEENF
WEERETHAIBERT1E5]) - BRMH
HEENFIR BAEMBHREERFE0
SR EBEAETERETR ZER] A - FAH
ERNAEBZEFIARFBNOT

o EAUBMESENFEIREHTA:
HE A ABETB BT HE RS
AEBI B T75% FEB38ER M EF 3 & B BT 7
HEERE7H 155 F1G1 ~1G14
MI1G20BE: w9 &/ T 5 B AR {E 3k
EZENEMEE R, R EAMIEZ
ERANHM S RMEER—BUE-
BN ABRINE S Ejt &8
FERETR A5 S RV HBE B
B R R ETRBERE 2T
BRE MAMIBEREINEGT 1
FIREEA -TEHEIIAYAEE
WP EmR T EMEMERNTE -

s FBAWBREEREIRSHTA:
BEAIARBEFEABAREEEY
BHREENEREETHERED
RiLE ABAREBEEMBR
HARERIFIFRFII3R U N EB R
HRMELEMNEMKREHERE Ut
SNoERIACEH BB B REE
AIFIRESNIR N BB BHRE
ZE RIS 05 MY SRARY 5 T 15 ¥ - DAJH
BRBEREB RAIRERMA Y
& 5T AN S 7K S B B B 7 T R 3 R
ERERTE-

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how
it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guigance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT



BMERMERMET B E2025F8A31ILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

2. BETBE (&)

2.3

2.4

EEMBEMRERNERBMBRES
sHEER (&)

e EEUBREENFIORGSY
BHX B ABEEEAVERSE
YE B 55105% FEB7AEL Pt &0 B 1R (2
BEEEBRERKTEEERRE
MEMEHFcEJEFENSE
BREROESR—EF T ERERE
B 75 3R 5 HE B 551057 SFB73ER R E
WP —BZE - ATRFER-TE
B AHAEB M BHRE L
EEMEBERTE-

s BARGHEANFIREZNEX:
RERME TRAE] ERE &
AIAREB B G ERFRTHREITR
AT | — A B [RAE]
RFFRFPER -BHETAHARE
BT HHRRLBEAZE -

BEREHEE
REEHREE

EBAHRARBEAKR - ERORE
RWEABMNAFERE AKEMR
HEEENKBREHAZAFE AEE
RIRWED RIEB AR AERENREAR
5 B 75 3R BUHR MK R T A IV T AT SR
ZRBM-HRBEXBA M AKEE
BREAVFEERZLODIEHREE TN
Al E R B EFER BB T ) IEE
Bl ot o JEYE AR 2 WY FT A H At 4R A AP
DA EAE WBHBERARE
RS-

ERBN R A REERE A
BAR-—BELZUERE ARYAIEE
BB NELERERE  AEERE
Ho B —|mER-

AR BB XIS IRIE A DR B
B H B A8 B R 0 K AR A {1 BT £ P R AR
MEMEENBBAELEE 7B NE
ERZ ETRBRIBEEESETAN
REOBARITET R

EERBGE G EBET R AR X
REZEKERSRNAFEFEMMESE
et s B BN B s M 2 E S (20
) PHER o

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

° HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and other
parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

° HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is measured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 August. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its foreign exchange options at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Dbased on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Dbased on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other than
deferred tax assets, investment properties and non-current assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

o

) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i)
(i)
(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

1.9% t0 12.1%

Over the shorter of

the lease term and 10%
12.1% 10 19.4%

4.9% 10 19.4%

19.4% to 32.3%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic devices

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment in
value. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of an investment property to its residual value over its
estimated useful life of 50 years or over the remaining lease term.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably; otherwise, the expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment at its carrying amount at the date
of reclassification and such transfer does not change its cost for
accounting purposes. If an item of property, plant and equipment
becomes an investment property because its use has changed,
the transfer does not change the carrying amount of the property
transferred, nor does it change the cost of that property for
measurement or disclosure purposes.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of five to ten years.

Client relationship

Client relationship acquired through the acquisition of a subsidiary
is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Prepaid leasehold land
Office premises

40 to 50 years
1.5 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
oceurs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

() Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of staff dormitories and office
premises (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease term and is included in other income and gains in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent
rents are recognised as other income in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified
as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a
short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet
recognition exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. The Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
Costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes wealth investment products and foreign
exchange options. Interest income from wealth investment products
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Tuition and boarding fees received by colleges are generally
received in advance prior to the beginning of each academic year,
and are initially recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding
fees are recognised proportionately over the relevant period of
the applicable programme. The portion of tuition and boarding
payments received from students but not yet recognised is recorded
as a contract liability and is reflected as a current liability as such
amount represents revenue that the Group expects to earn within
one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is generally
from September to June of the following year.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time
value of money.

Other income

Service income is recognised at a point in time when the services
are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Donation income is recognised at a point in time when the
ownership of assets has been transferred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#FimHBEEERAT



BMERMERMET B E2025F8A31ILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

B BE (&)
24 BEAEHBE (M)

URGBEE#N ()

FEIETIHERR,3HARH G I AR =K
M&EKREBNEE TS EZEMF
3o MR BIE — M5k IE R B IR
AIREA EMERE/ RRBEHEE
RER TwmEIERBIRTREE
K ZEXFUERER/CHE -

fie] LA 428 o 45 S ) SR JB) & (R SR B PRE AT
R 5t B ) &Y 14 K 2 i B B P RERR B
SR D 7R E BB A0 R R AR (B T Y
IR SN fHIRIERT A Z At E - B
BT BHIARD RERN N R ERF
BEREMEN XAREFKEMME
AL F BT RBRAX -

fie] LA #2825 A RO SR B A RE B S AR B
BRI A HRE - (A W R AR 2R
BRXAEER - LEBERATABA
SENEEENEENNIERE R
W B AL AR 22 ) - PR T - fiK B T 2R B X
REFHRER YREL B HEE RN
REEE) - R 2 5E 55 22 ) K % 22 @) 13 40 Al
B BTt 4 4R 45 JR St SRR AV AE T

RAITEBEENETRERTETRE
I 51 73 BRHNAD 5 o

At fE S5 7/
RIKE 2

AEBEETBEAMEEXBEOMERF
BB B RS i) TR T EFE  RIR
Kestdl -ZEMBRARAREH X
AIZFFE L KA R RB RS R H K-
B F E RN AR R B M ST R IR AR
M EE - KRB REH RBER ST
RAIRENEARERME -

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme managed by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of the
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The Group has no
obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT %

155



156

MERERMIT B E2025F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

2. EETHE(#E) 2.
2.4 BAEHBE (M)
18 B2
TEEBBRAERAE (WALER
R—BEEHATEINESHAEARXK

AHERENEE)MBE 2RAE
ENEERABERENERLZFEEN
MORK - BEEEANH LA ZEDHEGE
REskr] hEMRER  ZEEKRAEL
BABEA-FIBEHMBERANELH
AXH - EERABREERIEAES
MEENMNEREMBER -

HERHEER

fiaf < S [ 70 R o5 HA 4R (B RO IR U 3 A AR
AMZEEEHBRERNREFERBRANE
BFAESHEZENETEREERY
BHRETEIANSE AEE K HEY
BMART AN ARBRERERHER
ZEMEAARSENH AREFEHE
MEZFBEAEMMMNE - BRHEH
BELENIFHEEH AEEHTEE
KM BHERTERNTR BEREFE
HAEEHNMEEREMBEENGE
SR ELAET VR (AER) -

K E

ERAKRENKRRANS EEBRRAE
F-AERSEE-BHRKRKAREER
BI TS ¥R MY R4 BE

PHRBREE T ARKEE IR BAARK
NRAEBERRANANETESES
FIRFHBRE Bt P HRE R K
ARERFEIERRAEE-

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the
information affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in
its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those
conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of
the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects,
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB because the
Group’s principal operations are carried out in Mainland China.
The functional currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries
incorporated outside Mainland China is the Hong Kong dollar
(“HKD") and the functional currency of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC is RMB, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which those entities operate. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable
to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of education services,
which falls in the scope of “Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment
Industries”. Foreign investors are restricted from investing in such
business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries and enjoys all
economic benefits of these subsidiaries through contractual arrangements
(“Structured Contracts”).

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries, notwithstanding
the fact that it does not hold direct equity interests in these subsidiaries,
as it has power over the financial and operating policies of these
subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from
the business activities of these subsidiaries through the Structured
Contracts. Accordingly, these subsidiaries have been accounted for as
subsidiaries during the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
these properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 August 2025 was RMB751,505,000
(2024: RMB751,505,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the education
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
student’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education services in
the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reporting about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. The
information reported to the directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, does not contain discrete operating segment
financial information and the directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenues were generated in the PRC and all of its
long-term assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group during the year.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT



BMERMERMET B E2025F8A31ILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

WA~ H Ao 25 R 1 = 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
WADITIT An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20255 20244F
2025 2024
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
KEHEF &K ZHA Revenue from contracts with customers
25 Tuition fees 2,321,666 2,147,778
FEE Boarding fees 277,761 263,932
LN N Total revenue 2,599,427 2,411,710
REEFEHZWA REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(i) WAZEEH (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
20254 20244F
2025 2024
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB Type of services
HE R Education services 2,599,427 2,411,710
i E 5 Geographical market
P E R Mainland China 2,599,427 2,411,710
WA R EE Timing of revenue recognition
BE s R E R S E A RS Services transferred over time 2,599,427 2,411,710

TRITRARSHEARIOEA S
B ZEeBEHARSHIANEE:

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that was included in the contract liabilities

at the beginning of the reporting period:

20254 20244F
2025 2024
ARBT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FFAREHTEHNEEN Revenue recognised that was included in
ERRBA contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:
HE R Education services 1,690,074 1,356,250

(i) EBHEH
B4 E TS

HY o

RRBIREHEER BE28
MEBBBREREBEF I 2B LW

(i) Performance obligation

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and tuition and boarding fees are generally received in

advance prior to the beginning of each academic year.
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5.

WA Hft s g (&)
REEFEHNZWA (F)
(i) EHNEH (&)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

(i) Performance obligation (Continued)

20258 A31H - T BB A& B At 31 August 2025, all amounts of transaction prices related to
NRXSERSHEEHAER—FRNERE performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
WA - MiRIE B A B 7% 3k &5 &£ A 81557 within one year and as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
Firfr WEBRESIREZERER (X price allocated to these unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
O REKR)BHHRSZERK- contracts is not disclosed.
20254 20244F
2025 2024
AR T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hp g5 & 125 Other income and gains
Pl 75 4 2= Service income 193,142 177,153
e W Rental income 138,996 135,124
BRt = (K7itE) Donation income (Note (a)) 48,046 49,827
S 7 B Government grants 34,036 30,871
RATH B W Bank interest income 24,487 20,590
N EREFEE Fair value gains, net:
BRATFEGFAERD Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 22,578 -
P 5 UK 2 Foreign exchange gain - 1,040
P E Mg Gain on wealth investment products 271 637
H At Others 9,721 8,205
Hib iz Ri2e= 85 Total other income and gains 471,277 423,447
Kiita): Z%eRBRETEREATREEHREG IR Note (2): The amount primarily consists of external donations of electronic devices
TAEEMEINIINBREEHEHETE and software related to teaching activities to promote integration between
BENETFRERT- industry and education and cooperation between enterprises and colleges.
S =g 6. FINANCE COSTS
BEERADHTMOT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

RITEREEMERF B
HEREME

I IR A FEFABEN
TREBENN S AE
B BAACH S

wEt

20255 20244F

2025 2024

AR¥ TR ARMEF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

Interest on bank loans and other loans 135,957 159,489

Interest on lease liabilities 435 289
Total interest expense on financial liabilities

not at fair value through profit or loss 136,392 159,778

Less: Interest capitalised (20,605) (31,910)

Total 115,787 127,868
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7. PBR® AER 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REBBRBRADE R DEME (GFA)UATE The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
B ES:
20254 20244
2025 2024
iokz3 ARET ARMEF T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B R AR AR Cost of services provided 1,676,398 1,535,575
BEBAMASZ (TBRIEESE K Employee benefit expense
BE1TH A BB (A75728) )+ (excluding directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (note 8)):
IER¥® Wages and salaries 1,002,659 871,680
BAREFEER (E8E Pension scheme contributions
G 8 (defined contribution scheme)* 73,824 66,828
et Total 1,076,483 938,508
M- WEREZETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 73 262,232 236,774
WEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 14 8,855 9,083
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(a) 42,089 36,566
Hihmp & EHEHE Amortisation of other intangible assets 17 32,777 27,888
e W Rental income 5 (138,996) (135,124)
I 48 Bh Government grants 5 (34,036) (30,871)
REFAHEEEFEL Lease payments not included in
HENIEAE the measurement of lease liabilities 15(c) 357 199
1% SR % B Auditor’s remuneration 4,600 4,500
AT B Bank interest income 5 (24,487) (20,590)
MR ZRE F8 Foreign exchange differences, net 4,083 (1,040)
B S EWGIE  FEF0R Impairment allowance for trade receivables,
b e U SRIE K A Ath éf? prepayments, other receivables and
B other assets 19 1,712 1,027
?ﬁ%?))‘iﬁ Impairment of goodwill = 516
NFE (UEm) EEFE Fair value (gains)/losses, net:
BRATEFAERS Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss (22,578) 17,057
HEWE WELRZEBHEER Loss on disposal of items of property,
i} plant and equipment 3,794 1,159
* BB R ATAAEE (FREZ) ANRIER * There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to
Eﬁi KK T o reduce the existing level of contributions.
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8. EEBERESITHAEHM 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
BRI ETRA] - BB D AEHIZ383(1)@) (b) () Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
EOBGUAE ARG (BBEESMEER)HROE pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
A BE L FANES &= T A B Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
N Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

20254 20244F

2025 2024

ARET AREF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

we Fees 797 842
E b 2R A - Other emoluments:

e EMREMRER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,069 2,751

FRIBMHBIEL Performance related bonuses 6,104 2,829

RIKEET 83K Pension scheme contributions 144 141

IR Subtotal 11,317 5,721

et Total 12,114 6,563
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EERESTHRASEHM (&) 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)
AN BIFHTESE (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
REASZHFBILIIERTESNES W The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
N year were as follows:
20255
2025
bR 8
A= 421 £ 3] X2 Rikg
weE RENEA HBEEA BRERX SRR @t
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total

ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - - - 316
YTHEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 263 - - - - 263
FRERL Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada* 218 = - - - 218
797 - - - - 797
TRBL LT H2024F128108 L EZ T BT : Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada was appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 10
FHITES- December 2024,
20244
2024
VA& 1
e 28 Ess) IR Rk e
we KREWER BHEL  BREMX SRR @t
Salaries,
allowances Performance  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense  contributions Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTRE ARMTR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BERERE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - - - 316
TrHRET Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 263 - - - - 263
BLEEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 263 - - - - 263
842 - - - - 842
FRN BERNBIIIENTEENEM There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
SR (20244 - f®) © executive directors during the year (2024: Nil).
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8. EENRESTTHRAEHM (&) 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)
(B) HITES (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
20256
2025
YL
e EZH E 3] X2 Rikg
we RENEA HBEEA BRERX STEIMN @t
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total

ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

PEHEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan - 3,396 2,813 - 42 6,251
AN % Mr. Zhao Shuai* - 1,263 3,291 - 102 4,656
BB RE" Mr. Chan Tung Hoi** - 410 - - - 410
- 5,069 6,104 - 144 11,317
B EABRTARRREER AR A EENT - Mr. Zhao Shuai, who acts as a director of the Company, is also the chief
Be executive officer of the Company.
PR 08 % & H§2024F12 510 H #E FA B 52 I # * Mr. Chan Tung Hoi was re-designated from an independent non-executive
TEERTRPTES - director to an executive director with effect from 10 December 2024.
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EENBETHRAEHM (&) 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(B) HMITE=E (#) (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
FAN-BEEMNITE S E MR There were no other emoluments payable to the executive directors
(20244F : 4&) during the year (2024: Nil).

20244
2024
VARR 1
5o 28 =5 SENpd RRE
we KEVER HETL BRERS SRR @t
Salaries,
allowances Performance  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense  contributions Total

ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETRL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

FEHEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan* - 1,324 1,710 - 57 3,091
HELAE Mr. Zhao Shuai - 817 792 - 68 1,677
BEELL Ms. Shen Chunmei** - 610 327 - 16 953
- 2,751 2,829 - 141 5,721
FEFEERARNRBPTESHREEFS = . Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, who acts as an executive director of the Company, is also the
& e chairman of the board.
AEBZ T A2024F2A28A BT HITE * Ms. Shen Chunmei resigned as an executive director with effect from 28
E February 2024.
FRN TELHEBFEFEESITSITEHA There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
EWNERREREEMETH - executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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9. EEEREFMES 9.
FRN AEREFNEERIEMABE S (2024
FWEESR) HEMAFBSHN X8 o
BT =R (2024F : Z R )RR A EEh &
STTBRAENGESTMEE 2FAHEFE
R

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
(2024: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2024 three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

20254 20244F

2025 2024

ARET AREF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

e RMEKEYEN Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,264 2,411

FINMEBIEAL Performance related bonuses 3,526 1,169

BRIREET I Pension scheme contributions 160 156

@t Total 6,950 3,736
FHNFATHENIFESRIEESTEHA The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
ENsEaiMEEHBENT employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T
1,500,0017% 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7T £2,500,000/% 7T
2,500,001} 7T %3,000,000/% 7T

@t Total

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000

EE#A
Number of employees

20254 20244F
2025 2024

- 2

1 1

1 —

1 —

3 3
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10.

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the
year.

According to the Decision of the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress on Amending the Private Schools Promotion Law, which
was promulgated on 7 November 2016 (the “2016 Decision”) and came
into force on 1 September 2017, private schools are no longer classified
as either schools for which the school sponsor(s) require reasonable
returns or schools for which the school sponsor(s) do not require
reasonable returns. Instead, the school sponsor(s) of a private school
may choose for the school to be a for-profit private school or a non-
profit private school, with the exception that schools providing nine-year
compulsory education must be non-profit.

On 14 May 2021, the State Council released the Implementation Rules
for the Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC with an effective
date of 1 September 2021 (the “2021 Implementation Rules”). The 2021
Implementation Rules are the detailed implementation rules of the Law for
Promoting Private Education of the PRC. Pursuant to the 2016 Decision
and the 2021 Implementation Rules, a private school may enjoy the
preferential tax policies, which are not defined under the 2016 Decision or
the 2021 Implementation Rules, as stipulated by the related government
authorities and a non-profit school may enjoy the same tax policies as
those enjoyed by a public school.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group’s
schools in the People’s Republic of China are still in the process of
classification registrations.

According to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax Policies for the In-
depth Implementation of Western Development Strategies, certain
qualifying entities/schools of the Group that are located in Yunnan,
Guizhou, Guangxi, Gansu, Hubei Province and the Tibet Autonomous
Region engaged in the encouraged business are entitled to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15%. Huihuang Company was subject to
PRC income tax at 9% under the Tibet Autonomous Region’s preferential
investment policies for the year ended 31 August 2025. According to
the Preferential Policies for Key Pilot Zone of Development and Opening
Up (“EZhFIZ 5 B2 &) in Ruili City, Yunnan Province, certain
subsidiaries located in Ruili are entitled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate of 9%. Other entities/schools of the Group established in
Mainland China are subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on
their respective taxable income.
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10. FRrE® (&) 10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
H b [ B ER B s A B9 B IR T AR IR AN E 4K Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
AR AR RITHEGE - of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET AREF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
Bl &R Current
FRXH Charge for the year 192,804 147,544
ERE (H75225) Deferred (note 25) (26,366) 9,442
FRWIAX LA Total tax charge for the year 166,438 156,986
BARRIRERIE M BRABMERE#ERER A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
B9 0% TE B 3R 5T & 09 bR 75 BT v A E A /9 IR B statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority
YHEEERHEFENRBERAIEERNT of its subsidiaries are domiciled and operate to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:
20254 20244
2025 2024
ARBT ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
B 354 A A Profit before tax 995,599 913,060
BEEMETENTIE Tax at the statutory tax rate 248,900 228,265
BEAMHNEKEETH Lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted
R = by local authority (88,190) (92,838)
B AR E R FEEAME H 2 F|  Effect of withholding tax on earnings remitted and
ZTENBEE anticipated to be remitted by subsidiaries - 19,002
BANBRX Expenses not deductible for tax 1,754 6,162
FESNORR R B M B A RT3 Tax credit arising from additional deduction of
EENTIEE R research and development expenditures of
the PRC subsidiaries (4,250) (1,938)
E e R BT AIH R IE E 18 Tax losses utilised from previous periods - (6,540)
RAERMHIEEE Tax losses not recognised 8,224 4,873
BEAEEEBRMETEMNIHIE  Tax charge at the Group's effective rate
X 166,438 156,986
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12.

BMERMERMET B E2025F8A31ILEE
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g =\

HE2025F8A3IHIEFET EEZZRER
Bo024FEREREDBBARRNABITHH
ERUBRRBRMDURBEE SN A NER-

BAREBERRRELGESRAER

FRERAZFeBHREFAS AR L EKR
% B P {5 i FI N FF R EE 7T E SR 1,685,933,014
A% (20244F : 1,554,250,9630% ) & i@ A% hn#E F 15
HETE -

EREERNEBIRES QA TARRKR
BAEFRBMFTE (HER) (RT3 &
ERFANEERMNEFIHAHESRE
AAMAANFEFRZETENNEBREE
AR BERMEREEE NN EBRBRIEE
TTHRFIHBKEBRRFEATRERTHOE
38 P B DR S 25 B o

11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was proposed during the year ended 31 August 2025. The
final dividend for 2024 was settled in the form of new fully paid scrip
shares of the Company in lieu of cash.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,685,933,014 (2024
1,554,250,963) outstanding during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent where applicable (see below). The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

ERERARBERFNFTEER: The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:
2025 20244F
2025 2024
ARET R AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
& A Earnings
SHEFIREAREFIFTAZE AR Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
I 37 A% A% 2R 1k 4 the parent, used in the basic earnings
per share calculation 829,161 756,074
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12. BRRIEERBREAELSTRERF 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

(#&) EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (CONTINUED)
BOBE
Number of shares
20254 20244
2025 2024
f& 19 Shares

FTESREABNFBAZEA Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BTN B INE & outstanding during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation® 1,685,933,014 1,554,250,963

BETE LB IETHE :  Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares:

i s e Share options** = -

BE Total 1,685,933,014 1,554,250,963

* BROMEFBEARAFEETROOTZE - * The weighted average number of shares was after taking into account the effect of

treasury shares held.

* H E2025%8A31H IFFE KE £2024F8A31H 1+ - The effect of share options on the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
FE - RITESREBEERFSC2BBRESSR August 2025 and the year ended 31 August 2024 was ignored in the calculation of
ERBFNTE REAASKRITEBRESNZS diluted earnings per share as the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-
BREARFCEAERBELE - dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts presented.
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13. ME -BERZHE
2025%8H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BB ERMTE 8 E202548A318 IEFE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

31 AUGUST 2025

202459 1R -
A
2iHE

REFE

720249818
SRR NE
AE

HE
FRGHRITE
BRATRETIR
HREERANE

202558731 H -
BMRRARE

R2025%8731H :
RAE
25T E

REEE

At 1 September 2024:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 September 2024,

net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation provided during the year
Transfer from construction in progress
Transfers from investment properties

At 31 August 2025,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 August 2025:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

B HEXE RE  HEREE ETRE ERIRE EHY
Leasehold Motor  Furniture and Electronic ~ Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARBTT AR%Tn AR¥TR AR%Tn AR¥Tn AR%®Tr AR%ETx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
5,421,222 53,681 11,726 668,365 301,046 547,234 7,003,274
(564,205) (24,648) (9,887) (284,684) (170,121) - (1,053,545)
4,857,017 29,033 1,839 383,681 130,925 547,234 5,949,729
4,857,017 29,033 1,839 383,681 130,925 547,234 5,949,729
8,536 6,919 944 41,882 54,744 480,890 593,915
(1,832) (25) (69) (1,470) (255) - (3,651)
(119,622) (8,589) (994) (81,945) (51,082) - (262,232)
316,265 1,094 19 60,376 12,632 (390,386) -
1,793 - - - - - 1,793
5,062,157 28,432 1,739 402,524 146,964 637,738 6,279,554
5,745,406 61,669 11,349 756,128 362,342 637,738 7,574,632
(683,249) (33,237) (9,610) (353,604) (215,378) - (1,295,078)
5,062,157 28,432 1,739 402,524 146,964 637,738 6,279,554
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13. W% -WENISKE (&)
202448 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
31 AUGUST 2024

BF HEEE RE REREE BrRHE TRIE @t
Leasehold Motor Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings ~ improvements vehicles fixtures (evices in progress Total
ARBTFT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
202359718 : At 1 September 2023:

KA Cost 4,996,586 48,439 12,835 575,290 264,852 380,003 6,278,005

Z2iME Accumulated depreciation (454,566) (16,021) (9,752) (222,680) (134,375) - (837,394)

EEEE Net carrying amount 4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
20235 9A18 - At 1 September 2023,

SR REE net of accumulated depreciation 4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
NE Additions 10,630 4,789 61 57,690 32,768 644,490 750,428
HE Disposals - - (1,536) (2,528) (312) (160) (4,536)
FRERITE Depreciation provided during the year (109,639) (8,627) (764) (73,829) (43,915) - (236,774)
BREERIR Transfer from construction in progress 414,006 453 995 49,738 11,907 (477,099) -
2024587318 At 31 August 2024,

SR EsNE net of accumulated depreciation 4,857,017 29,033 1,839 383,681 130,925 547,234 5,949,729
2024587318 : At 31 August 2024:

KA Cost 5,421,222 53,681 11,726 668,365 301,046 547,234 7,003,274

Z2iME Accumulated depreciation (564,205) (24,648) (9,887) (284,684) (170,121) - (1,053,545)

BEEE Net carrying amount 4,857,017 29,033 1,839 383,681 130,925 547,234 5,949,729

MR2025F8 A3 H EAFENAEARE
784,360,000 T (20248 A31H : AR
905,361,0007C) & TEFDERBEWEME

g e

At 31 August 2025, the application for the property ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book value of approximately
RMB784,360,000 (31 August 2024: RMB905,361,000) was still in
progress.
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14. REYHE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

20254 20244

2025 2024

ARET ARMEF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

REY 2 RHEE Carrying amount at beginning of year 393,364 402,447

HREEBYE Transfer to owner-occupied property (1,793) -

FAFHRITE Depreciation provided during the year (8,855) (9,083)

RERZIREE Carrying amount at end of year 382,716 393,364
H8A31H : At 31 August:

(DN Cost 448,244 450,120

2FiE Accumulated depreciation (65,528) (56,756)

BREHE Net carrying amount 382,716 393,364

NEBNEENELTREREEEREEN
BFERLHWERE AR EZERESY
¥ E BHLEBRETREDEARE
ME-REBLYEGEMETHMHBE BE
Y2 R EMFH A A RES86,000,0007T
(202498 A31H : AR ®871,000,0007T) °

ZEREMERBLKEHELETE=7"
E- PR EFITEHN P ERKRMES -

RFEER

RFEBRTFAREEEN A FEFER
BRE=F-ARIHEREMERFENRG
BERMAMBAREREE MEEMEMLE
ZEIZHABEBEAGIHEEEER HeBER
R ENREE R

The Group’s investment properties are the buildings and land use rights
leased as canteens and shops. The directors of the Company have
determined that the investment properties are commercial properties,
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The
fair value of investment properties is estimated to be approximately
RMB886,000,000 (31 August 2024: RMB871,000,000) based on
valuations performed by an independent property valuer.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The level of fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurements
for disclosure purposes are categorised as Level 3. The valuation
technique used in assessing the fair value of investment properties is
the discounted cash flow method, and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties are estimated rental value, rent growth, discount
rate and long term vacancy rate.
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15.

HE
AEBEREEA

AEEARREXBLENRIEYWENE
EAa 4 -BRANMEDL — IR M KA R BT
BHE LT HHRIOE0F MBREBEZEL
WA E R & AR S E A FRIE - I
NREYFEOHBE /1525 - —RME
REBTAMAEEUIINATEEL S HEME

15. LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the government with lease periods between 40 and 50 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.
Leases of office premises generally have lease terms between 1.5 and 5
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.

(a EFEHBEZE (a)  Right-of-use assets
FR - AEBEFRAEEEFEAELE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
m movements during the year are as follows:
AL
WMAEYE HERE wmEt
Office Prepaid
premises leasehold land Total
ARETTT ARETTT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
MR2023F9HA1H As at 1 September 2023 15,580 1,062,911 1,078,491
NE Additions 2,074 56,719 58,793
WEEHR Depreciation charge (8,233) (28,333) (36,566)
PR2024%8 A31H As at 31 August 2024 9,421 1,091,297 1,100,718
M2024F8A31H & As at 31 August 2024 and
202459 A1H 1 September 2024 9,421 1,091,297 1,100,718
NE Additions 17,164 217,290 234,454
WEEH Depreciation charge (9,468) (32,621) (42,089)
A E A BSHHI%E ¥ Revision of a lease term arising from
BB HiE 5T a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease (453) - (453)
720258 A31H As at 31 August 2025 16,664 1,275,966 1,292,630
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15. fHE (&) 15. LEASES (CONTINUED)
TEBEREBEA (F) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)
b) HEEEF (b)  Lease liabilities

()

FRHEBBZREERESHNOT
the year are as follows:

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
REVZEREE Carrying amount at beginning of year 5,397 9,745
MHEE New leases 17,164 2,074
FRAEHRANNENEEE Accretion of interest recognised during the year 435 289
(NES Payments (8,129) (6,711)
FHET A HEH B % & M2 Revision of a lease term arising from a change
MEMEET in the non-cancellable period of a lease (232) -
RERZEAEE Carrying amount at end of year 14,635 5,397
DT A Analysed into:
B ER &8 Current portion 6,286 4,100
JEBNEAEL Non-current portion 8,349 1,297
HEABENEESB MR RERWF The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36 to
36 FE © the financial statements.
REZANEZNHEERBZRENT (c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as
follows:
20255 20244
2025 2024
AR¥ T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEBEFE Interest on lease liabilities 435 289
FHREEECHEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 42,089 36,566
MG E AR MBI (5F A Expense relating to short-term leases (included
HEXARITBRAXZ) in cost of sales and administrative expenses) 357 199
ME A AR Revision of a lease term arising from a change
BB A HAE 5T in the non-cancellable period of a lease 453 -
RIBEANERFIB AR Total amount recognised in profit or loss 43,334 37,054
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15.

*ﬁﬁ (n\ﬁ)
AEBEEREBEA (F)

(d HMEBRSRHLER
?ﬁ&% °

A B 7% 3 2% BT 5£30(c)

AEEMEREHBA

AEBBRECLEHAETHBAERREREH
BREETEHBWENREYE (HiE14) -
ZERENKFBEFERAP X HERE
CYRBEERMRITMRETEHESH
B-FRNAEERZNEASRABARE
138,996,0007T (20244 : A R #135,124,000
T0) B E R SRR MRS o

75/\2025¢8)5]31 B -BEAEEREFEEEAR

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 30(c) to the
financial statements.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of
several commercial properties in the schools and academic buildings
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB138,996,000
(2024: RMB135,124,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.

At 31 August 2025, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the

CREAEMNEUKIIFHERBNOT Group in future periods under operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

20254 20244
2025 2024
AR¥ TR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—F RN Within one year 76,177 98,335
—F LA EEMFA After one year but within two years 59,751 74,745
MENEBE=FUA After two years but within three years 37,961 47,080
ZF A FENFIARA After three years but within four years 18,115 16,831
MFELEBERFEUARN After four years but within five years 7,254 5,287
HEFLE After five years 16,648 4,028
et Total 215,906 246,306
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B
1

20248 A31H -
AR
RERE
BREHE

R2024F8 A1 A MK A « 41k 25TRE
FERRE

720258 A31H

202558 A31 8 :

16. GOODWILL
AR®ETF T
RMB'000
At 31 August 2024:
Cost 752,021
Accumulated impairment (516)
Net carrying amount 751,505

Cost at 31 August 2024, net of accumulated impairment 751,505
Impairment during the year -

At 31 August 2025 751,505

At 31 August 2025:

B AR Cost 752,021

2FHRE Accumulated impairment (516)

R FE Net carrying amount 751,505
BE R E R IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
FEREBZEMHBENIEDO>EZ TR Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the

B A AL A TTRE B E

o HNERIRESELE

e EBERRESELEM

s HEERRTSELEM

s ERERRAELFM

e EEBEERRASELFEM
s RUEBRRESELHE

e IRBAREELEM

s ERERREELFM

following cash-generating units for impairment testing:
° Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit

o Luoyang School cash-generating unit

° Gansu School cash-generating unit

° Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

o Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
o Northeast School cash-generating unit

° Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit

o Central China School cash-generating unit
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16.

BE (&)
BmERENR (&)

RREFRSIEESHSELAEMNNEERE
HENT :

16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each cash-generating unit at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

20254 2024%F

2025 2024

AR¥ T ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BMBRIRGEESM Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit 380,452 380,452
BEERREGELESM Luoyang School cash-generating unit 195,364 195,364
HRERASCELEMN Gansu School cash-generating unit 129,321 129,321
EBHERRGEEBM Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit 28,982 28,982
ETHBEERBEEEAEN Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit 16,353 16,353
RUABRREGELESM Northeast School cash-generating unit 750 750
ERERRGESLBM Central China School cash-generating unit 283 283
Bt Total 751,505 751,505

TR CELBENSAMARESREIEE
REEBMENATFHVFEEERENES
HEBNAERAEEFELET - ANEE
FBAAFHReELAENUZREREZ
REIE R E 52.0% (20244F :2.0% ) °

FHE EIR & B A B (7 R 20255 K&20244 B
FREEN ASEEFEAZERZ - TR
MEBEAETAERENAMEENE S
MERAMKENSEETZRE:

BERA-FBREHESBIERELEER
BEEHRRMGHTAEL -

BEENX-BEEM TREENEZNEED
AMARNERFEFEN —FERNFHE
M= (IR BAMERTHT) RIAH T 5 5
=

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating units
has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by management. The long term growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows of the above cash-generating units beyond the five-year
period is 2.0% (2024: 2.0%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the above cash-
generating units for 2025 and 2024. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.
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BE (&)
BmERENR (&)

MAMBRR-FAMRRSHRRAAE B
RRERBELERNTERR I2E8
BRBERPEARETERREFZETA
MEMARZEBLERERERNEEEER
AEE - HEBERCELEUNEREER
B MR ARG R R T

16.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Pre-tax discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units, which are determined
using the capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta coefficient
and debt ratio of certain publicly listed companies conducting business in
the PRC education industry. The pre-tax discount rates used in the value-
in-use calculation for each cash-generating unit are as follows:

BMERBRCEEEM
REERREEELEEM
HRERREELEN
EREERAEELEM
ERBEERACELEM
RIEERBEELEEM
tRBEReELEM
EFRERACELEM

Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit
Luoyang School cash-generating unit

Gansu School cash-generating unit

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
Northeast School cash-generating unit

Central China School cash-generating unit

20254 2024%F

2025 2024

16.7% 18.0%

16.6% 17.7%

15.2% 16.4%

16.0% 16.9%

19.6% 19.8%

14.6% 16.1%

Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit - 14.0%
16.0% 16.4%

REMRCELENANMSERIBEERDN
FETEBRMAE THEERIIDER KR
e

ARBMESFCRHAIEBRRNEEAEE
B UHRANEHZERRE TR AMOA
EMHEE ERAXFETEEYRNUGE
BeELBEM A WE SRR HE M2 85 RN
EMEREFER FEFSHNATKRESED
ERNEKREIE-

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of the
cash-generating units and the discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The directors of the Company have estimated the reasonably possible
changes in the key assumptions and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavorable possible values were assigned to those assumptions, the
recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any consequential
effects of such assignment on the other variables used to measure the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, would still exceed its
carrying amount,
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17. Ht B EE

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2025%8H31H

2024F9 A1 H B K AN -

R Rt
NE
F RRT 1R 5
HE

7202598 A31H
20258 H31H ¢
%N
RET 5

fREFE

202458H31H

202359 A1 H AR A -

FEHNRR R At
NE

FNET IR 5
7202498 A31H
H2024F8A31H -
AR
R AT

FREDF(E

31 August 2025

Cost at 1 September 2024,

net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Amortisation provided during the year
Disposals

At 31 August 2025

At 31 August 2025:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

31 August 2024

Cost at 1 September 2023,

net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 August 2024

At 31 August 2024:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

B4 BEFEBE#% mEt
Client
Software relationship Total
ARETT ARETTT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
88,771 - 88,771
41,288 - 41,288
(32,777) - (32,777)
(3,962) - (3,962)
93,320 - 93,320
230,991 - 230,991
(137,671) - (137,671)
93,320 - 93,320
83,154 192 83,346
33,313 - 33,313
(27,696) (192) (27,888)
88,771 - 88,771
193,279 1,200 194,479
(104,508) (1,200) (105,708)
88,771 - 88,771
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HMERBEE 18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
20255 20244F
2025 2024
AR¥ET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
T Hb 5 AR TR FOR Prepayment for land use rights 110,892 262,318
YE W= M RETBARE Prepayment for property, plant and equipment 12,889 30,926
BET Total 123,781 293,244
ESREKWZRE -ANFE -HMmEYW 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RERHEMEE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
20254 20244
2025 2024
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
=) e Trade receivables 1,358 5,439
W EEEERE Less: Allowance for credit losses (13) (1,387)
REFE Net carrying amount 1,345 4,052
R % Eo At JE U GRIR Advance and other receivables 70,921 75,220
ENER Prepaid expenses 8,309 7,716
e N E AW GETR BB Deposits and other miscellaneous receivables 29,543 24,767
BT#X Staff advances 8,078 6,489
HET Total 118,196 118,244

EBEREANERBEREETE SRR
RIEBEIN LA EBRMEEER -BEX
ARNABBEUBERANTRAES S MH A
HREDE (AREPBAULFR) -fEHE
RRRTHBENESR EBKREEAL
BEAMAESHERBEFMH ERMAR
RARREBEMRRTAANEERAIXFTER -

An impairment analysis for trade receivables is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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19. ES5EWNFRE-FBENHE - HMEUW 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

MERHMEE (&) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
TXEHNBEASEE S EWRFIBEEBEE Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
FEEMEERBBOER: Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
2025%8H31H 31 AUGUST 2025
2ag
Past due
B8 HME 1225 2B 3B4E 4ENE o
Less than 1to 2to 3to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
BHEEBER Expected credit loss rate - 0.29% 1.04% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.96%
BERE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) - 107 1,251 - - - 1,358
BHEEEE (ARETT) Expected credit losses (RMB'000) - =+ 13 - - - 13
* &3O ARE1,0000T * The amount is less than RMB1,000.
20245 8H31H 31 AUGUST 2024
[l
Past due
BN & PIME 1526 253F 3B4F 4EPLE @
Less than 110 210 3o QOver
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
EHEEFER Expected credit loss rate - 0.29% 0.98% 42.66% 60.72% 100.00% 25.50%
BEAE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) = 2,380 915 661 1,003 480 5,439
EHEEHEE (ARETT) Expected credit losses (RMB'000) - 7 9 282 609 480 1,387
RBEHARANEZRERRFBEIZRR S B H L An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the reporting
BREEBEENRRTOT period, based on the transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:
20256 20244
2025 2024
AR¥ TR ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FA Within 1 year 107 2,373
—EMF 1 to 2 years 1,238 906
e =F 2 to 3 years - 379
=FMU QOver 3 years - 394
HET Total 1,345 4,052
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ESREWRE -FBEARE - HMEIK) 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
REREMEE (&) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
BSREBAENEESEREZSHNT The movements in the allowance for credit losses in respect of trade
receivables are as follows:
g5 EWRE
Trade receivables
AREF T
RMB'000
R2023F9H1H At 1 September 2023 4,924
FRERBEEE Impairment loss recognised during the year 1,027
F M Write-off during the year (4,564)
7202448 A31H K&2024F9A1H At 31 August 2024 and 1 September 2024 1,387
FRERBEEE Impairment loss recognised during the year (389)
F A8 Write-off during the year (985)
202598 A31H At 31 August 2025 13
BReRBEBEEEY THERK BEE 20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME DEPOSITS,
AR ZREFRK PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS
20254 20244
2025 2024
B 5F ARE T ARBT T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Re MRITER Cash and bank balances 807,650 1,547,003
EHF R Time deposits 919,507 774,661
INEF Subtotal 1,727,157 2,321,664
B EEEER Less: Pledged deposits for:
fﬁ'ﬂ%%ﬁ&ﬁ{ Bank loans and other loans 24 (878,357) (928,105)
HEGFR Project deposit (1,152) (3,284)
E b 2 BRHIR1T 4 £ Other restricted bank balances (18,882) -
REVE R R EE B Non-pledged time deposits with original
HEE=E Az SR maturity of more than three months
TEHATE 3K when acquired (40,949) (10,669)
REMBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 787,817 1,379,606
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21.

BeRkRcEEBY EHEFR-CE
HRZREFR (&)

Re RBITEBRUATIEEEE:

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME DEPOSITS,

PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

The cash and bank balances were denominated in the following

currencies:
20255 20244F
2025 2024
AR®E T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR #& RMB 1,599,872 2,256,724
g GBP 1,047 671
ETT Usb 101,456 22,153
BT HKD 24,782 42116
R& MIBTTH Cash and bank balances 1,727,157 2,321,664

ARBTEAHEBMAREMER - R RIT
RE A OMNEBEIEGD) K (EE - EE R
NEEERE) AKEAEZEERERAR
SMNEXRBHIRITHARE L RKEMBER -

RITHEBEEERTHERMNEAENF
BHEXFE-RHEHNEFRANEFRARFAR
SENARREFTRMAEMTR LirE B
7 E B RN R BREUR B - SRIT R BR ME
HERDEFRREBOIRENCHEAEER
o B ERTT ©

BHNAE
BHAREFBOT:

21.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2% Tuition fees
FTEE Boarding fees
AEHBERE Total contract liabilities

20258 A31H 202458 H31H 2023%9H1R

31 August 31 August 1 September
2025 2024 2023
AR®T ARBTTT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
1,431,680 1,479,013 1,169,514
239,479 211,061 186,736
1,671,159 1,690,074 1,356,250
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

BHNEE (&)

BB E BRI KR AR B RS M 2
EZRHBR-AKEREE2FHRBAAR
BEMNBELRERE-ZEREREREMN
REERPRRLIBER - 2EAREHR
REMBERGESER

R20254F K2024E8A31H A BERL T
FTEHRKESENEBRAEBTBRIOND
Frak -

HtENRERESER

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from students
in relation to the proportionate services not yet provided. The Group
receives tuition and boarding fees from students in advance prior to
the beginning of each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are
recognised proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable
programme. Students are entitled to a refund of the payment in relation to
the proportionate services not yet provided.

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 August 2025 and 2024 was
mainly due to the decrease of advances of tuition and boarding fees from
students.

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20255 20244F
2025 2024
AR¥ TR ARBTF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEYE BEREED Payables for purchase of property,

& 5RIE plant and equipment 128,240 212,204
JE - R 2 Dividends payable - 149,304
E h JE T 5RIE Other payables 134,201 137,443
FEGTHIEAL Rt 2Rk Accrued bonuses and social insurance 170,007 121,850
ML IR TEE B (#/it@)) Miscellaneous expenses received from students

(Note (a)) 100,919 109,526
JE A<HER A R ZREM HY R AT 48 B Government subsidies payable to students and

teachers 94,000 87,090
Ze Deposits 66,865 66,563
A AR Advance from lessees 58,235 53,943
EstEH Accrued expenses 31,628 11,332
& IEERKIA Payables to cooperative schools 1,793 4,228
Bt Total 785,888 953,483

ERERTEER LT R - RER ARE
BEANIH AR REREFERNE
HEREQFEHES-

Hrit@: BABEFREENSERROEEER HREL
S e

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amount of other payables and accruals at the end of the year
approximated to their fair value due to their short-term maturity.

Note (a). The amount represents the miscellaneous expenses received from students which
will be paid on behalf of the students.
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23.

24.

TTE€®mI A 23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
20254 20244
2025 2024
=R BfE&E
Liabilities Liabilities
AR T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
) 2= 45 B J2 SN B A Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange options = 16,169

AREECDR202E7TA14R&BETES R T

The Group settled the derivative financial instrument on 14 July 2025.

/E{ o
FTERITRHEAMMER 24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
20255 20245
2025 2024
ERAZE M AR¥ETxn BRFIE I8 ARETR
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000 interest rate Maturity RMB’000
(%) (%)
ANER Current
BEHAEITER Bank loans — secured 1.35-3.65 2025-2026 638,570 1.55-3.80 2024-2025 1,149,457
BEMEIBETEZ  Current portion of long-term 3.20-4.80, 2025-2026 187,029 3.20-4.80 2024-2025 340,596
KB ERES & bank loans - secured SOFR+2.20
BEMEHEMES  Current portion of long-term 8.00 2025 498 8.00 2024 1,308
K BN ERES & other loans - secured
XK Transaction costs (4,640) (5,253)
Mzt — BN Total - current 821,457 1,486,108
JEENER Non-current
BEMFETER Bank loans — secured 3.30-4.80, 2026-2034 1,782,474 3.30-4.80, 2025-2034 2,022,931
SOFR+2.00 SOFR+2.00
T HKA Transaction costs (4,869) (9,600)
Bt —3EENE Total - non-current 1,777,605 2,013,331
Bt Total 2,599,062 3,499,439
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24, SFESBRITREMER (&) 24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

20254 20244
2025 2024
AR¥ET T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
DT Analysed into:
JEEEIRITEK: Bank loans repayable:

R—FA Within one year 820,959 1,484,800

REZF In the second year 260,661 394,091

REZFEZERF (B In the third to fifth years, inclusive

BEEME) 999,524 1,288,007

HBRAF Beyond five years 517,420 331,233

NE Subtotal 2,598,564 3,498,131
FEEE SR Other borrowings repayable:

R—FR Within one year 498 1,308
IR Subtotal 498 1,308
@t Total 2,599,062 3,499,439
Biat - Notes:

AEBMBITREMERATIELFE: The Group's bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
202545 2024%F
2025 2024
AR¥T AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 2,031,849 2,936,152
e USD 567,213 563,287
st Total 2,599,062 3,499,439
R2025F8A3IH A TIRITER L EAMIERK As at 31 August 2025, certain of the bank loans and other borrowings are
BT SEELER: secured by:
() ANEBEETHBERRZRE: () equity interests in the Group’s certain subsidiaries:
(i) ZFEESETHEAER(KE33@)) ; (i) personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note 33 (a));
(i) ANEBERASEWNBARZEIHRAE (i) corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
[ Group; and
vy AEEBEMNES @8 ABARE (iv)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB878,357,000 (note
878,357,0007T (B &E20) ° 20).
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24, GTESERITREMMER (&) 24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
R2024F8A3IA A THRITERLEAMIER As at 31 August 2024, certain of the bank loans and other borrowings are
BT SEELER: secured by:
() AEEETHBRARZRHE: (i) equity interests in the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
(i) ZFTHREEITHEAER (HE33@) (i) personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note 33 (a));
iy AEBEEAEEWBATELNRGIE (iiy  corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
wm R Group; and
ivv "EBE MR 28AARE (iv)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB928,105,000 (note
928,105,0007T ( Ffi5F20) ° 20).
25. IEIE U= 25. DEFERRED INCOME
20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R ) At beginning of year 377,859 324,750
NE Additions 12,335 77,624
BAER Released to profit or loss (23,573) (24,515)
REFER At end of year 366,621 377,859
R BVERER Less: Current portion (18,477) (15,003)
JEBNEA SR & Non-current portion 348,144 362,856
BEEW s E THEREMKE MBI Deferred income represents the government grants received as subsidies
P-ZERNMBREBEENTEEA (£ A in connection with certain leasehold improvements. These government
FHIAE AExm - grants are released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the

relevant assets.
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BB ERMTE 8 E202548A318 IEFE
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26. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are

as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

20254
2025
W B Bt B A R
E£Z2AYE
BB AR Hit #5t
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries Others Total
ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
720245 9H1H At 1 September 2024 19,002 167,255 40,848 227,105
FRIBE/ (;tA) Deferred tax charged/(credited)
BREMNELHIE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (19,002) (4,574) 17,848 (5,728)
72025F8 A3THEIEIE  Gross deferred tax liabilities
HMEEBHRE at 31 August 2025 - 162,681 58,696 221,377
BEEHBEE DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
20255
2025
ALK 8
BARARER SREE ARERH
'ON REFE BANEE REREAN @t
Losses
Unrealised Impairment available for
income losses on offsetting
received financial ~ against future Unrealised
in advance assets  taxable profits profit Others Total
ARETT AR®TRT AR¥Tn AR%Trn AR¥Tr AR¥Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2024F9A1H At 1 September 2024 2,731 6,694 2,062 16,669 32,346
ERX(MBA) /A Deferred tax (charged)/credited
BaiMELEHE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (430) (108) 15,907 4,330 20,638
H2025F8 5318 &) Gross deferred tax assets
EEREEERA at 31 August 2025 2,301 6,586 17,969 20,999 52,984
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26. EEBIIE (&) 26. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
ELEREEE DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
20244
2024
W EE BT B A A
EXzr¥E
M B H 5
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries Others Total
ARBTFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
720235 9H1H At 1 September 2023 7,858 171,731 36,468 216,057
FARMBE/ (GFA) Deferred tax charged/(credited)
BRarMELERIE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year 11,144 (4,476) 4,380 11,048
R2024F8 A31 B RYIEE  Gross deferred tax liabilities
PEa GRS at 31 August 2024 19,002 167,255 40,848 227,105
BEEHBEE DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
20244
2024
A 8
BRARER SREE  RRERW
LN REEE HEANER  KEREM Hito it
Losses
Unrealised Impairment available for
income losses on offsetting
received in financial  against future Unrealised
advance assets  taxable profits profit QOthers Total
ARETR  ARETR ARTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
A2023F9A 1R At 1 September 2023 3,000 7,211 1,688 15,347 3,494 30,740
ERX(MBA) /A Deferred tax (charged)/credited
BERNELERE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (269) (517) 374 1,322 696 1,606
202458 A31H K Gross deferred tax assets
EEFIEEERE at 31 August 2024 2,731 6,694 2,062 16,669 4,190 32,346
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LEJNEBNME BB ARES2,984,0007T
(20244 : A R #32,346,00070) K & TR
HEENBREDCRYBMRRAERPEE-UT
ARV BEREENME ANEERERIBESRE
B AT -

BB ERMTE 8 E202548A318 IEFE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

26. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
amounting to RMB52,984,000 (2024: RMB32,346,000) have been offset
in the statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

20254 20244
2025 2024
ARB T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A B IS AR L R TSR AV IR IE Net deferred tax assets recognised in

HMIEEEFE the consolidated statement of financial position - -

RIEA BN RERAIEL  Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in
I B EF R the consolidated statement of financial position 168,393 194,759

AEBENEBERETEAMMNKREEBEAR
#137,468,0007T (20244 : A R#17,742,000
L) MABEEBER—EZRAFREE  7JH
LA B8 5K 2R P SR A v I3 4 o

AATHEBRADACHGERE —REBHN
MEARELERRAE TNARIRER BRY G
MABERENEBE RY AL THIEA
EERERRCHEEE -

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB137,468,000 (2024: RMB17,742,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following
tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

IE K18 Tax losses

20255 20244
2025 2024
AREF T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
19,009 11,682

BERERABEIRAEERAERER UE
AREEBRRERVENERBBHEMNR
RR-ZERBEBRIN —ERFREH-

BE (PREDSEMSHE) - KPR
RN E D ERIIEREES RN EA
0% R AN FE I FL - 5% #R E B20084F1 A1
BiE 48 BEAR2007F12A31BEEF -
fis) B P 3 2 SN FE IR B B RARE R ] AL B
WE IRAREBHINHBE ANEERZE
7 Hr B H K 32 /9 BT /@ A B) B20084F1 A1 R
BRTEEZFDIKMORSHMMTBENT - AN E
BETHEBARR20FNEEEEREH
B R A2023F E4E 0 20209 2025 @ B M

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable
profits is probable. These tax losses will expire in one to five years.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008. Certain subsidiaries of the Group
obtained the Certificate of Resident Status of Hong Kong in 2020, which
was renewed in 2023, and the applicable rate was changed to 5% from
2020 to 2025.
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26.

27.

iﬁﬁﬁlﬁ (nlﬁ)

M2025F8A3TH AEBETESE THEAR
A)TEER A O] 7B R oK 2R BE A 2 2 1) 7 3R 40 BE IR
TR T B {E (20244 « A R #19,002,0000T) °
BRRZEE VB RERBERN I R202558
AR HABRELEHBEEEOTREHAM
WEBARMKERBEREZEALNAAR
#3,414,827,0007T (20248 F831H : AR ¥
2,662,060,0007T ) * B @8 2 ) 78 HA i B A B T
BRRREBM TSN ER KKE AING K
BE-ZEEZRR ZERTREMNBRETLHEH
WA RAEBLENER BEZSHBR

26.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 August 2025, the Group did not recognise relevant deferred
tax liabilities (2024: RMB19,002,000) on earnings anticipated to be
remitted by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. Other than
the amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements, at
31 August 2025, the aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB3,414,827,000 (31 August 2024: RMB2,662,060,000), for the
earnings expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be
remitted to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the directors, such remaining earnings will be retained in Mainland

AINATBRARRAEITE D IRZEH TEN - China for the expansion of the Group’s operation, and it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such remaining earnings in the
foreseeable future.

R 2 27. SHARE CAPITAL

% 12 SHARES

20254 20244F
2025 2024
ARET R AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEITRER: Issued and fully paid:
1,971,941,7830% (20244 : 1,971,941,783 (2024 1,549,622,630)
1,549,622,6300% ) & A% ordinary shares 1,367 1,063
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27. B (48) 27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
B (4&) SHARES (CONTINUED)
RATREAZEE P T - A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:
BOEE &5 L]
Number
of shares Amount Amount
ARMEF T
FET &
RMB’000
USb’000 equivalent
B aEf: Registered: 2,000,000,000 200 1,355
ERTRAR: Issued and fully paid:
R2023F9H1H At 1 September 2023 1,555,250,630 155 1,067
EAES &Rl ) Repurchase and cancellation of shares (5,628,000) ) @)
20248 A31H At 31 August 2024 1,549,622,630 154 1,063
FERE KTk Ge Repurchase and cancellation of
(Hit(a) shares (Note (a)) (6,888,000) ) (5)
BL2024F R EARR £ 1T  Issue of scrip dividend for
PARR R B B 9 2024 final dividend (Note (b))
(Ht&tm) 429,207,153 43 309
7202548 431 H At 31 August 2025 1,971,941,783 197 1,367
Kiit@ : B E2025F8A3MHIEFE AR RARE B Note (a): During the year ended 31 August 2025, the Company repurchased 1,552,000 of its
22 P B8 Bl E1,552,0000 e 1D - MR B A AR shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at a total consideration of RMB2,291,000,
2,291,0007T * AT A% {0 B& BD & 85 (20244F - AR all of shares had been cancelled immediately. (2024: the Company repurchased
A) B B 22 BT (21 H010,964,000% & 15 - 2 KB & 10,964,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of
AR #18,118,0007T * H #5,628,000/% % 15 b AP RMB18,118,000, of which 5,628,000 were cancelled immediately and the remaining
FEEH - 18R T AR (0 BE 1R 72024 FF 11 ARESY) © shares were subsequently cancelled in November 2024)

Btatm) - AR FIHR2025%F3 A17H % 17429,207,1530% i% 15 Note (b): The Company issued 429,207,153 shares as the settlement of final dividend for
LAE 120244 R EHAR B, 2024 on 17 March 2025.

B R AE SHARE OPTIONS

KRB ERERSFBRBIEFAEHITHE Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options

% A BB A B 745 R 3% B 5E 2814 © issued under the scheme are included in note 28 to the financial

statements.
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28.

BRESE

RAREEE—BERETE ([58)) 87
ABEPASEEERINAEKRSHEERM
HBEREFR-TENAER2EERFEARD
RIES (PRBEYIIENTES) A5EEHEM
EERASEERIRE 2 HED FTERN
201793208 £/ BRIESBITTEUE S AEE]
BRI BAZARERTE-

BEFTS - BRIESR FHRRITEERED
EaHEBATERMEENN LA (A
201748198 ) AR R B 1T 1510% » FEE
A+ =—@APEA BRIEBERERTSNET
FZHEERZEEZHTORNESHE R
RARGHERFHEEZEITRGD 1% - ER 8
M RERNE — PR BREACREER
HARGH -

BRPFARBEE HZR{TRABRETER
R E AR ANEREALCBIERNTT
EEELIOE AN WEEM 6 A B
NEFARRAEBREHIBIIEHNITE S K
HEAMBEANEMERE BRKRQAME
A B 2 3 171D M90.1%sk B 1E (BB AR
ARELBEHORGER) BBRE8EE T
BRI REBLRERRAS LA

BTBRENZHAINREBHASET TN
AAER THARAINEEREALRE
Lo FIERNBREZITEMIHERET I
RZELFFBEBHEMAE ERTEREK
BEHHBEFDFNFTEER A HTE (X
BREERE) -

BREZ2TEFERESET ETIBERMU
TzEe®E: ((AARKRHGZHEE: ()ARA A
BHOREBERESZHHBEBIZWHE:
KA RRIRMREZZOE BRI AR S
BEBX W mE-

FEREYL A TR A AR SRR EEREX
SRR ZHER -

BIEAR T R2017FIA20B KA 2 512 &
ZE20254F R2024F8 A3 B IFEE W M IF H
R% 1 -

28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group and suppliers of goods
or services to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 20 March
2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the Listing
Date, i.e., 19 April 2017. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HKD5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HKD1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period
of three to five years and ends on a date which is not later than five
years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares; (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; and (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

Under the Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March 2017, there
were no share options granted for the years ended 31 August 2025 and
2024.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during

the year:
20255 20245
2025 2024

miEFS JiliE: B
TEE BREZE 7B EREER

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
SRER T4 SRET F13
HKD per share ‘000 HKD per share ‘000
M9R1H At 1 September 4.576 5,512 4.350 13,364
FAE R Forfeited during the year 5.330 (17) 3.917 (687)
FALER Expired during the year 4.574 (5,495) 4.212 (7,165)
M8A31H At 31 August - - 4.576 5,512

REE20255F8A3IHIEFEE  AEETMEBER
REVETTIE (20245 - 4E) o

RBEMRBRTEBREZITEERITE

BN

HE2025F8A31H  WERKITHEZBIE-

202448 H31H

(2024: Nil).

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31 August 2025

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 AUGUST 2024

As of 31 August 2025, there were no share options outstanding.

BREHE TEE
Number of options Exercise price 1T 53 Exercise period

6 BRET
’000 HKD per share
537 3.110 2020%10H21H £2024510H20H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
568 3.110 20215F10H21H £2024510H20H 21 October 2021 to 20 October 2024
766 3.110 2022F10H21H £2024510H20H 21 October 2022 to 20 October 2024

1,092 5.330 2021F7H23H £2025F7H22H 23 July 2021 to 22 July 2025

1,092 5.330 2022%7H23H £2025F7H22H 23 July 2022 to 22 July 2025

1,457 5.330 2023%F7H23H £2025F7H22H 23 July 2023 to 22 July 2025

5,512

H E2025F8A3H I FE - AEE I EER
EEBAAER S (B E2024F8A31HILFE -

&) -

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during the year
ended 31 August 2025 (year ended 31 August 2024 Nil).
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29. fE1E
AEERAFEERBEFENEESERE

PREMBEERNGAERRHERNRT -
CET

AEEMEAREBEEAEENB QR E KR
BEAEANBANIE -FANTREASE
WEE AR B — [ MY B B JF P A AR A K A
BEFERD -

EERHMBHRHE

REFEREBEZR A2RNTENERQG
BEREENIBETADKFEES (BE
BTENBARMNETEET) %SHRBE
BOEREERFN —REMH Li)BRAYE
BREE-

() BREPERAE ALEEETHBAGF
ERRELE ARREBEFETE S
ZE BI| P B FE B BR B 1ROE M AV10% ) B =
HEBMNATERHE EEHBES
HZBaEMEARm50% &+ FH A DA
P E TIRGIHRR T - #8005 E B8
REBATELEMER EERNERNE
B TME R R B AN E925% °

RETBENERBEEES 52021594
THE Z2FERREBREAKEBER
TLORI0NEEZFREABaNEE
BRES MIFLENUEBRABAHES
BRADRI0%H TR G EEFELER
REREEMDBERRES -BRESD
AR BRMERN M ERBEREBOHER
Bl AR

(i

30, MEBERERMT

FEHRERS

FRN AEBERBLABEMHEEZTES
FELEFHAREELTHEREIERS
B ARME17,164,0000T (2024F - AR
#2,074,000T) & A R #17,164,0007T
(20244 : AR®2,074,0007T) °

(A)

29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions from
the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries. The deduction during
the year represents the decrease in the Group’s net assets resulting from
the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary of the Company.

STATUTORY AND OTHER SURPLUS RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-
distributable reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of the
relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) the general reserve
of the limited liability companies; and (ii) the development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their
respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50%
of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to registered capital, provided
that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital.

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, since
1 September 2021, a for-profit private school is required to
appropriate to the development fund not less than 10% of the
audited annual net income of the relevant school while a non-
profit school is required to appropriate to the development fund not
less than 10% of the audited annual increase in the non-restricted
net assets of the relevant school. The development fund is for the
construction or maintenance of the schools or the procurement or
upgrade of educational equipment.

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB17,164,000 (2024:
RMB2,074,000) and RMB17,164,000 (2024: RMB2,074,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for office premises.
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30. FEBRERERMT (E&) 30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(B) BMMEFTBELECZEBGED (B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
20254 2025
HBITR
Hih B HEEE et
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities Total
AR®ET T AR¥T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2024 9H1H At 1 September 2024 3,499,439 5,397 3,504,836
MERSREZEE)  Changes from financing cash flows (905,735) (8,129) (913,864)
s New leases - 17,164 17,164
HNPE B B Foreign exchange movement 5,358 - 5,358
M2 HH Interest expense - 435 435
A M E A BUsE HE %A & Revision of a lease term arising from
mE S EEET a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease - (232) (232)
PR2025%8 A31H At 31 August 2025 2,599,062 14,635 2,613,697
20244F 2024
wITR
HME K HEBE 4T
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities Total
ARBTF T ARBTFIT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
MR2023F9AH1H At 1 September 2023 2,708,508 9,745 2,718,253
BERCRECE Changes from financing cash flows 783,580 6,711) 776,869
HEE New leases - 2,074 2,074
SN B &) Foreign exchange movement 7,351 - 7,351
AEFZH Interest expense - 289 289
20248 A31H At 31 August 2024 3,499,439 5,397 3,504,836
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30. EHERERWE (E) 30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(C) HEEMNHEABRER (C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
AR RERCEBAENBELR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash
BT flows is as follows:
20254 20244
2025 2024
AR®EFT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FFAKEEEA Within operating activities 357 199
FFAREBEEEA Within financing activities 8,129 6,711
FFAREEEA Within investing activities 29,794 133,861
@t Total 38,280 140,771
31. EEEH 31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RAEEBRTERER - AESHEEFBR Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank loans are
R KM 7E24 © included in note 24 to the financial statements.
32. E&E 32. COMMITMENTS
AREBRBEHREUTE RFEE: The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the

reporting period:

20254 20244
2025 2024
AR¥ET T ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
DRI AB R B Contracted but not provided for:
N & Property, plant and equipment 418,894 567,851
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

BRZEVMERREMFEREIRS R In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
Eaoh REBERFNEBBAEOTR S financial statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year:
(A) A Bﬁf?fifﬁﬁﬁ AKEETEBKRTR (A) As set out in note 24, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
HtW B ARFRERER- and other loans were guaranteed by Mr. Li.
(B) AEBEIEEEARNMSE (B) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE
GROUP
20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEERAM Short-term employee benefits 20,276 10,849

B EBIHR

Contributions to the pension scheme 518 427

MTEEEAEXZMHEHISE  Total compensation paid to key management

personnel 20,794 11,276

FAZEERERTRARMEME—F Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments

FHBHN B WMRMIEES -

are included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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34, €RITENDSE 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
RBERR SHELRTENEEENT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

20254 2025
THEE Financial assets
REHERAGE
HNERmEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
AR¥T
RMB’000
FTAB S EWIA - A RIE Financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
HtEWHRBEREMEENSREE other receivables and other assets 109,887
EHF R Time deposits 40,949
2R & PR 647 5K Pledged and restricted deposits 898,391
RehB2SED Cash and cash equivalents 787,817
Bt Total 1,837,044
THERE Financial liabilities
REBHEAERTE
Hemas
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
ARET T
RMB’000
SFAEMEMRIEREFERANSE A Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 526,018
sHERIRTT R EMERK Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 2,599,062
HEBs®E Lease liabilities 14,635
#wEt Total 3,139,715
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4. eRMIAENSE (&) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

2024 2024
THEE Financial assets
BEEK AT E
MemEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

ARET T
RMB’000
FTAE S EWHRIE B RE Financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
HhE WG BEREMEENSMEE other receivables and other assets 110,528
EHFR Time deposits 10,669
B & R #1775 Pledged and restricted deposits 931,389
ReERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,379,606
HBET Total 2,432,192
THEE Financial liabilities
BAFERTA REEKATE
BamemaE MNemasE st
Financial
liabilities
at fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss amortised cost Total
AREFIT AREF T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FFAE D FE S 3R K Financial liabilities included in
EirERNeREE other payables and accruals - 766,358 766,358
TEEMTA Derivative financial instruments 16,169 - 16,169
FFBIRIT R E AL B K Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings - 3,499,439 3,499,439
HEBE Lease liabilities - 5,397 5,397
wEt Total 16,169 4,271,194 4,287,363
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35.

ERTENAFERAIFEER

AEBsRMITANKREERR FE (KRR
BEEAVEREMEENERTAIN)MT:

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to
fair values, are as follows:

CREE Financial assets
BEHEARZREFR Pledged and restricted deposits,
JERNERES & non-current portion
cHERE Financial liabilities
TEemT A Derivative financial instruments

SHERITER R EMMEF Interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings

BET Total

REE DYV E

Carrying amounts Fair values
20254 20244 20254 20244
2025 2024 2025 2024
ARBT ARETT ARBT R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
489,744 100,000 490,155 100,121
- 16,169 - 16,169
2,599,062 3,499,439 2,604,687 3,502,444
2,599,062 3,515,608 2,604,687 3,518,613

EEEDHE RERBECEEY CDHEAR
ZBRGI RN  ERER FABRDE
WORIE - FEN SRR R EWGRIR R B &
MEMEE FAHEBENREARESER
MEMBEENAFEEEFRMERE T8
EHRZETANIHARE-

AEBUNERVBERENYBHMEEE
A BBUR °

TRMEEMBENATFEMZTIANRBRAR
ZHEBANRS (@BFHHEERI) F
MR ZEBEAR TXEIARMG R FE
B30 R R AR

EEBEZRHGER  CHER FERITR
HMERFENHX >N A FEREEREFIK
FTEERREG TFHRTAMRE AL
L LA B TEHR R 2R 3R € M 25T & - 70202548
A31H BHRAEBEAZHNFTERITREM
BRI E SRR mERNRAFEE W
HEBMIRE-

AEBBRERFELTRE AP BEAMBRT
BITMEMERRINERE  ARBIRAR
BEResREMBMER RIFABLUGRTRE
SR TAEMNMBNE AAZEFHRLTERE
BN FAE -

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged and restricted deposits, time
deposits, financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is
responsible for determining the policies.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of pledged and restricted
deposits, time deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The change in fair value as a result of the Group’s
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 August 2025 was assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
investment products and foreign exchange options issued by banks in
Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on
the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.
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3. ERMITENAFTERAFEER

TRIPAEERTANRFEFERER:

BAFEISTENEE:

R2024 % 202598 A31H » AN & B W & T ] 4%
NFEFENEHEE-
BAFEITENERE:

R2025F 8 A3 1H  AEB I ETMIZAFE
rEMmemas-

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair value as at
31 August 2024 and 2025.

Liabilities measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 August 2025.

7202458 A31H
As at 31 August 2024

TEemT A Derivative financial instruments

DYEFEMARE

Fair value measurement using

ISER IR L EXABR BAIUER

wmE B ABE o A B

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable unobservable

active markets inputs inputs
(B—#) (£=8®) (F=/) it
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBEFL  ARBFLT  ARBTL  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- 16,169 - 16,169
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5. M ITAMNAFERAFEEEHR 35 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

(#&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
ATEER (F) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
EHELFENEE: Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
202558 H31H DNTEFERAHE
As at 31 August 2025 Fair value measurement using
RERTIZH EAATEE EAFTAHER
#BE WARE [N ¢
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(F—%&) (5=#&) (B5=#&) #at
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥ETR AR¥T R ARETR AR¥ET R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BIRIR R ZRHIFR Pledged and restricted deposits,

e non-current portion - 490,155 - 490,155
A20246F8 A318 N EFERAEE
As at 31 August 2024 Fair value measurement using
R E B T% ) BEAAEHE BATIEER
WwE PN € AR
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(E—%) (B=H) (B=#&) et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETT ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BEARZREFR Pledged and restricted deposits,
JERNERE0 7 non-current portion - 100,121 - 100,121
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5. EMIT AN A FERAFEEEHR 35 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
(1

) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
ATEER (F) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
EHELFENEE: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
202558 H31H DNTEFERAHE
As at 31 August 2025 Fair value measurement using
RERTIZH EAATEE EAFTAHER
#BE WARE [N ¢
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(5—%) (5=#&) (B5=#&) #at
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTR  ARMTRE  ARETE  ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

STEBRTER R EAMER Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings - 2,604,687 - 2,604,687
A20246F8 A318 N EFERAEE
As at 31 August 2024 Fair value measurement using
R E B T% ) BEAAEHE BATIEER
WwE W A BUR W A B
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(E—%) (B=H) (B=#&) et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETT ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

SERITERREMMEF Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings - 3,502,444 - 3,502,444
FRN - eHEENAENATEFETESRE During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
F—REF_H2EER TEESALED] between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into and out of Level 3 for
B (20245 - ) o financial assets and liabilities (2024 Nil).
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HEREERERBEE

AEBNEIZER T AR EBRITREM
ER R kRSFEY THEFARER
REEZRHIER - ZEFeRTANTIZAE
ERAKSENRLEERES - AKEEES
BEHEMESMEERAGB WHEEERES
M FEUWRIE  Ef N RIBE R ERT B

AEESHTASKNEZRR SN XER
EERR IERBRERDECRAR -EFS
RE IR A% E R b 2 B K 19 E B0 BORAR
s e

SES

AEEmBOMSNEEHNAKEEER
SENFERTERBHE -BRONXRE
A HA I B % R R MY 24 B

7 82 90 36 5 52 R £ £ ) 6345 90 DA oo L 7 B
B 5 LG -

TRAPEMAEHMEERFTTIENOBERT
AEBERBAGENENESEAIEESH R
BRE(BBZEERMZNZE)WNT:

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits,
and pledged and restricted deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and
other payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The Board of
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a floating interest
rate. The interest rates and terms of repayments of the borrowings are
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

The Group has not used any interest swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)
as follows:

LA (T RR B A0 R
B () /#Em

Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) increase

in basis points in profit before tax

20255 2025

AR RMB 50 (5,417)
AR RMB (50) 5,417
20244F 2024

AR RMB 50 (6,189)
AR RMB (50) 6,189
FERR CREDIT RISK

EERREHF IEEIXTHEETEAGNE
EMmERNBRER AEEIEREFE =
TEBAZEFTEERR -EXREEFHN
FRRT ZFRTHASEFEELEZNTA
BB - AEEHRNSRAEERRARAES R
ReEEM CERARRRIIEFER T8F
R E 5 EWERIR TR R - B A YRR
REMEEMNKEE-

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of
a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations. The Group has no
concentration of credit risk from third-party debtors. Deposits are mainly
placed with licensed banks which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk refers to the
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, pledged and restricted
deposits, time deposits, trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables
and other assets.
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BHEREREEEERBXK (H)

FERRE (&)
REEBRAFRETH

TRETREBEASBENEHBERREHRNER
mEMRAREERRBO ZBEREIBER
BENBHER (RIFEMEHELRAEBE
ZRARBEANBRTAER)  AREBES
ASTHMERN BN B -M2JNESERT
BMEEMIREE-

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 August. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

20259831 H As at 31 August 2025
+-@EAEH
FEFR 2HEREEFE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-EE FoEE F=EER b 5% @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARET T ARET T ARETF T ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BT E R Financial assets included in trade
FENFIE M EWEIER  receivables, prepayments, other
HtEERNsREE receivables and other assets®
— & — Normal™* 108,542 - - 1,358 109,900
EEARZRHGFR Pledged and restricted deposits
— W) AR L R ~ Not yet past due 898,391 - - - 898,391
TR Time deposits
— W AR L R — Not yet past due 40,949 - - - 40,949
BeRBEeEEY Cash and cash equivalents
— A8 — Not yet past due 787,817 - - - 787,817
@t Total 1,835,699 - - 1,358 1,837,057
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36. HEEAKEEEEREE (F) 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
EERE (#) CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
RERBHERT R (&) Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R2024F8 31 H As at 31 August 2024

T EARS

210

FEBE 2HRHBEEER
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
£-BE FERE F-RE A% @it
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
FAB S EMGRE Financial assets included in trade
BERFE EfEUFIAR  receivables, prepayments, other
EWEENCREE receivables and other assets*
—EE™ — Normal™ 106,476 - - 5,439 111,915
EEARZREIFH Pledged and restricted deposits
— A8 — Not yet past due 931,389 - - - 931,389
EHER Time deposits
— A8 — Not yet past due 10,669 - - - 10,669
ReRBEeEED Cash and cash equivalents
— A8 — Not yet past due 1,379,606 - - - 1,379,606
@t Total 2,428,140 - - 5,439 2,433,579

v RAARKERA @S REEN[E 5 ERFE-
ENRE HMBEFEREBEE] ANE 5 &
WK TR F R B AR I RO A R B A SRR I
19 EE -

- HREANE S RUGRIE TR FOR - A URIR
REMEE RERNFBEANESBEE WAE
B BYEARKRBZEREE AV RERANR
EERBBEEEM BRAEEEERRIER]-
BRI EREENEREAZBRE [R5 -

HRAREEENZREERIFNFE=T7E
IR WUBETMNERR - EERRES
EREF/HFFURMBBOSITEER R
SEYTESEETHEERR-

For trade receivables included in “Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables
and other assets” to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, and prepayment for investments is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk
are managed by analysis by customer/counterparty and by geographical
region. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.
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BHEREREEEERBXK (H)

S BE 2 B

AEEEHEBRSMREEFEY R
REMEREENEERE -

Ti‘«%??tﬂﬂﬁ’\}\ﬁﬁg%%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ?m/\
AREEE) EMBAHEMEBHERT TENIS
/RT BAREENRE RO A S (F
\A“ﬂ%éﬁ)&ﬁﬁﬁ’] FEEDH) WHRE
DT

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rates of RMB
against USD and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

ERBRUER ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁu
(TE)E£# W),
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
increase increase
in USD and in profit
HKD rates before tax
% AR®EF T
% RMB'000
20254 2025
i AR H ETEE If RMB weakens against USD (5) (22,953)
MARE R ETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 22,953
AR HETLEE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) 1,214
MAREHLABTHA If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 (1,214)
20244F 2024
MAREHETRAE If RMB weakens against USD (5) (26,599)
WMARBHETHEAE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 26,599
MAREHBTRAE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) 2,058
WARBEATHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 (2,058)
REBESEE LIQUIDITY RISK

AEBAREEERSE S E TAEE
ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ@kﬁﬁﬁilﬂ%f%mﬁxéﬁﬁ
MEEMENIHABRARREBELEXHHE
FARERE -

ALREE A BFARTER T?ﬁﬂxﬁa%}
HEABEREMFSEFRRFESHE LS
BERMZHEH -

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans, convertible bonds,
lease liabilities and other interest-bearing loans.
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36. AR EEEERBE (&) 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

REBEcRER (&) LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

AEERNHERRERAGHORBAM TN
BEEIHMBERLOT:

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as

212

follows:

20254 2025
REXE =EAR =ZE+=f@A —-Exf @t
Less than 3to12 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
AR¥TR ARBTT AR®T R ARETR AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HEBRE Lease liabilities - 1,916 4,875 8,788 15,579
AERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings - 716,970 755,584 3,104,623 4,577,177
STAEMBEAGARES  Financial liabilities included in
BEAMSRERE other payables and accruals 526,018 - = = 526,018
st Total 526,018 718,886 760,459 3,113,411 5,118,774
20244 2024
REXE —@AR ZE+=fAA —Z8fF B
Less than 3to12 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
ARBETIL AREFIL ARETT  AREBTR ARBETIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HERE Lease liabilities - 1,718 2,677 1,297 5,692
RRTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings - 716,970 755,584 3,104,623 4,577,177
STAEMENZARES  Financial liabilities included in
BRNEHEE other payables and accruals 766,358 - - - 766,358
Bt Total 766,358 718,688 758,261 3,105,920 5,349,227
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36. BEAREEEFERER (H)

EXER

AEEEAEENIEERABARAEEN
FEKLERNREFRBRNELR LR UX
SEEBLERREERAL-

AEEBTLARIEBEABREETRABERN
VTRELEERKINESHRFHEEENRR
BHREREEAEBIYHEELFAE -5
BIRFAAREAEE AEESTHERN
FREMRES REBEARFTRESR /TR
MoAREBRZEMIIBERERKLOR - HE
20254 K2024F8A3IB L FER  AEER
EAERERE BRIBEFHELCAES-

REEMRNEEABLRNT:

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group regards equity attributable to owners of the parent as capital
and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 August 2025 and 2024.

The debt-to-asset ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

20255 20244
2025 2024
ARET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
BE®HE Total liabilities 5,814,449 6,905,478
EEMBAE Total assets 10,768,859 11,017,239
BEAGBLX Debt-to-asset ratios 54% 63%
37. HEHERER 37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
R ERREBMEBELMNEANSIE- There are no significant events after the end of the reporting period.
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38. A AE BB AMRR &K 38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

AARRBERROFHRRKR ZERAT

20254 20244
2025 2024
ARET AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
P INGIE: F Interests in subsidiaries 451,165 451,165
FREEE Right-of-use assets 583 1,221
ERBEELE Total non-current assets 451,748 452,386
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
ReEhBeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 18,743 53,534
B & X R #1175 R Pledged and restricted deposits = 2,334
TE B3TF 5K Time deposits 40,949 10,669
Al ENGIE @ E] Due from subsidiaries 2,899,221 2,394,573
MEEERE Total current assets 2,958,913 2,461,110
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FFEIRIT R EABER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 596 626
EM @A R ERE A Other payables and accruals 565,979 404,904
mEBERTE Total current liabilities 566,575 405,530
REBEEFEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,392,338 2,055,580
EEABERRBER TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,844,086 2,507,966
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FFERITREALE K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 558,731 554,736
IERB A EAERE Total non-current liabilities 558,731 554,736
BEFE Net assets 2,285,355 1,953,230
% EQUITY
& A< Share capital 1,367 1,063
EFRG Treasury shares = (8,050)
W (W) Reserves (Note) 2,283,988 1,960,217
B Total equity 2,285,355 1,953,230
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AR HMBERREK (&) 38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Byt - Note:
ARBFEEZBENT A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
EX
R3RE BERfEE BREMGE B1Em A HENfEE “t
Share Exchange
Share Capital option Retained fluctuation
premium reserve reserve profits reserve Total
ARBEFT AREFT AREFT ARBFTT ARBEF T ARBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2023%8A31 A 44  Balance at 31 August 2023 1,131,914 446,239 19,706 152,828 (16,875) 1,733,812
FAZEMW =L Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - 392,695 (6,922) 385,773
B 5 JE20234F AR HIA% S Final 2023 dividend declared - - - (149,304) - (149,304)
MR REEKRN Repurchase and cancellation of
shares (10,064) - - - - (10,064)
EM R W fEimE  Transfer of share option reserve
EREREREE upon the forfeiture or expiry of
share options - - (12,191) 12,191 - -
202458 A31H At 31 August 2024 1,121,850 446,239 7,515 408,410 (23,797) 1,960,217
FRE2ER =L Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - (27,796) 1,007 (26,789)
B2024 5 R HERAX B 81T Issue of scrip dividend for 2024
BARR R B AR 1 final dividend (note 27)
(H1at27) 360,896 - - = - 360,896
B LRy Repurchase and cancellation of
shares (10,336) - - - - (10,336)
MBS Wk fEimiE  Transfer of share option reserve
EERERERE upon the forfeiture or expiry of
share options - - (7,519) 7,515 - -
7202558 A31H At 31 August 2025 1,472,410 446,239 - 388,129 (22,790) 2,283,988
B R R IR 39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk O R20255F11 A28 EE S it E The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
& i Board of directors on 28 November 2025.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HE20214E HZE20226 HE20235F Hzo024% B 220255
8A31H 8A318 8A31H 8A318 8A31A
HEE HEE E5E HFE LFE
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
KEEE 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
Results of operations 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
AREFT  ARETRT ARETRT ARBETT ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 1,497 455 1,921,752 2,119,140 2,411,710 2,599,427
EH Gross profit 667,163 750,415 806,004 876,135 923,029
8/ ERFHE Net profit for the period/year 591,797 630,212 703,289 756,074 829,161
AT AT Attributable to:
NEHEAA Owners of the parent 567,824 620,003 703,289 756,074 829,161
20214 20224 20235 20245 20255
8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31H
BERARE 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
Assets and Liabilities 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
ARBETT  ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR¥T:R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets 6,590,227 7,596,836 8,050,080 8,677,331 9,413,250
MEEE Current assets 1,341,896 1,476,299 1,192,919 2,339,908 1,355,609
MEEE Current liabilities 2,609,083 3,163,350 3,656,468 4,333,235 3,511,958
VEIN=REbE Net current liabilities (1,267,187) (1,687,051) (2,463,549) (1,993,327) (2,156,349)
BELERADERE Total assets less current liabilities 5,323,040 5,909,785 5,586,531 6,684,004 7,256,901
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 2,130,733 2,733,071 2,053,720 2,572,243 2,302,491
Bl Total equity 3,192,307 3,176,714 3,532,811 4,111,761 4,954,410
I ER Property, plant and equipment 4,091,258 4,883,072 5,440,611 5,949,729 6,279,554
BekReEED Cash and cash equivalents 775,787 1,081,449 855,060 1,379,606 787,817
EREE Contract liabilities 350,933 973,335 1,356,250 1,690,074 1,671,159
FTERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 2,354,632 3,320,140 2,708,508 3,499,439 2,599,062
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ML X

Financial ratios

KBl E
ERILE (Wit)

Current Ratio
Gearing ratio (Note)

20215 20224 20234 20244 20255
8A31AH 8H31H 8H31H 8H31H 8A31H

31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
ARETT ARETT AR®FR ARBTT ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

0.5 0.5 0.3 0.5 0.4

74.0% 104.5% 76.9% 85.2% 52.8%

Bt BRLESENFRBERABRIAERS ARAGES NG

BRITERREMER

NRAERBERE-

Note:  Gearing ratio equals to ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity as of the end of the
year. Interest-bearing debt equals to the total amount of interest-bearing bank loans and other

borrowings and lease liabilities.

Bene
Cash flows

REEDFEHENERR

Net cash flows from operating
activities

HE20216F HE02F HZE2023F HZE2024F BZ20255
8A31H 8A31H 8H31H 8A31H 8A31H
tFE EFE IEFE FFE LEE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
AREFL  ARETL ARETL ARETLI AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
728,779 1,534,190 1,422,847 1,542,847 1,252,685
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B =
DEFINITIONS

(AR AR s T4

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

R YN

“associate(s)”
[ A

“Ba Mu Pu”

[BlAFNCIN

“Bei Ai Company”

[ RAEBS]

“Beijing Daai Gaoxue”

[t 75 % |

“Beijing Fangzhi”

[E Bt &

“Beijing Lianhe”

e =]

“Beijing New Higher Education”

[E5g]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”
[BOPPPS# £2 48 =X |

“BOPPPS teaching model”

201743 H20B BIEH RN AN A el BB ER A (8 AEHEET)
the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on 20 March 2017, as amended
from time to time

BB ETRAME TaRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ERERBEREAER AR —HER2010F5 248 RIBFFEEEKN LMW AR AR K&
AEAETEEMS.7305%BENF D RBREZ —

Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd.* (R E AREEHE B R A 7)), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 24 May 2010 and one of the New Registered
Shareholders holding 5.7305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

IR ERAEHEREEREMT AR —HR2012F10816 B R E B B A2 K 7 A
ERAF AEESE2EHE - LERRAHBERMME —2E

Beijing Alyinsheng Education Investment Co., Ltd.* At REBEAA KB EERET L 7)), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 16 October 2012, and wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group. Bei Ai Company is the sole sponsor of Gansu School

IRAESE2HEREERAR  —EMR2018F3A2ZATEFREK I HBRAF -
Beijing Daai Gaoxue Education Technology Co., Ltd.* At R A E S E2HBERE AR AR, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 23 March 2018. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai
Group

IRAFEEBLEEEAR AR —MR2020F4 208 RIEFREEEKR L 2 BR
NS

Beijing Fangzhi Yuanlue Corporate Management Co., Ltd.* (3t R 7 B =S (> 2 E B AR A 7)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 20 April 2020

IERBERNAEREAERAR  —BR2014F6 A17TEREFREEEKR TN ER
A REEFEENHZEZENBE QA

Beijing Lianhe Open Education Technology Co., Ltd.* (lt B &S B HHE BRI AR A F), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 June 2014, and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun Ai Group

i

IR HEEERERAF —HAEFEKNINBR LG BEE
BB A R
Beijing New Higher Education Science and Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (1t T ¥ = # &)
2R A R A 71), a company established in the PRC with limited liability and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Yun Ai Group

SENEE

i

KRREEE
the board of Directors of the Company

EAHEL BEEA - KRTMH EiGH 2828 RIHNEE 22—
BAEBLEORERE T EZ ECRR2EATHEEREARNS

bridge-in, outcome, pre-assessment, participatory learning, post-assessment, and summary, a
structured approach to lesson planning that ensures comprehensive and effective delivery of
educational content
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(20244 ) |

“Business Cooperation Agreement
(2024)”

ELL L

“Central China School”

[/
“China” or “PRC”

NGRS

“Companies Ordinance”
[ARR7A

“Company”

[ 1% B AR 3R

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ KEER<TED |
“Corporate Governance Code”

[RERH A

“Daai Shuren”

[E%]

“Director(s)”

[EERESE (2019F) |

“Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019)”

BNl

“Enchang Company”

[ B8 7 3 % (20194F ) ]

“Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)”

B=
DEFINITIONS

AIER - BEEREERREYE PRGEHBEREROCBRRITINESS
VE 1 %

the business cooperation agreement entered into by and among Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen
and Nanjing Jingyuming, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders

I B HE 2R (B AL RIE RN SRIFLEE) - —ER2003F iR A Bl VA &K L HY
BEHERB - EPERAARNANGEHBER

Hubei Enshi College* (481t 2 56 22F5%), formerly known as Science and Technology College
of Hubei Minzu University* (#83t B iR K2 8L 2 Fx), an institution of higher education
established under the laws of the PRC in 2003. Central China School is a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company

FEARKAE BAREME  TREES RFBATRERAE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this report, Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

NEMED (BB EGIF622F ) (AR gEETRER] MRk B517185)
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

PENEHEEAR AR —MR2016F7ASHEREHRSTMA LN ERESE
{E/NEE]

China New Higher Education Group Limited (/P B #7175 2k & B A R 2 &), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8 July 2016

BB FmRARETRRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

LR B ESCIFE B EE R FE R T A
Code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

IRAREMAKREFZRAERA T —HER2018F3A4BEFBEKINER AT -
EREREE>EHA

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting Company Limited* (3t A B #t A B BB IR
73 |)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 14 March 2018. It is wholly owned
by Yun Ai Group

ARAE=R

the directors of the Company

EHREEERESSTARNTEUNERESERES
the school directors’ power of attorney to be executed by each of the directors of each PRC
Operating Schools

BHEANEBETHERREREMTRA —ER2014F11 B13H R IEF BIEE K
VRBERRAR -EREESBE2ERB - BERAAEFERNE—BENE

Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changging Education Development Co., Ltd.* (B i B35 N &
SHBERRAMREML AR, a limited liability company established under the laws of the
PRC on 13 November 2014. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Enchang Company is the sole
sponsor of Central China School

RERER EEEELEBERARSEEFFLHWREL R HZE
the equity pledge agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Huihuang Company and other parties
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B
DEFINITIONS

[BRRE AR ZE (20195 )
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement
(2019)”

[ R i PR 75 &

B IR 1 & (20244 )
“Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy

Agreement (2024)”
[HERER]

“Gansu School”

(RS ]  [5M@ ) 53]

»ow

“Group”, “we” or “us”
[EAER

“Guangxi Schools”

[EPS2REME ]

“Guangxi Schools Sponsor

VLS

“Guizhou School”

Feebrd

“Hainan Pusen”

LNl

“Haxuan Company”

BEAR FREGEHBEEERDERRITVHNBERRAENERZ
the exclusive call option agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders

RYER  BEARRERRRRETRGANBEERII YN BEREMRE RE
SN

the exclusive technical service and management consultancy agreement entered into by and
among Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming and the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities

BMNE BRI ER (AIBBMNE T REBRMN TEEM) - —MR2004F Rk B
BRUNRSEHRERE HFEERABAANGEAHBE R

Lanzhou College of Information Science and Technology* (B8 /1 1= B Rl £ £ F%), formerly known
as College of Technology and Engineering of Lanzhou University of Technology* (B8 JN3% T X
E2 51t T #2 2B%), an institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in
2004. Gansu School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

AAFETKOWELAR P2 EERRGEHEBEER IR FTXEMIE
RAEARBIKABERMEBARMNERARICAMNAEMENEHSELELREH
EREBHNER

the Company, its subsidiaries, the PRC Operating Schools and the consolidated affiliated entities
from time to time, or, where the context so requires in respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of the present subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant time

ERERERFEBRESR BEARMEERRBERNTERRERRERNBRBEES
RMERE s HE EASERAARFNGEHBEER

collectively refers to Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College* (J& 75 5% 2 B BX B 32
E2%), Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School* (& 78 1 M
B F PR B ¥ FUITEEAR) and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School* (&
7 5 2 B S B 2 22 BT BT B P 22). Guangxi Schools are consolidated affiliated entities of the
Company

PNREREHEREAR AT —MR2017F8ABARIBEFEERN 2 AR
N

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Co., Ltd. (SX M HEXEHB R E B R A A,
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25 August 2017

EMIEBESR  —ER012F7AEREFREZERNINRNISSBEHE
i RARAINESHBEES

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute* (& N T 7% B 2 £2F5%), a private institution of formal
higher education established under the laws of the PRC on 3 July 2012 and a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company

BHEAABHAER AR —MR2023F 128218 IRIEFRBAEZK LN ER AR
RAEENZENEB QA

Hainan Pusen Technology Co., Ltd.* (& ®E# B A R AR, a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 21 December 2023 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group

BEBSEREAR AT —ER2016F4 8198 IRIBABEEKTABR AR -
BREARARILBRAM — 2 E

Harbin Xuande Technology Co., Ltd.* (" E3 B BT /2 L 5 B BR 2 71), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 19 April 2016. Haxuan Company is the sole sponsor of
the Northeast School

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT



DEEESS S

“Henan Rongyu”

&)
“HK$” or “HKD"

(&%)
“Hong Kong”

RY=PNCIN

“Huihuang Company”

E=R=R-i
“Listing Date”

[ =R A
“Listing Rules”

[ERHE (20195 )
“Loan Agreement (2019)”

[7558R

“Luoyang School”

[Ek]

“Main Board”

(B &)

“Ministry of Education” or “MOE”

[ CRZESFALD) ]
“Model Code”

(R4
“Mr. Li"

B=
DEFINITIONS

HHEABRABEFRAER AT —HR2017F3A2BRF BRI BER AR @i
RAERE2EMB THEBRASGERNE —RHE

Henan Rongyu Education Consulting Co., Ltd.* (AL B H AR A F), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 2 March 2017, and wholly owned by Beijing Daai
Gaoxue. Henan Rongyu is the sole sponsor of the Luoyang School

BT BERKNEEEE
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong Kong

A A BRI TR
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

FARAEEEFEERBEERAR —HR2016F8 ASARBHREVEREK I KB R
RNE BRAEBNEZERBRA

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd.* (Al KEBIEEERIFE AR A
A)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 5 August 2016, which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

20174F4 H19H
19 April 2017

BT S T RA (B REEET)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time to
time

BEAR PREEEERAEEEEITINENRRZ
a loan agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC Operating Schools
and Yun Ai Group

BERHE B EER - —ER2013F6 ARBHREEER INRISSEEHE KB -
BIEERBAAGIZIEEHBEES

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College* (7% B Rl £ B 2 22F%), a private institution
of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in June 2013. Luoyang School
is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

HEBRMEENEFX S (TEEETS) - B 7B FTGEMIL B B 37 1758
e

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

BB &
the Ministry of Education of the PRC

FHRBIMSRCIFTE w EMBEITAEFETERR FHNIRESTL
the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules

FEEELE ARANEIRA B —EERER EFTSGIERATES
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z &), the founder, one of the Controlling Shareholders, chairman of the
Board and an executive Director of the Company
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DEFINITIONS

[FARR’RH]

“Nanjing Jingyuming”

[#rac &R ]

“New Registered Shareholders”

[FRAL 247

“Northeast School”

[BE&BE]

“Pai Dui Pai”

[PEGEHEER

“PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[F B R ]
“PRC Legal Advisors”

[FPEZESR

“PRC Operating Schools”

[1BixE12 ]
“Prospectus”

EZ e

“Qinzhou Yinghua”

AR=BREEEAERAR —ER2023F12813HRIBEFBEAEKLHER AR
RAEENZENB AT

Nanjing Jingyuming Technology Co., Ltd.* (R =& T AR A 7)), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 13 December 2023 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group

EESEREHERREEREORE NEAFHECEFEEBABRAA
EBRABKRKEMZBERAR SHEERESHT R ETEBARBER R A

the shareholders of Yun Ai Group immediately after the completion of the Equity Transfers,
namely Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., Kunming Bamupu
Technology Co., Ltd., Songming Dexue and Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and
Consulting Services Co., Ltd

BREEESR —HR20UFREFBEEZERYHNRFSEHERB -RILS
REBARABINEEHBES

Harbin Huade University* (V5 §3 /& 2 12 £2[5%), a private institute of higher education established
under the laws of the PRC in 2004. Northeast School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company

EAHEEEEEBBERAR  —HR2010F6 2B RBREEEK TN A
RARKRAFEEEEE20.0568% K EMNFNLERE L —

Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (E2 B3 HE 1t HE £ % 12 B 3% 5
B BR A 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 2 June 2010
and one of the New Registered Shareholders holding 20.0568% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

MERBRERFEEESR SERARANGEHEBEER URAMBIERLE
BHEH (BARKERT) FAREENREZER A A

namely, the School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools, each a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company and other investment holding companies which were consolidated to the Group
by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time

BREERMEBN ARRARTBEER EEER

Commerce & Finance Law Offices, the Company’s legal advisors as to PRC Laws

FAEBBER MEEER  EMEBR HBEER EBER RILBR EASR-
FEPRERREGMERURBEEBESNHAREERNHMER

the consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Gansu School,
Luoyang School, Northeast School, Guangxi Schools, Central China School and Zhengzhou School
and other schools which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts

RNARHEA017F4A BN BRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 5 April 2017

HMREAEHBEREBRAG  —ER2017F8 258 IRIEFBARK LB R
NEWHSHIMEL2ERERE HAMNRELEASRME —BiE

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Company Limited* ($XJ1 ZHEE A EH B R E
BBR A F)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25 August
2017 and wholly owned by Songming Xinju. Qinzhou Yinghua is the sole sponsor of the Guangxi

Schools

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT
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ERE 3 i EBAEHEEEESEABR AR EREBEREREBERAA sHEZERSH
PR EERAARGBERAF
“Registered Shareholders” Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., Kunming Bamupu Technology

Co., Ltd., Songming Dexue and Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting
Services Co., Ltd.

[ &5 HA A & HZE202598A3BILEFE

“Reporting Period” the year ended 31 August 2025

(AR i3 AR -FEREEEEE

“RMB” or “Renminbi” Renminbi, the lawful currency for the time being of the PRC

B2 R | i3 BEERBREZEEE TEELR BHEAF FUNEE - BEQA BN
HoAABERAINRBRBREBE TS O AREE B SR EHE

“School Sponsors” the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou Yinghua,

Enchang Company, Zhengzhou New Higher Education, Bei Ai Company, and other school sponsors
which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts

[ERBRERES i3 BRERE TREEER BRNEPREZTNHEEEZTRBELGEITMNER
BN Z T (20194 ) BPpEREEENEZTH R

“School Sponsors’” and Directors’ the school sponsors’ and directors’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among
Rights Entrustment Agreement School Sponsors, the PRC Operating Schools, the relevant directors appointed by the School
(2019)” Sponsors and Huihuang Company

[BREBRERES (2019F)] 1 BREREUNBEAFRIBARINERENERES

“School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney the school sponsors’ power of attorney executed by the School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
(2019)” Company

[ 75 75 & A& 1601 & BENBEERD (BEEOFENE) (BTEETRMER)

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended and

supplemented from time to time

[ %17 ] i3 AN B RR AN R AR T {E0.0001 35 T A9 X 3 A%

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

[ %5 i EVES TN

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

(IR EE (20195F ) | & RERRAEREEEEURBEEBUESGNHARNEENEMRRUNBEARAR

REmABETHREEES

“Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney the shareholders’ power of attorney executed by the Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group

(2019)” and other shareholders which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured

Contracts in favor of Huihuang Company

[RREFNZERZ (20195)] & LEER ZRERENBERARINERENZEHZ

“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Agreement (2019)” Shareholders, the School Sponsors and Huihuang Company
RN RS i1 FYERRFBARBEER AR - —HR2024FIA N BIRBEFBEEEKRLMBRAF
RAEENZ2ENE QA
“Shenzhen Yuangi” Shenzhen Yuangi Consultation Services Co., Ltd.* (RIIERIFE AR AR A7), a limited

liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 11 September 2024 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group
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DEFINITIONS

[

il

AR

“Songming Dexue”

(S E]

“Songming Xinju”

[ B2 1B EE (201948 ) ]

“Spouse’s Undertakings (2019)”

[ Bk 22 AT J
“Stock Exchange”

[EEHEaw]

“Structured Contracts”

RGPS
“subsidiary(ies)

»

[EZBR

“substantial shareholder(s)”

[EFRAD

“treasury share(s)

»

3
“USD” or “US$”

i

JiE]

]

“Yun Ai Group”

EREEHERRER AT —HR2019F4F17HRBEFRBEEZKRIINBRAR
HPELEL2ERB SHEEARERE s —UHEZE £ E70.8305%.2 Ik ##
Songming Dexue Education Development Co., Ltd.* (S BRE 2 5 2% E AR A 7)), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 April 2019 and wholly owned
by Mr. Li. Songming Dexue is one of the Registered Shareholders and owns 70.8305% equity
interest of Yun Ai Group

EHFELCEETEAR AT —ER2016F10827THBERREEKR L 2 AR A
Al

Songming Xinju Enterprise Management Company Limited* (S BA¥T E ¥ EIE AR 2 7)), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 27 October 2016

HBBERL (FEENRSB) MTORSA

the spouse undertakings executed by Ms. Yang Xuqing, the spouse of Mr. Li

BEABERXSMABRA A
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

XBE1EHE (20245F) - BREMRB R EEZ B (20245 ) - BRAE A%
ek (2019%F ) - IREE 1R 5% (2019%F ) - IR RN Z st sk (20194F ) « BRI
EREEFRNEZTHE (2019F)  SBRB|PERES (2019F) E=HEEE (2019
F) BRERES (2019F) - ERHHE (20195 ) REBEE (2019F ) A R FEE 2
AT B Z A i < SEid

collectively refers to, the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024), the Exclusive Technical
Service and Management Consultancy Agreement (2024), the Exclusive Call Option Agreement
(2019), the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019), the School
Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Shareholders’
Powers of Attorney (2019), the Loan Agreement (2019) and the Spouse’s Undertakings (2019),
and the various agreements entered into their connection

BB FmR AR TR
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB FmRAETrRRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB FmRAETRRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

E - XBREEEE
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

ETHERAYERESERBR AR —HER2005F9R 198 RIBFBEEEXN LN A
BAFR HEAEEHELCEEEZRABRAR ERERHEBEERAT  SHE
BREAFRCEERAZARKER LD F 5 5% F20.0568% * 5.7305% * 70.8305%
$:3.3822%  REEERREMNBREME —LHHE

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Lid.* (EMERHZAEREEERR A
a]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 September 2005,
which is owned as to 20.0568% by Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co.,
Ltd., 5.7305% by Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd., 70.8305% by Songming Dexue and
3.3822% by Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd. and
the sole sponsor of Yunnan School and Guizhou School

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#H =X EBERAT



ELELd

“Yunnan School”

[EFBEER

“Yunnan Vocational School”

[EBM 3T =2

“Zhengzhou New Higher Education”

[ EB M A%

“Zhengzhou School”

k=Nl

“Zhongyi Company”

(%]

n%n

B=
DEFINITIONS

ETHIBER (AEEEERAREHRESR  [R42k]) - —MR2005F R &
FEVZERNUNRRSSLEEHERE RARTNGEAHEBEEE

Yunnan Technology and Business University* (£ TG EF) (formerly known as Yunnan
Einsun Software Vocational College* (E7 & FH AR 8 % Z67) (“Software College”), a
private institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2005, and
a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

EReyEERARAEEIIERAERAR (ELEBAEZERERANERES
B )

Kunming High-tech District Einsun Education and Training School Co., Ltd.* (R A & # [ & &
RABEEIEREGRAF) (formerly known as Einsun Science and Technology Vocational
College* (2 & H R EHEE B Z )

BMNFSHHBERBEAERAR —HRFREKIMERAT AEZEBEE
2EWB AR REMEBRAME —BHE

Zhengzhou New Higher Education Technology Limited* (ZB/N¥r S ERIE AR AT, a
company established in the PRC with limited liability, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun
Ai Group and the sole sponsor of Zhengzhou School

MM EEER —HAURPBETEEABMNTHRRSEBEREELR AR
NENEEHEER

Zhengzhou City Vocational College* (251 3% 71 B 3£ £2F%), a private higher vocational college
located in Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC and a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company

EHFECEEEERNRBER AR —ER2016F7 A128 RIFEH BUEE K LB
ERARIERAFEEEEEII822%RENFTLERE L —

Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.* (& B zx (> 2
BB ARBE AR A ), alimited liability company established under the laws of PRC on 12
July 2016 and one of the New Registered Shareholders holding 3.3822% equity interest in Yun
Ai Group

Bkt
percent

MEPEK TR PEN T X ZBEEHET  If there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of entities or
EAAIMA—BZE BUAR XEHE A% enterprises established in the PRC and their English translations, the Chinese

A EBEEA R M

VI X FER MAZE names shall prevail. The English translation of company or entity names in

Bl MARKEREANAEHP XEZZLWMIZEA  Chinese or another language which are marked with “*” and the Chinese

M1 RIEHERZ /A -

translation of company or entity names in English which are marked with “*” is
for identification purpose only.
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HITESE

TEZEHLLE(BEFEEERE)

B S A

fR g5 A (202412 A10B B IERITE S
ERATANTES)

BYFHITES

BEELE
TTREEL
FRB L+ (R2024FE12 8100 EZEF)

ERZEEE®

BEELE(EF)

TIHEEL

fR 4 4 (202412 A10R BB IEEFKE)
FRB L+ (R2024FE12 8100 EZEF)

FMERE
BBE(E5EE (X5)

FEHRLLE
ZTHREL

REZE®

TEE A (EFFE)

BEELE

fR 4 4 (202412 A10R BTN BEIEEKE)
FRE 2w+ (F2024F12 100 EE )

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (re-designated from an independent non-executive Director

to an executive Director on 10 December 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (ceased to be a member on 10 December 2024)
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman)

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (ceased to be a member on 10 December 2024)
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

REARRE AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
TEHEAE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan
A A Mr. Zhao Shuai
NEWE COMPANY SECRETARY
-t 32 n Ms. Wong Wai Ling
EBLEERM LEGAL ADVISORS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS
EEAR B8 5 B 2 B = 75 P Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
BEPIR 19th Floor
EREREHR155% Edinburgh Tower
B ES The Landmark
NEBKXE 15 Queen’s Road Central
19#& Central, Hong Kong
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBERAT



7% 4]

5K & &5 R = 75 BT
$ﬂ¥ Bl

it A A 2 & B2 iZ 2RAD
%.5,%
8 = 0%
w2 EI795R
K — EE27iE

AfBREE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HMBRPEETEEREE

PRI RN

BAP5 [ B ¢ 75 B R 55%
BB & th E 5
204%

EBTELEME
B8

BT 25 KB 2485
K& B 04012

REREROBFERLE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

%%Wﬁ@ﬁ”ﬁﬁ
EBEPREBEELDERAD
%‘,%

BT
%)ﬁk%ﬁ%ms%
AL
17181712-17165% 48

EEFERRIT

oh B R 1T

o B R A R T

o B T 7 $R1T
ERRIT

TEIRIRTT

18 £ 8R1T
EAEERNA R
3 4R 1T

LR RERRT

2 EE
CORPORATE INFORMATION

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
THE PRC

20/F

Tower F, Phoenix Place

5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District
Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China

China Minsheng Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
China Guangfa Bank

Citibank

Hang Seng Bank

Kunming Guandu Rural Cooperative Bank
Industrial Bank

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank

2024/2025 ANNUAL REPORT %

227



N EEH
CORPORATE INFORMATION

REEBRF INVESTOR RELATIONS
wEEBERE Investor Relations Department

FEH : ir@xingaojiao.com Email: ir@xingaojiao.com

4k F A T 56 38 R 168-2005% Address: Room 1310, Shun Tak Centre West Tower
EEPLFEIIE 168—200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
NEIF COMPANY’S WEBSITE
http://www.xingaojiao.com http://www.xingaojiao.com

Iz 1215 5% STOCK CODE

2001 2001

+ ™ B LISTING DATE

201754198 19 April 2017
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China New Higher Education Group Limited
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